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Katherine Lum with her two daughters, Martha (on left), and Berda (on right), circa 1915. Courtesy of the Lum family.



[image: ]




When torrential water tosses boulders,
 it is because of its momentum.

—Sun Tzu, The Art of War
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AUTHOR’S NOTE

AS A CHILD GROWING up in New England, I used to listen for hours as my mother told stories in the dawdling Mississippi drawl of her childhood. She learned to hide her accent when she moved north during high school, but her vowels grew long again whenever she took me and my sisters into the backyard to play kick the can. My mother taught us the Mississippi Delta like it was a second language. She slipped back into her accent when she showed us how to cook, how to tell a joke, how to hide between imaginary hedgerows of cotton in a game of blind man’s bluff.

This book began as a failed effort to chronicle my own family history in Mississippi. While digging through the archives at Delta State University to research my great-grandmother, I wandered, quite by accident, into a meeting of the Mississippi Delta Chinese Heritage Museum. It was there I overheard a conversation between the university archivist, Emily Jones, and a retired library science professor named Frieda Quon. They were overwhelmed. Dozens of descendants of Chinese immigrants were anxious to have their family histories preserved at Delta State, the only archive collecting material on the Mississippi Delta Chinese.

Leaving the university, I called my grandmother. Although she was raised in the Delta, my grandmother knew next to nothing about its history of Chinese immigration. “We’d go to their stores to cash checks on Saturdays,” she told me. That was all she had to say.

After that conversation, my book dramatically changed course. How was it that generations of women raised in the Delta could know nothing about its sizable Chinese population? Through my subsequent research I came across the Lum family. By entering into their world, I was forced to restructure my own. Here was a family of Chinese immigrants living in the segregated South, a third race in a binary racial society, navigating the boundary between black and white. Through the very nature of their racial ambiguity, the Lum family did something remarkable. During the fall of 1924, Jeu Gong Lum filed a lawsuit that would become the first US Supreme Court case to challenge the constitutionality of segregation in Southern public schools.

By the time I discovered it, the story of the Lum family had been lost to history. I saw in its fragments an account of incredible courage, a story about the will to fight, not for victory but for one’s own sense of dignity. When I eventually asked the granddaughter of Jeu Gong Lum why her family’s story was not in history books, she gave a short, pragmatic response: “Because we lost.”

A disservice has been done to history in the omission of the Lum family’s story. Those who set themselves against the prevailing current of their times, regardless of the outcome, deserve to be chronicled. What I set out to revive was not merely their story, but their humanity.

I do not take the resurrection of this history lightly and have used my skills as a journalist to give the reader a transparent work of nonfiction. Extensive endnotes will point the reader to how I arrived at various conclusions and re-created various scenes. Some paragraphs will read like fiction, but all dialogue and description has been pulled from the historical record.

Details regarding the weather came from daily reports published in the Memphis Commercial Appeal. These reports were not always as descriptive as logs kept by farmers, so for the highly detailed scenes, I have pulled from letters that a planter named Walter Sillers Jr. wrote to his father. In the Sillers family, wealth depended on the cotton crop, which depended on the weather. For this reason, I have chosen to rely on Walter’s notes when they differed from the accounts in the Commercial Appeal.

Each town described in the book has been re-created through a meticulous three-step process. I began with Sanborn fire insurance maps over which I laid information from census records, which gave me figures like age, race, and profession for nearly every person in every household in each town. After determining the makeup of the town’s homes and businesses, I overlaid the map with memories. This I did by matching oral histories to town residents. I used special centennial editions of newspapers and city directories to fill in the gaps between personal accounts. Every room I describe in detail has been visited by me or captured in photographs.

The characters in the book were selected for me, by nature of their relevancy to the court case. It is by luck alone that so much was kept. Descendants of the Lum family were generous enough to share with me the interviews they conducted with their grandparents, stories passed down through generations, and dozens of photographs and letters that allowed me to supplement archival material with artifacts from their daily lives.

In researching the life of the lawyer who first represented the Lums, Earl Brewer, luck also had a hand. Two of Brewer’s three daughters became journalists. Due to their professionalism, I have a detailed record of even the most mundane aspects of their father’s life. They studied him as great journalists study their subjects, finding meaning in the quiet moments behind the public persona. It is through their efforts that Brewer appears so vividly in this book.

My research has taken me on train rides through the Cascade Mountains, on winding cliffside drives through Southern California, to church services in Tennessee and family reunions in Texas. I visited archives in Vancouver, Chicago, Washington, and New York. But the most vital part of my research came during the project’s final year, when I moved from Harlem to the heart of the Mississippi Delta. Over the course of fifteen months, I came to know the world of my characters. I waded through bayous, wandered along levees, stood in courtrooms, schoolyards, and jail cells. So much of the old Delta remains, touched only by time.

This is the sobering lesson I take from the legacy of the Lum family. Today, the school district where the Lums first filed suit is still segregated. Throughout the Delta, lives are still divided on racial lines by railroad tracks that run both physically and symbolically through the center of cotton towns. Across the nation, school integration has become a bygone promise, made and soon forgotten. School systems from Saint Louis to Saint Petersburg remain segregated. In restoring Gong Lum v. Rice to its rightful place in history, I hope to shed light on a crisis that, nearly a century later, has yet to be resolved.


A NOTE ON TERMINOLOGY

IN ORDER TO AUTHENTICALLY re-create the world in which the characters in this book lived, I have chosen to adopt the language of their time. The words “colored” and “Negro” are used as the primary identifiers for African American characters. The word “Mongolian” is sometimes used to refer to the book’s Chinese American characters. This is a narrative device deliberately intended to transport the reader into the reality of the era.


INTRODUCTION

SEPTEMBER 15, 1924

AS WITH ALL RUMORS, the stories grew over time, in the long months between June and September, when the air is so thick that gossip is all that circulates. The new students wouldn’t bathe. They didn’t have money to buy books. They didn’t care about learning. They had so many brothers and sisters, their mothers didn’t even know their names.

Of all the kinds of people who lived in Bolivar County, it was the children of country folk that Martha Lum knew the least about. Occasionally they came to Rosedale’s downtown, as if to study it, fumbling through the magazine racks at the local drugstore. After getting their fill, they returned to wherever it was they came from, their bare, sun-blistered feet parading them home.

Word had filtered back to town that the country folk had been holding meetings all summer at Al Gervin’s store. Gervin’s place was the type that existed only out of necessity, as there was nothing surrounding it except farmland and swamp. The store served a small population of farmers and river dwellers, white families who survived on whatever their hands could pull from the fertile fields and mud-soaked coves of the Mississippi Delta.

The cotton market crash had hit them harder than most, and seeing as they were Mr. Gervin’s only customers, he took a hit right along with them. The farmers were not prone to organizing. They usually kept to themselves. So when the first meeting was held on the last day of June, and all those people came up from the woods beside the river, it was clear that something important was being discussed. While most people didn’t know exactly what was said, there was talk it involved money and the school district. The townspeople whispered that Mr. Gervin and all the other farmers would be sending their children to be educated in Rosedale.

If the rumors were true, the first day of school was going to be a spectacle, and Martha prepared herself accordingly. She strapped on a pair of polished patent-leather shoes and slid into a freshly pressed dress. Martha was tall for the age of nine and a half, but carried herself gracefully, even in the arms, which seemed to have undergone a dramatic growth spurt in recent months. There was a delicate elegance to Martha that expressed itself along the soft curves of her eyes, nose, and chin. Her coal-black hair was cropped into a bob, revealing a slender neckline.

Mornings had their own rhythm at the Lum household on the far end of Bruce Street. At eight o’clock, the Peavine train rumbled under the floorboards of the second-story apartment built over the Lum family’s grocery store. The crowded apartment provided optimal views of the railroad and all of its curiosities. When the circus came to town, it was as if a menagerie was delivered to Martha’s bedroom window.

Next came the whistle for the Rosedale Compress Company. The shrill call was the same winnowing melody as the signal for the Kate Adams, a local showboat named after the wife of a beloved Confederate major. The plant’s manager, William Priestly, believing the sound would increase morale, had hired a steamboat manufacturer to replicate and install the Kate Adams whistle inside the compress. Rosedale was now in its third year of hearing the morning blast, and most of the novelty had worn off.

Classes began at eight thirty, which gave Martha and her older sister enough time for the quarter-mile walk to school. There were two routes the girls could take, and one was decidedly more interesting. The first went north along the train tracks, past the lumberyard and the sprawling fields of white cotton that blended into a pale sky beyond. Late-August rains made the bolls open early, and farmhands were already weaving between the rows, twisting their fingers into the spiny brown seedpods.

The more interesting route took the girls through the colored section of Rosedale, which spilled west onto Bruce Street from the tracks on the east side of town. Most Negro children didn’t go to school, and those who did started only after the cotton was harvested, which was not until November. Their schoolhouse was more than a mile south of town, with its white clapboard walls running parallel to the cotton rows alongside the Rosedale gin. Many of the children didn’t know their birthdays or how to read, but Martha was friendly with them anyway. The Lum family grocery served mostly colored folk, so Martha learned to get along.

After crossing Bruce Street, with its empty juke joints and pool halls sagging with the weight of daybreak, the girls were on Main Street. There, in the center of town, was Rosedale’s new courthouse. It was located directly in the middle of a central square, where Court Street ran westward over Main Street toward the Mississippi River. The remodeled building was designed to look modern, a streamlined, single-story accolade to a new era of justice in Rosedale. There was a new district attorney, a new county attorney, a new probate judge, and a new clerk. All that remained of the old county courthouse was its cornerstone. The two slabs of granite sat like grave markers beside the gleam of the new district court.

At the end of Court Street was the Colonial Inn, a towering, white brick structure with four columns that extended the entire elevation of the hotel. Inside its elegant facade, the inn was a home for recklessness. Visiting salesmen and cotton buyers would gamble, drink, and fight under the building’s plaster pillars. So near to the levee, the Colonial was a frequent stop for whiskey boats, or “blind tigers” as the locals called them. Mississippi bootleggers outfitted small riverboats with casks of illegal corn whiskey and docked them behind the inn.

The most famous blind tiger belonged to Perry Martin. Eight miles northwest of Rosedale, on an island in the middle of the river, Perry ran the largest whiskey-producing operation in the whole United States. Every variety of alcohol was considered contraband by the US government, and Perry Martin’s whiskey was no exception. He populated his island with an unruly throng of outlaws and fugitives. Rosedale mothers warned their children that just over the levee walls was whiskey territory, and nobody entered those woods without express permission.

Continuing north along Main Street, at the intersection of Main and Clark, was the Talisman Theater. John Lobdell purchased the building in 1916 and, eager to believe that a theater—and through it the town—manifested the chivalry of ancient Scottish noblemen, named the place after a nineteenth-century novel by Sir Walter Scott.

Just past the Talisman was the local hat shop. Two spouseless Swiss sisters managed the millinery, Rosa and Mollie Oberst. In the spring, when the sisters held their annual sale, society ladies in hobble skirts and side-laced heels teetered in the street, mud shoe-top deep, to get a glimpse of the merchandise.

A block and a half north was the Rosedale Consolidated High School, built directly beside the Episcopal church that had been there since the Federals intervened after the war. Set against a dusty churchyard with tufts of scorched grass, the redbrick building looked like a Spanish cathedral. The school used to be located in a two-story white frame house up on Levee Street, near the mansions of the aristocrats, who included Senator William Beauregard Roberts, the first man in Rosedale to own a motor boat, an automobile, and a radio.

The new brick schoolhouse was built after 1920, when Henry McGowen, the mayor of Beulah, petitioned to expand the county school district to include Beulah and Malvina. With taxes from an expanded district, the Rosedale Consolidated School was created. McGowen then became the first president of the school’s board of trustees, and his sister-in-law, Mrs. Rae Wolfe, became the school’s first teacher.

At the beginning of every year, Miss Rae, as the children called her, presented her class with a giant posterboard creation, designed to resemble the limbs on a tree. She then assigned each student a red, hand-cut paper apple with his or her name on it. To climb a limb, she explained, a student had to earn one hundred points on the weekly spelling exam. With each perfect score, the apple moved closer and closer to the top of the tree. If a student failed, their apple fell to the ground and had to make its ascent all over again.

Martha’s name was always hovering somewhere in the upper branches of Miss Rae’s misshapen tree. She was one of the top students in her class, even after the teachers decided she should skip a grade. She’d spent the last year in the same grade as her older sister, Berda. Unlike Martha, Berda was a rebellious child. Once, in third grade, she was nearly expelled for stabbing a girl with a pencil. Berda started fights even when she knew she was licked. She called it courage. At Rosedale Consolidated, it was considered “a discipline problem.”

Like two wings on a bird, it was their opposite nature that made the sisters inseparable. Each relied on the other to make sense of a childhood trapped somewhere in the margins between colored and white. Martha understood that Berda’s pride in heritage did not come from what she learned in history class. The Lum girls were raised daughters of an ancient nation called China. Berda was taught to stare at the moon and see a rabbit, while her classmates looked up and saw an old man.

As she entered Rosedale Consolidated for the first time in months, Martha adjusted to the sights, sounds, and smells of school. The new country students padded down the halls in an ungainly procession as teachers corralled boisterous children into classrooms. The stark scent of chalk mixed with sweet talcum powder and cologne. The first day of school offered a momentary opportunity for reinvention, as each student funneled everything they wanted to be into one morning.

Under the guidance of a new principal, Mr. J. H. Nutt, Rosedale had recently passed its accreditation requirements. This meant that the school’s graduates were now guaranteed acceptance into every state college. It was a huge achievement for the county and would explain why Mr. Gervin and all the other farmers wanted to send their children to Rosedale. The new facility was now one of the top-ranked schools in the state.

Before taking the position as principal, Mr. Nutt spent a summer in the suburbs of Chicago. He and his wife developed an affection for the area. Mrs. Nutt told one reporter that, while in Illinois, her husband had grown accustomed to the suburban “middle class, native-born, Protestant American whites in the school system and in the community.” Rosedale, by contrast, had a sizable population of blacks, Italians, Russians, Poles, Syrians, Mexicans, and Chinese. Hardly the white suburbs of Chicago.

Out of the relatively diverse student body at Rosedale, only four Chinese pupils—the Lum sisters and two other girls—were summoned to Mr. Nutt’s office at noon lunch hour on the first day of class. Mr. Nutt had requested to speak with them in private. He explained in a conciliatory tone that an order had been issued by the school’s board of trustees, under the recommendation of the state superintendent of education, to bar all children of Chinese descent from the premises. The girls were colored, he explained, and therefore not welcome on school grounds.

His words hung like smoke in a closed room. The backwater children, barefoot and illiterate, now crowded the halls of Rosedale Consolidated, while Martha, a straight-A student, was no longer welcome there. Quietly, the sisters collected their knapsacks and walked home along the same route they had always taken. On schedule, the twelve-thirty train, local from Vicksburg, roared past Bruce Street and the girls entered the grocery.

Once safely inside the walls of the store, the sisters told their parents about the events of that morning. As they repeated the school board’s order, a stillness settled over the family. There was a decision to be made. Its outcome would alter the course of history. Within a Chinese grocery, next to a railroad track, on the colored side of a small Mississippi town, the seeds of a revolution were stirring. In the afternoon hours, one Monday in September, the Lum family decided to fight.


PART ONE

MEN WHO ENTER THESE PLACES


MARCH 31, 1904

Mr. L. T. Plummer

Chinese Inspector in Charge

2 River Street

Chicago, Ill.

Dear Sir:

We have recently had information that Chinese smuggled into the country from Canada, and who were destined for Chicago, almost invariably went to either 296 or 299 South Clark Street, and there is another place in the same vicinity, in a basement, of which I have not the number. The modus operandi, as I understand it, is that they are smuggled across the river and then they either take a freight out on the Wabash as far as Montpelier, or they drive along that line some distance, and then get aboard of the Wabash trains. Their favorite route, I understand is the Wabash.

These Chinamen are always accompanied by one or two white fellows, and sometimes a negro, and they get off the train at or near Ashley, where, I am told, the train is made up again for Chicago. Sometimes they go as far as the stockyards, but, as above stated, they ultimately work into one or the other of these places, and I believe they generally arrive in the early morning. I would suggest that you might shadow these places for some time, and if you ever see these Chinamen conducted through by the smugglers, arrest them on sight.

There is no doubt but that you would be able to distinguish these newcomers from the frequent habitues of these places. This winter all the Chinamen whom we have caught—and there have been quite a few of them—have been most invariably dressed with caps, heavy rubbers or arctics, and overcoats, such as you would not see a Chicago Chinaman wearing. This might give you an idea of the green men who enter these places. All of the above is only offered as a suggestion for the good of the service, and for what action you may see fit to take in the premises.

Respectfully,

H. E. Tippett

Chinese Inspector in Charge

Port of Detroit


CHAPTER I

WINTER, 1904

A THIN RAY OF light moved over the silent ice like a pendulum. Its motion was metered, and though it made no sound, the light left echoes of silver mist above the Detroit River. Jeu Gong Lum stood at the bank of the frozen causeway. Beneath his feet, winter mud splintered into needles. In China, rigid earth like this would grow nothing, but in Gam Saan, vibrant cities sprang up from hardened riverbeds. In constant rotation, the beam emanating from the Detroit River lighthouse stretched out over Lake Erie, then turned northward to the glimmering city of Detroit. From the city, the finger of light spun east across the river, illuminating where ice had buckled under itself, casting up walls of ivory.

A furious wind ripped through the channel. Dressed in a thick wool cap, heavy rubber boots, and a large overcoat, Jeu Gong braced himself against a cold that he had never experienced in his twenty-odd years of life in southern China. In the distance, at the end of the canal, giant steamships trailed smoke over Lake Erie. The cold would not last much longer. Jeu Gong had only to make it to the other side of the river, across the ice, to America.

In China they called it Gam Saan, Gold Mountain, where fortunes were as easily made as picking gold off the street. Under the shade of banyan trees, villagers told stories of a world where wealth fell into young men’s palms. Jeu Gong’s brother, Gow, had already made the journey. He was somewhere over the frozen river, in a city called Chicago.

Jeu Gong waited for a signal. This was a new kind of waiting. A patience stronger than the wait that came for harvest, when the rice fields of Sun Wui ripened in succession, a patchwork of jade over forested hills. This wait was with him when he boarded a steamship in Hong Kong, when he crossed the Pacific Ocean, when he tasted nothing but waves while the moon waned twice. The wait was there when he arrived in Canada and moved from the dockyard to the freight train. When the train coughed and lurched forward, threading through mountainside tunnels, peak rising beyond peak as dark bands of forest fell below.

The wait was with him as he passed sawmills, coal mines, and slate quarries. Each with its own town, a main street and a string of electric lights. Each with its own station stop, where worn men with rucksacks were waiting just like him. The wait crossed with him over ravines, walls thousands of feet high, angry rapids breaking below. The wait coiled through gorges and crops of rock with trees clinging to crumbling stone. The wait was there when the mountains gave way to a great plain of earth. The sky grew longer and Jeu Gong and his wait watched its ragged winter clouds. From the plains came the lakes, each one larger than the last. And Jeu Gong and his wait left the train and stood at the bank of a river, on the shores of America, ready to cross.

Just over the water was a freight train bound for Chicago. Jeu Gong was to arrive at the city stockyards at dawn. He would leave the train and hide inside the pulse of a thriving city. He would fill his empty pockets with silver and become to his family a Gam Saan haak, a son of Gold Mountain. But first there was the ice. He had to walk quickly, so as not to be detected, but if he moved too fast he might fall through. Trapped under the water, Jeu Gong would sink deeper and deeper into darkness. A stone tablet, reserved for his grave in Sun Wui, would remain blank, his name unwritten in the land of his ancestors, all memory erased as his body turned cold and white like ash, disappearing at the border of Gam Saan. With one brave step, Jeu Gong moved onto the ice.

The waters Jeu Gong grew up on were nothing like those he stood on now. Never still, the rivers were like veins that moved life in Sun Wui. The Xi River to the east and the Tan to the west wound southward through the narrow valley of Yinzhouhu, before reaching the sea through the Ya Men Inlet. Between the two rivers, an elaborate network of waterways and bridges connected hundreds of villages.

Streams and tributaries, fed by generations of rain, linked together the threshing grounds and fishponds of ancient courts. The same waters connected the new shantytowns of migrant farmers, their straw huts strung along dikes where fan palms and citrus orchards grew. It was a vibrant place that stirred in Jeu Gong’s memory; one that smelled of tangerines and mandarin oranges, of mulberry shrubs and sugarcane, all feeding from the same rich soil.

The rivers carried flower boats with blackwood tables and chairs inlaid with mother-of-pearl. The elegant rafts were home to haam sui mui, the saltwater girls, beautiful women who entertained only the wealthiest of men. At night the vessels drifted along the river, lit by a myriad of lanterns, casting reflections onto the churning water.

There were the large junks that traded with Hong Kong, Macao, and the West, their decks laden with fine silks and woven baskets. There were the gunboats from Canton that protected the white men and traveled the river searching for pirates. There were the missionary boats that first arrived when Jeu Gong’s father was a boy. The sailors spoke in broken Cantonese and gave away pictures of a dying man hung from a crosspiece.

Beside the large boats of the Westerners were the small boats of local fishermen, provision boats selling ginger root and melon seed, cakes and dried shrimp. There was the hot-soup boat with its raging fire and the boatman who carefully dipped his clay bowls into the river before filling each one with boiling water, rice, fish, and finely chopped carrots.

There were the duck farmers who traveled in ships with large, overhanging sides that rattled with feathers. In daylight, the men let their merchandise off to feed. At dusk, the farmers released a bamboo gangway and the birds rushed back onboard, not wanting to incur a beating for being last in line. And all of the boats came and went from the dry docks at the mouth of the river, the great ports that sprouted from tiny fishing villages.

On the riverbeds grew fruit trees and vegetables and beside them were rice fields that stretched as far as Jeu Gong could see. In the distance, the terraced hillsides of Wuchow lay barren, for there was no one left to work the land. When the rebels came they had moved on water. The river carried them down from the hills. They killed the men and their wives. They killed the children. The river, swollen from spring rains, swiftly lifted the bodies of Wuchow and the boats of the rebels who murdered there. For fifty years, the land remained uncultivated, the memory of massacre made visible with every empty harvest.

These were the waters of Jeu Gong’s youth. Now they carried nothing but news of war and famine, of all that had been lost. The waters emptied into a sea that brought him to this frozen shore. One day Jeu Gong would return to them. He would come home to a towering mansion with hundreds of mou of fields. With this land, he would provide freely for his family, never again letting hunger gather in great knots in his stomach. All that was to be lay just across the river. With deliberate steps, careful not to break the ice, Jeu Gong walked between the past and Gam Saan.

Between 1882 and 1920 an estimated 17,300 Chinese immigrants entered the United States by crossing the Canadian and Mexican borders illegally. The most numerous and earliest crossings occurred along the Canadian border, which proved the least expensive point of entry. In 1903 the Bureau of Immigration estimated that it cost Chinese immigrants $300 to sneak across the Canadian border into the United States. During the same period, it cost more than twice as much to purchase the identity papers and supporting evidence required to attempt entry through more official routes.

While less expensive, crossing through Canada was much riskier. Charging little money up front, sometimes only twenty dollars, smugglers along Canada’s border catered to the poorest Chinese émigrés, often choosing profit over their clients’ safety. “Of all the contraband, it is quite possible that human beings are the most valuable,” read an article in the Vancouver Daily World detailing the smugglers’ tactics. “The greatest risk is taken to get them past the barrier of regulations which forbid their entry into other lands than their own.”

When Jeu Gong took his first step onto Canadian soil, he placed his life in the hands of a smuggler, as hundreds of other Chinese immigrants had done. These strangers were fishermen, saloonkeepers, elevator operators, and pool sharks. They held unskilled, low-status, transient jobs that garnered little pay and even less respect. So the men moonlighted as human traffickers in a growing underground trade along the American border.

They joined an existing network of outlaws who specialized in transporting drugs and liquor into the United States. New on this list of contraband was the Chinese immigrant. Stowed between chests of opium and stolen silks, thousands of Chinese immigrants found themselves on southbound freighters, headed for America.

Low-skilled laborers were not the only ones tempted by the financial windfall that smuggling could bring. In fact, many smugglers were also immigration inspectors and policemen, double agents reaping the benefits of both a government salary and an illicit trade. The rewards could be enormous in an era when the maximum salary for a Buffalo police patrolman was $900 per year and an immigration agent made at most $17.50 per week. The world of smuggling was much more lucrative.

According to newspapers from the Great Lakes region, smugglers received between $50 and $125 for each immigrant who successfully reached New York or Chicago. One immigration inspector, Thomas Thomas, estimated that individual smugglers brought five or six immigrants to the border once or occasionally even twice a week. Assuming Thomas’s information was correct, one smuggler could earn between $250 and $750 every week, and twice that on occasion. In one week as a smuggler, a police patrolman had the potential to make what it would take a year to earn as a cop.

Immigration inspectors were more likely than police officers to be drawn into the world of illicit border crossings. This was likely due to the fact that inspectors had access to classified information regarding the US government’s antismuggling operations, making the job of outwitting the government relatively simple. Not all inspectors were crooked. There was a certain personality type drawn to the life of a smuggler, the type of person who embraced risk.

Edward Baltz was a smuggler and inspector for the Great Lakes region between 1902 and 1904. Before working for the Department of Commerce and Labor, he performed in carnivals, parachuting from a balloon to thrill the “rubes at the county fairs.” In 1904 Baltz was implicated in a plot to traffic Chinese along the border and was dismissed from the service. Another inspector, David Hoover, was a deputy collector of customs stationed along the Montana boundary, when he was arrested in 1906 on the charge of smuggling Chinese into the States. A former police chief from Kalispell, Montana, Hoover had been a customs collector since his station was first established in 1901. During his five-year tenure, Hoover was said to have joined a “big organization to smuggle Chinese and opium” into the country. W. B. Greene, a former railroad conductor from Jamestown, New York, served as the immigration inspector for Montreal before he was charged with “conspiracy to smuggle Chinese” while acting as an employee of the immigration service.

Such widespread corruption was due in part to the fact that border enforcement was a relatively new concept. Until the turn of the twentieth century, the US-Canadian border had existed as a kind of porous, suggestive demarcation between the two countries. That relationship changed with the advent of America’s restrictive immigration policies during the late nineteenth century. In 1894 the United States entered into a contract with Canadian transportation companies. Known as the Canadian Agreement, the contract granted US inspectors the right to enforce US immigration laws on steamships and passenger trains within the boundaries of Canada. The agreement effectively extended America’s anti-immigrant policies into the northern half of the continent. This meant that those wishing to bypass the border patrol had to evade not only US law enforcement, but hundreds of conductors, captains, and servicemen throughout North America’s vast transportation network.

In many cases, corrupt agents were able to entice transit workers into becoming smugglers themselves. John Yanner and William Bies were working as cooks on the Rock Island Railroad when they were arrested in Chicago for smuggling Chinese immigrants in iceboxes installed on the line’s dining cars. “In many instances,” read an article detailing their arrest, “Chinamen had almost frozen to death in the refrigerators.” Yanner was a suspect in the murder of a Chinese man found dead near Kansas City whose nameless, frozen body, the prosecutors argued, had been tossed from a moving train.

Crossing into the United States over a vast, unpatrolled border meant that there was little chance of rescue if a smuggling operation went wrong. Those Chinese who made the decision to immigrate during the turn of the twentieth century were taking an enormous gamble, one that could easily result in death.

Every act of legislation aimed at restricting immigration only heightened the danger for Chinese immigrants. Smugglers were forced to take greater risks with their human cargo and faced lesser sentences if something went wrong. Illegal Chinese immigrants were quite literally treated as commodities, both by the law and the smugglers who circumvented it.

At the frontier along the shores of Lake Erie, where Jeu Gong attempted passage over the Detroit River, crossings typically occurred at night, when visibility was near zero. In spring and summer months, traffickers loaded the Chinese immigrants into overcrowded rowboats, dropping them at points along the American shore, a particularly hazardous operation given the river’s treacherous currents. In the winter, traffickers took an even greater risk, forcing their cargo to walk over frozen waterways.

A 1912 report by one US immigration inspector details the harrowing journey a group of immigrants and their smugglers made across ice. “The first three Chinese persons named admitted to crossing from Canada into the United States by walking on the ice which covered the Detroit River,” the inspector wrote, after profiling six Chinese men held in US custody. “When arrested, the clothing of two of the Chinese persons was soaking wet, as well as the clothing of one of the whitemen [sic], showing that while crossing the ice, they had evidently broken through and fell into the water. This fact gave rise to a rumor that several of the party had fallen through the ice, and were drowned. After consulting with the District Attorney, it was thought advisable to investigate the rumor that certain Chinese had drowned.” Little came of any such inquiry, as no further reports were filed about the incident.

Hundreds of Chinese immigrants sought entry in other ways that proved just as deadly. In 1909 the bodies of ten Chinese immigrants were delivered, sealed in barrels, to an address on Mott Street in New York. According to the report, “the trainman failed to give them water and food en route” and “they arrived to their destination dead.” A similar fate met four Chinese men found frozen in a boxcar in 1914.

Despite the risks, a relatively low cost of entry and the convenience of Canada’s burgeoning transportation network provided incentive enough for many Chinese immigrants to cross along America’s northern frontier. In 1891 the Canadian Pacific Railway Company joined the Pacific Mail Steamship Company and assigned three steamers to sail between Hong Kong, Japan, Victoria, and Vancouver. The partnership created a pipeline between North America and the Far East. Through the Canadian Pacific Railway, Chinese immigrants could purchase one ticket for passage across the Pacific Ocean and the American continent, without ever having to navigate the transfer from steamship to train. Immigrants like Jeu Gong were able to ensure their journey from Hong Kong all the way to the northeastern coast of Canada under the umbrella of the CPR. The relatively unregulated transpacific network created a new brand of hysteria in the United States, fear of “the illegal foreigner.”

The influx of Chinese immigrants did not go unnoticed by the American public. In 1891, the year of CPR’s partnership with the Pacific Mail Steamship Company, O. L. Spaulding, acting secretary of the Treasury, complained that “an increasing number of aliens are now landing at Canadian ports and then entering the United States by Rail, thus practically avoiding all effective scrutiny.”

That same year, Harper’s Magazine published an exposé written by Julian Ralph, a tall, stocky thirty-eight-year-old reporter for the New York Sun. Titling the piece “The Chinese Leak,” Ralph, himself the child of immigrants, explained in detail the “wily” strategies used by Chinese to enter the United States from Canada. Citing figures even Ralph qualified as possibly being inaccurate, the article depicted the Canadian frontier as a region rife with illegal immigration—to the tune of fifteen hundred Chinese immigrants per year.

“The prairie, the plains of the western provinces and the thick-clustered mountains of British Columbia are repeated in our Minnesota, North Dakota, Montana, Idaho and Washington,” he wrote. “Geologically and naturally there is no difference between the countries; the boundary line is an arbitrary mark. . . . There is no part of it over which a Chinaman may not pass into our country without fear of hindrance; there are scarcely any parts of it where he may not walk boldly across it at high noon.”

While exaggerated, Ralph’s assertion of a porous northern border spoke to national concerns about patrolling such a vast region. In 1902 the total force of immigration inspectors numbered only 66, which included inspectors for both the northern and southern borders. Even if the full immigration force were stationed near Canada, it would not be sufficient to protect an area 3,987 miles long. The next year, the number of inspectors was increased to 116, mostly along the US-Canadian border.

Policing the border was not only a matter of manpower; there was also the logistical challenge of creating the government organizations and policies necessary to curb Chinese immigration, both legal and illegal.

For the majority of Chinese immigrants seeking entry into the United States during the turn of the twentieth century, crossing the border illegally was their only option. On May 6, 1882, President Chester A. Arthur had signed into law the Chinese Exclusion Act and with it fostered the creation of the nation’s first “illegal” race. For the first time, federal law proscribed entry of an entire ethnic working group, the Chinese, on the premise that their presence in America “endangers the good order of certain localities within the territory.”

The act effectively halted all Chinese immigration for a minimum period of ten years, barring most Chinese from entering the United States and forbidding all federal, state, and local courts from admitting Chinese to citizenship. Only six categories of Chinese immigrants were allowed to enter the country: teachers, students, tourists, properly certified returning laborers, merchants and their family members, and diplomats and their families. These six categories were carefully crafted, designed by legislators to exclude the largest population of Chinese citizens, the working class.

The sole voice in opposition to the exclusion bill was a Republican senator from Massachusetts named George Frisbie Hoar. Hoar argued that the act was nothing less than the legalization of racial discrimination, a charge that would have resonated in a Senate that legislated the end of slavery.

“The old race prejudice, ever fruitful of crime and of folly, has not been confined to monarchies or to the dark ages,” Hoar castigated his fellow senators. “Our own Republic and our own generation have yielded to this delusion and paid the terrible penalty. . . . What argument can be urged against the Chinese that has not been heard against the negro within living memory?”

Hoar’s remarks fell on deaf ears and, with the passage of the act, America entered into the era of Chinese exclusion. The result of such restrictions, as historian Erika Lee noted, was that “Chinese border crossers became the public image of a new type of immigrant—the ‘illegal’ . . . merging the illegal aspect of their migration with coexisting charges that Chinese were either cunning criminals or ‘coolies’ whose immigration constituted a harmful invasion of inferior and unassimilable aliens.” The exclusion act, renewed and amended in 1892, 1902, 1904, 1917, and 1924, ushered in immigration restrictions based on race and nationality that would endure for more than half a century.

Jeu Gong was crossing into an America that defined itself by what it was not, crafting its identity around those it excluded. The nation’s immigration policy created invisible borders, much larger than physical ones, that narrowed desirable races into subgroups eligible for citizenship. There was a new sense that the American identity deserved protection, that it was somehow under threat, and government agencies were created and funded to aid in such protection. The era, as historian Roger Daniels wrote, was “a time when nativism and racism gained strength and acceptance at all levels of society.”

In the year following Jeu Gong’s departure from China, one million immigrants would leave their homelands for the United States, the most in the nation’s history. As America’s immigrant population grew, so did resistance. Murders of Chinese miners were frequent in the West during the late nineteenth century. In Wyoming, twenty-eight Chinese men were killed and fifteen injured in the Rock Springs Massacre of 1885. In 1887 a band of six white men gunned down thirty-four Chinese immigrants in Hells Canyon, Idaho. Greek immigrants were beaten and their homes burned by mobs in Nevada, Utah, and in Nebraska—the site of the most notorious of the attacks, the Greek Town Riot of 1909. During the riot, three thousand men set fire to the Greek enclave in South Omaha, resulting in the death of a child and displacing the city’s entire Greek population.

In 1891 eleven Italian immigrants were murdered by a lynch mob in New Orleans. Dozens of Slavic and Polish coal miners were killed and wounded by a Pennsylvania militia during a labor dispute in 1897. In 1913 a Jewish man in Atlanta named Leo Frank was convicted, on dubious evidence, of raping and murdering a thirteen-year-old girl. After several appeals, the Georgia governor lowered Frank’s sentence from death to life in prison. On the night of August 16, 1915, white citizen vigilantes took Frank from his cell and hung him from an oak tree at sunrise.

Each wave of violence unearthed something deeply troubling about American society. The country had developed a delusional self-image, one of racial purity and hegemony, an industrialist white nation destined for progress. In reality, the country was witnessing an unprecedented surge in diversity, as families from every corner of the globe flocked to the United States to supply its growing demand for labor.

Throughout this period of heavy immigration, there was a second immigrant narrative, one hidden in boxcars and stowed in rowboats. The stories of these immigrants were not documented, even within families. Fathers never told their sons about the weeks spent in the dark cargo hold of a steamship, that they crawled for twelve hours along riverbeds, that they taught themselves not to be hungry, not to breathe, not to sleep. It was as if their gateway to America vanished upon arrival, as if history covered its tracks.

As Jeu Gong set out for Gam Saan, a metalworker was engraving a bronze plaque on the pedestal of the Statue of Liberty. Fourteen lines of a sonnet, written by an American poet. Its tenth line would become an anthem: “Give me your tired, your poor, your huddled masses yearning to breathe free.”

Some thirty miles east of the statue, with much less fanfare, another monument was nearing completion. At Cold Spring Harbor on Long Island, construction was almost finished on a new, state-of-the-art laboratory. Built with a hefty donation from Andrew Carnegie, the Station for Experimental Evolution was one of the first American institutions to study genetics. Heralded as the future of biological science, the laboratory would become the headquarters for the eugenics movement.

A campaign to classify races by means of a hierarchy, eugenics would provide scientific justification for segregation, mass sterilizations, and the exclusion of an entire immigrant population. It would grow to influence all levels of society, from public policy to children’s books. A sanctioned form of racism, eugenics served as the scientific articulation of white supremacy and the politician’s strongest weapon against immigrants.

In the forested fringes of Detroit, along the south shores of Lake Erie, Jeu Gong stowed himself on a Chicago-bound freighter. He had grown accustomed to the lilting groan of train against track, and although the country was new and exciting, the ride was quite similar to what he’d experienced over the past several weeks.

Once in Chicago, Jeu Gong continued on. He could have stayed in the city, finding work in a Chinese restaurant or laundry, living with his brother or anyone else who would take him in. But there was a phantom that chased Jeu Gong from the moment he crossed the ice. It followed him the way shadows chase swallows at dusk. Jeu Gong had become a man he could no longer change or escape. He was a criminal, stealing a place for himself in a new nation.

A city was too risky, too many ears listening and eyes watching. He would go south, to farmlands, timber mills, and cotton fields. He had a relative in Mississippi who ran a small grocery store. There would be work for him in Mississippi, and he would be free from the fear of detection. He would hide in a place where no inspector would ever think to look. And so, with only a vague idea about where he was going, Jeu Gong boarded a southbound train.

Carved into frozen valleys, the tracks seemingly willed the land to wake in their path. As the train moved southward, giant snowdrifts turned to scant patches of ice on gray earth, and the drumbeat of the rails continued. Soon the tracks curved to meet a bend in a great river.

When the natives spoke of this river, they talked about it the way the men of Jeu Gong’s village spoke of war. It was to be both feared and respected. If it was not seen, it was felt, an ever-present force shaping all it touched. Life survived beside it and beside it life would end. The river ruled its people, seething behind mounds of earth, remote and intimate all at once.

From the flat land that spilled from its banks grew small towns with clapboard churches, central squares, and stone monuments to buried soldiers. The streets were christened with the names of fathers and grandfathers who followed those dead men into battle. Streams and creeks unfurled from the great river, with curious names like Tallahatchie, Sunflower, and Rattlesnake. Webs of pale moss hung from cypress trees that grew on their flooded banks. In a canopy of gray, the virgin swampland wore the veil of a widow, living and dying at the same time.

Beside the tracks were the fields, dormant in winter frost, that still held captive the creatures who worked them. Their skin was as dark as the soil they tended, as if over years of sowing and harvest the earth had stained them. These were tenant farmers, who owned neither the fields they planted nor the narrow shacks they lived in.

Though an ocean away, this world was ruled much like Jeu Gong’s. All wealth belonged to the men who owned the land, and they governed the society that drew life from it. In leasing the fields to farmers, the rich men gave up none of their power. They would always have the laborers, chained to the fields for them to control. With a rumbling cadence, the train growled to a halt beside a wooden platform. Jeu Gong had arrived at his new home, a place they called the Mississippi Delta.

An alluvial plain, the Yazoo-Mississippi Delta was forged by the tides of the Mississippi River, its rich soil created from centuries of sediment. Throughout hundreds of years, the river deposited layers of silt over a stretch of land some seven thousand square miles in breadth, from Memphis, Tennessee, to Vicksburg, Mississippi.

With slightly over 50 percent of the region’s rainfall occurring between December and May, when the river was at its highest, the flooding that created the Delta remained a part of the natural, recurrent life cycle of the land. For the people living along the banks of the Mississippi, high water was a season all its own. To them, the river was a swift, feral force that “coils and returns on itself in great loops and crescents,” as William Alexander Percy, the son of a Delta planter, wrote. “Every few years it rises like a monster from its bed and pushes over its banks to vex and sweeten the land it has made.” The Mississippi’s vernal ebb and flow gave birth to fresh silt and from it grew dense woodland and swamp. Percy called it the “land of unbroken forests,” a thick tangle of water oak, pecan, cypress, and sweetgum trees, whose roots clung to soil more valuable than gold.

The Delta was settled during the 1830s, after the Choctaw Nation, under orders from President Andrew Jackson, was driven from its land. Forced from their home, the Choctaw left behind a vast territory of woods and undergrowth. Young sons of Southern oligarchs brought their slaves to the Delta to carve cotton fields from wild brush. Whole forests were leveled by thousands of slaves. By 1850, across the Delta, slaves outnumbered whites five to one.

As a consequence of its creation, the Delta became a bastion for the institution of slavery—for slavery was the system upon which its economic foundation was laid. In his desperate search for liberty, Jeu Gong had arrived in a place still clinging to the memory of slavery. It was this very memory, the white man’s resolve to resurrect an antebellum South, that drew Jeu Gong’s forebearers, the Delta’s first Chinese immigrants, to Mississippi.
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At the dawn of the nineteenth century, enterprising Westerners, with the help of Chinese middlemen, began the importation of Chinese “coolie” labor to the Caribbean and South American regions of the plantation world. Serving as surrogates for African slaves, Chinese were first shipped to Trinidad in 1808 and then on to countries throughout Latin America.

The so-called “coolie” market expanded rapidly, developing trade centers in major New World destinations such as Cuba and Peru. On vessels registered to the United States and modeled after the slave ships of the Middle Passage, American brokers in ports throughout southern China carried more than six thousand Chinese laborers, their bare chests painted with letters marking their destinations, to sugar plantations in Cuba or deadly guano pits in Peru.

“It was a brutal and infamous system that in some ways was worse than slavery,” wrote the historian Roger Daniels. “Some employers literally worked their coolies to death.” Other Chinese slaves, often indenturing themselves for the price of passage, were transported to Chile, Ecuador, Panama, and Mexico. One United States congressional report noted that the “coolie trade . . . seems to have commenced about the time when the laws against the prosecution of the African slave trade were enforced with the greatest stringency.”

Following the Civil War, Southern whites sought new ways to replace slave labor and ensure their economic, political, and social dominance of the South. As early as 1866, editorials in Southern newspapers discussed the possibility of importing Chinese as a source of agricultural labor in the region.

On June 22, 1869, an editorial in the Memphis Daily Appeal proposed a meeting to discuss the means by which landowners could obtain Chinese laborers. Less than a month later, on July 13, about five hundred delegates from Alabama, Georgia, Kentucky, Mississippi, South Carolina, Louisiana, Arkansas, Tennessee, Missouri, and California, representing planting, railroad, and business interests, flocked to the Greenlaw Opera House in Memphis for the inaugural Memphis Chinese Labor Convention.

Isham Green Harris, a lawyer and former congressman from Mississippi, served as chairman of the convention. Under his guidance, the event generated widespread publicity and triggered a new national interest in importing Chinese labor. Following the convention, an American could scarcely pick up a newspaper without reading about some new plan to import Chinese workers into the United States.

“A number of Chinamen have already been introduced to the South, and the planters are exceedingly well pleased with them,” read an article in the New York Times. “They are not only patient and faithful workers, but they seem well adapted to the climate and industries of the South. The Mississippi Valley could feed and pay a hundred million of these Mongolians, and China has a hundred million that she could very easily spare.”

The notion of introducing an entirely foreign source of labor to replace slavery captivated industrialists and alarmed advocates for the working class. One month after the Memphis convention, American labor leaders such as Susan B. Anthony and William Jessup gathered in Philadelphia for the third National Labor Congress, where they discussed Chinese immigration for the first time in the congress’s history. The acting president, a New York tailor named Henry Lucker, condemned the coolie trade, calling it “a revival of the slave system.” The importation of Chinese workers, he argued, “is not for their advantages socially or morally, but has for its only object the damnable one of cheapening American labor and to eventually force the workingman into a condition worse than slavery.”

Despite such concerns, efforts to introduce Chinese into the South increased between 1869 and 1871. Southerners deluged Chinese slave brokers with requests for laborers. Nathan Bedford Forrest, president of the New Selma, Marion, and Memphis Railroad, a former Confederate general and the first grand wizard of the Ku Klux Klan, offered $5,000 to procure a thousand workers from China to lay track across Tennessee.

As increasing numbers of Chinese laborers arrived in the South, planters soon discovered the newly imported men were deserting the fields. It quickly dawned on the Chinese that their social and economic position as foreigners left them unable to compete with the black labor they had been hired to replace. By the fall of 1871, one year after their arrival, most of the Chinese imported to work New Orleans’s Millaudon Plantation had left. Of the 141 originally brought there, only 25 remained.

Fleeing the plantation, many Chinese immigrants became itinerant peddlers, traveling to communities throughout the South, selling teas and trinkets. Others looked for work as house servants, farmers, storekeepers, physicians, clerks, and cooks. Ultimately, the Southern experiment to supplant slave labor was a failure. But what remained was a lasting sentiment against Chinese immigration, under the veil of national unity.

“When the paroxysm of humanitarianism which followed the abolition of slavery in this country had subsided,” read a 1905 editorial in the Washington Post, “and the Chinese problem arose to be reckoned with, our people began to realize that charity begins at home. . . . The exclusion policy is not based on race or national prejudices. It was established, after long and serious consideration and debate, as necessary to the peace and welfare of the nation.”

With the help of his relative, Jeu Gong found a job at a small general store, earning enough to send money home. Whatever success he found, however, he was never fully at ease. There would always be someone hunting him. So he strove to blend in, to draw no attention to himself. He dressed as the lo fan, the white men, dressed. He walked the way they walked and ate the way they ate. He learned to call them “sir” and “ma’am,” even the children. Yet as close as Jeu Gong came to the lo fan, he always lived at a distance from them. Chinese could not buy property to live as the lo fan lived, so they settled into the edges of lo fan towns, building homes in the backrooms of their businesses.

In his new life in Gam Saan, Jeu Gong did not forget where he came from. He found a community of Chinese men who were just like him, still connected to the abstract place that was their homeland. For although they had cut their queues, and changed their names to John and Charlie, and spoke of cotton as they once spoke of rice, these men shared the same ache for a nation that was swiftly drifting from memory. In this painful transition from Chinese to American, Jeu Gong found brothers.

J.K. Young ran a Chinese grocery just south of Memphis in a river town called Tunica in Mississippi. He was a slight man, just over five feet tall, with oversized glasses, boyish features, and abnormally large ears. J.K. could hardly be considered handsome, but he carried himself like a prince. On the occasion that someone of importance, or anyone with a camera, stopped by the store, J.K. outfitted himself in a white button-down shirt and a bow tie. This happened more often than one would expect, because J.K. was the regional expert on nearly everything and a leader within the community of Delta Chinese.

A self-taught scholar, J.K. could speak, read, and write English. He served as a kind of interpreter for Jeu Gong. There were many things about America that J.K. understood. Even J.K.’s name was telling of his wisdom. In fact, “J.K. Young” was not his real name. Believing that the lo fan would prefer to do business with a man named Young, J.K. never told the white merchandisers and bankers that his actual surname was Joe. He never explained that the Joes were the first Chinese in the Delta, that his ancestors had likely arrived long before those of the white men who called him a foreigner.

It was the language of unsaid things that J.K. knew best, the language that all Delta people spoke. Contracts were written in nods and handshakes, the correct gesture at the correct time. J.K. knew whom to befriend and whom to ignore. He knew how to find the things that Jeu Gong longed for from home: tea, soap, incense, dried fish, plums. J.K. knew where to go to treat a toothache or a backache. He knew how to sign his name in English with long, graceful strokes and read the labels on tin cans and boxes. J.K. was also the first to know about what was happening back home. He sat on a bench behind his grocery, reading the headlines, sharing whatever news the paper contained . . . REVOLUTION AGAINST GOVERNMENT GAINS HOURLY THROUGHOUT CHINA . . . DISLOYAL TROOPS MURDER HUNDREDS . . . MUTINEERS SHOUT VENGEANCE ON MEMBERS OF THE RULING FAMILY . . . DOWN WITH MANCHUS . . . 300 SUPPORTERS OF THRONE SLAIN IN HANKOW THIS MORNING . . .

Even as the old country fell into civil war, J.K. retained the sense that home would always be China. Because of this, he remained single. Like many of the young men who visited him, J.K. intended to wait and return to China to find a wife. Some men did not wait, and for this they paid a great price. There were laws in Mississippi that barred Chinese men from marrying white women. Yet no law prohibited marriage between Chinese and blacks. The men who married outside of their race, choosing to live with black women, were exiled by the Chinese community. Although blacks and Chinese were relegated to the same neighborhoods and each occupied a lower social status than whiteness, the few Chinese men to cross the color line were excommunicated, forgotten by the very people they once considered family.

Like every other immigrant group to arrive in America, the Chinese in Mississippi distanced themselves from blacks in an effort to better align themselves with the white power structure. They developed a double-edged identity, adopting the customs of whites while refusing to associate socially with blacks.

Despite their status as outsiders, the Mississippi Chinese were able to achieve a higher social standing than their black neighbors and customers. In fact, it was their outsider status itself that mitigated against their being classed as black in America. “They cling,” the novelist James Baldwin later wrote of immigrants, “to those credentials forged in the Old World, credentials which cannot be duplicated here, credentials which the American Negro does not have.”

For Jeu Gong, who by now was in his midtwenties, crossing the color line meant forfeiting all prospects of elevating his station in Southern society. He would have to find a Chinese wife, which would be harder for him than it was for merchants like J.K. Young. Jeu Gong came to America on foot, without papers or any semblance of citizenship. J.K. was successful and spoke English. He had all the money and expertise required to cross effortlessly into the United States. If J.K. wanted to go to China and return with a wife, he could. Jeu Gong was not so fortunate. He would have to find his bride in America.

There was talk of a servant girl who lived in Gunnison. She cared for the Wong family’s two young sons and worked in their grocery. Her name was Katherine, an American name, a name that did not spend its childhood barefoot, bent over rows of dry earth, harvesting sweet potatoes. In China she was Hang Toy, an orphaned peasant. In America she was Katherine Wong, adoptive daughter of a wealthy merchant.

Jeu Gong began courting Katherine shortly after her eighteenth birthday in December 1912. Within a few weeks, she was pregnant. Katherine was bound by Chinese custom to serve the Wong family until the age of eighteen, so with Jeu Gong’s promise of marriage and a child growing inside her, she left Gunnison.

Jeu Gong and Katherine married on the second Tuesday in June. They wed using their formal Chinese names and, in this way, Lum Dock Gong and Hang Toy Wong began their lives together. They opened a small grocery store south of Gunnison, in the plantation town of Benoit.

Although it was June, Benoit’s farmers had yet to sow their crops. The river had grown high with winter rains, and in January a levee broke ten miles to the north, flooding the town. Rooftops drifted from homes. Bloated cattle floated over fields. Negro tenant farmers, who lost everything, built camps along the levees. Even as the land dried out, water rushing down Benoit’s avenues in retreat, the destruction from the flood remained.

Still, Katherine and Jeu Gong fashioned a life for themselves in the small Delta town. Katherine was quick to befriend the lo fan. She seemed at home in their world, maybe because there was no home for her in China, no family to write to on thin sheets of rice paper the way Jeu Gong did. She prayed to a long-haired god and read the King James Bible. She fried chicken and catfish. She smoked cigarettes and laughed at her own stories.

After the floodwaters receded, the shadows lengthened and the air grew colder. Bare branches thrashed against gray autumn skies and a child stirred in Katherine’s belly. Harvest came and Jeu Gong and Katherine worked until they were numb with exhaustion. When they fell asleep, side by side at the back of the store, they dreamed in different languages.


CHAPTER II

AUTUMN, 1913

BERDA WAS BORN IN the Year of the Ox, during the fall of 1913, in the months before Europe went to war with itself and drew the whole world in with it. She came into being at the back of a grocery, in a dark, damp cellar, between the storeroom of a Russian merchant and an Italian butcher.

The construction of her defenses began early, probably from the day she was born. Dr. Edwin Martin arrived on horseback from his home on the east side of the tracks. As one of only two doctors in Benoit, he had witnessed more death than birth given the region’s thick swamps and malaria-ridden bayous. Holding the leather strap of a medical bag, he sidestepped sacks of cornmeal, sugar, rice, and flour, making his way to the back of the grocery. He found Katherine, her short crop of hair damp with sweat.

Merely a child the year before, eighteen-year-old Katherine was now a mother. From his bag of instruments, Dr. Martin removed a sheet of paper. He noted that the child, a daughter, was born alive on October 22, 1913, and scratched out the nationality of the mother and father. Katherine told the doctor that she was from Canada. Jeu Gong said he was born in California. Each parent did this to protect the infant, upon whose future they rested their own. In the stillness between their child’s breathing was the urgency of all they would do for her, to give her a life they could not yet imagine. And so it was, the arrival of their first child, a daughter, an American.

They named her Berda after Berta Beadel, a young woman who lived in a mansion on Sycamore. Mrs. Beadel’s husband was a traveling salesman, and in his absence, during the long weeks spent alone, she devoted herself to the betterment of the community. The women of Benoit lauded her commitment to “charitable and worthy causes.” One such cause was bringing the word of God to the Lum family.

On Sundays, Mrs. Beadel accompanied the Lums to church, a one-room wood-frame structure that served the town’s Presbyterians, Baptists, and Methodists, each pastor taking the pulpit in rotation. The Benoit Union Church, as it was called, was inconveniently located directly behind the town’s largest ginnery. In autumn, during the cotton harvest, the congregation was forced to sing over the clanging iron jaws of the gin. “Come home, come home,” Mrs. Beadel howled beside Berda on an old, splintered pew. “Ye who are weary come home.”

Katherine understood that the drafty shack of a chapel offered her family another kind of ascension—a baptism into high society. In naming her daughter Berda, Katherine laid claim to an aristocracy, one created by those of old Southern lineage, who for generations had prayed together in the same clapboard churches.

When it came time for Katherine to name her second child, she chose to call her Martha, after a kind woman who lived next door named Martha Bonds. When, a few years later, Katherine gave birth to a son, she would name him after the town’s mayor. And in this way, the Lum children were christened into a culture that was not fully theirs. Nor was it that of their parents. They were part of the first wave in a generation of Delta children born from immigrants.

They would learn English and speak with a Southern drawl. They would drink Coca-Cola and play baseball. They would attend school and pledge allegiance to the United States of America, reciting the words from memory the same tired way their parents recited stories from the old country. Their childhoods, unfolding in the tense space between two worlds, represented the end of one South and the beginning of another.

The change began during the first decade of the twentieth century, when plantation owners experimented with importing immigrant laborers to replace black sharecroppers, large numbers of whom were leaving the South to find work in Northern cities.

In 1905 as many as five hundred Italian immigrants worked on plantations in Washington County, Mississippi. In Bolivar County there was also an influx of Italians, as well as Chinese, Russians, Austrians, and Romanians. Yet the harsh conditions and poor pay proved to be unsustainable for the new immigrants. Like the black sharecroppers they had come to replace, the immigrants asserted their limited autonomy by moving from one plantation to another, jumping from place to place unpredictably and often without clearing up their accounts.

Many immigrants unwittingly found themselves among the swelling ranks of convict laborers in the Mississippi and Arkansas Deltas. In 1908 a German citizen named George Scharmer was arrested for trespassing when he jumped a train in Malvern, Arkansas. He was sentenced to four months of hard labor at a plantation in Drew County and was still there at harvest time nearly a year later.

The story of Joseph Callas, a Russian Jew arrested for vagrancy in Little Rock, drew national attention. Marched to a field at gunpoint, a burlap sack tied to his back, Callas picked his first boll of Delta cotton in the presence of an overseer with a three-foot-long whip and a pack of bloodhounds. “We were put to different works,” he wrote in Collier’s after his release in 1909. “We gathered cotton, we dug ditches, tilled the ground, built fences around the fields. . . . There was not one day in which someone was not flogged. Two or three were flogged each day, and sometimes the number rose to ten.”

In 1914 twelve unsuspecting Hungarian immigrants from New York City, who spoke no English, were taken from a train station in the Yazoo Delta, stripped of their belongings, and forced to work at a lumber mill. When several tried to escape, they were arrested and returned to the mill.

Although they spoke different languages and came from vastly different cultures, each immigrant group arrived in the Delta with the same stigma of subservience that adhered to the black laborer. For those who intentionally came to work on plantations, like the Italians of Washington County, the reality of their situation dawned on them quickly. “Realizing that such treatment was similar to that accorded blacks, they soon became resentful,” wrote the historian James Cobb, “having grasped quickly the mores of a society where the actual physical cultivation of cotton bore the stigma of ‘nigger work.’”

Some immigrants gave up plantation life altogether and opened businesses with the little money they had managed to save while sharecropping, or with the sale of stolen cotton bales to black market barges along the Mississippi. Their loss of immigrant labor rankled the Delta’s white planters.

In 1907 a plantation owner from Greenville named LeRoy Percy told the state bar association that white Mississippians might be caricatured “as standing with both heels firmly planted in the earth, and with both hands firmly clasping the coat tails of the fleeing negro, in one breath upbraiding him for worthlessness and inefficiency and in the other vowing that no other laborer should be allowed to replace him.”

It was this failed effort to replace the Negro workforce that created one of the most fascinating ethnic enclaves in America. Having left the cotton fields, dozens of Chinese laborers, the most sizable cluster of Chinese Americans anywhere in the nonmetropolitan South, opened groceries in small towns throughout the Mississippi Delta.

Their enterprise was a new one, created by the liberation of four million slaves. With the abolishment of slavery, and the advent of tenant farming, Southern blacks had newfound earning power, however small, and the ability to become a consumer market. Yet due to segregation, a white store-owner would not sell goods to black sharecroppers. The only way a sharecropper could purchase goods was through his local plantation commissary.

In an act of defiance toward plantation rule, black sharecroppers began asserting their liberation by purchasing goods away from the commissary, at groceries run by Chinese families in town. “It seems as if there was a ready-made niche for the Chinese grocer in the Delta,” wrote historian James Loewen. “A slot which existed for reasons intrinsic to the social system, and which for similar reasons could not be filled by persons produced by that system.”

While groceries provided black sharecroppers a new level of financial independence, the motives of the Chinese grocer, in most cases, were purely based on profit. He treated his customers equally, regardless of race, because they were paying customers. As one grocer recalled, “We have to treat colored and white alike. The American money, they don’t make special for colored, special for whites.”

In one respect, the Chinese were directly responsible for giving black sharecroppers the ability to live separately from the plantation. Yet, in another way, they profited from a highly stratified society, which placed their consumer base on the bottom rung. For better or worse, the blacks and Chinese had a symbiotic relationship within the segregated South.
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Saturdays were the busiest day for the Lum family. The grocery served as a meeting place, where tenant farmers from nearby plantations gathered on milk crates outside the store to eat sardines and crackers, drink beer, and visit with one another. On Saturdays, the only day of the week they could rest, the sharecroppers came into town, loaded onto train cars and mule-drawn wagons.

As soon as Martha was talking, she was taking orders. Next she was opening soda bottles and cleaning spills. Sometimes, while running errands, parents would leave their children at the grocery, giving Martha and her sister temporary playmates. For a few precious hours, the shy, barefooted visitors gained entry into Martha and Berda’s world.

Always there were the smells, cornbread and buttermilk, garlic and ginger, fresh longbeans and green onions. The scents filtered into the store from the kitchen out back and mixed with the tobacco smoke and dip jars, stale sweat and laughter emanating from the men out front. There were the smells that made a throat grow whiskers, fuming from gas cans and jugs of turpentine, shoe polish and tar. And there were the sweet smells of Mary Janes, peppermints, Whitman’s chocolates, Wrigley’s gum, Tootsie Rolls, butterscotch, and caramels.

As evening set in, and sharecropper children left the store with candies pressed onto the roof of their mouths for safe keeping, Martha and Berda, Jeu Gong, and Katherine made sure the money was taken in and counted. The bills were sorted, change rolled. And on Monday, they rose early, walking to the bank on the corner of Main and Richardson to deposit the weekend’s earnings.

Both the grocery and the bank faced east. When dawn came, a gold haze settled over the fields along Main Street, its alchemy interrupted only by a freight depot. The shadowy depot served the Gibson Cotton Gin, arguably the most successful business in town. It boasted two cottonseed warehouses, an iron conveyor belt, and four Munger gins with eighty saws each.

In autumn, the grinding wail of the machinery overtook Main Street. Beneath clouds of coal smoke, wagons from local plantations delivered billowing piles of cotton to the Gibson gin. There it was vacuumed from the wagons through a suction pipe and run through the Mungers, which, by means of narrowly spaced teeth, removed the seeds from the fiber.

The cotton was then funneled into a compressing room, where it was pressed into bales, wrapped in burlap, and bound together with steel bands. From there, the bales went right out onto the gin’s own platform, the train depot that faced the Lums’ store. Then the Yazoo and Mississippi Valley Railroad shipped the bales south to New Orleans or north to markets in Memphis and Chicago.

Even with its cutting-edge cotton gin, Benoit was a timeworn town. Main Street, with its rough assembly of decaying brick storefronts and mud-caked windows, was home to an old hotel, two drugstores, a bank, a telephone company, and a few scattered groceries and meat markets. As with all Delta towns, life was injected into Benoit from outside forces, firms across the Atlantic pricing cotton futures, Northern capitalists seeking short-staple for their mills, the boll weevil, the railroads, the rains, the levees, the soil. From its very inception, Benoit was at the mercy of an expanding, industrialized world.

Benoit began life in the year 1889, with the coming of the Yazoo and Mississippi Valley Railroad. There was never any plan to run track through the plantations south of Rosedale, but James Richardson, the largest individual cotton grower in the world at that time, offered the railroad free use of his land if, in turn, the company built him a station.

James was the eldest son of Edmund Richardson, a planter whose holdings at one time included banks, steamboats, and railroads. He owned three-dozen cotton plantations and had a controlling interest in Mississippi Mills, the largest textile plant in the Lower South. His New Orleans-based brokerage house, Richardson and May, handled more than 250,000 bales of cotton every year.

Edmund Richardson was not always so prosperous. By the end of the Civil War, he had lost almost his entire net worth, close to $1 million. So in 1868, Richardson struck a deal with the federal authorities in Mississippi to contract labor from the state penitentiary, which was overflowing with ex-slaves, and work the men outside prison walls. He promised to feed and clothe the prisoners, and in return, the government agreed to pay him $18,000 a year for their maintenance.

The contract struck between Richardson and the State of Mississippi began an era of convict leasing that would spread throughout the South. Before it was over, a generation of black prisoners would suffer and die under conditions that were in many cases worse than anything they had ever experienced as slaves. Confining his laborers to primitive camps, Richardson forced the convicts to clear hundreds of acres of dense woodland throughout the Yazoo Delta. When the land was cleared, he put prisoners to work raising and picking cotton on the plowed gound.

Through this new system, Richardson regained his fortune. By 1880 he had built a mansion in New Orleans, another in Jackson, and a sprawling plantation house known as Refuge in the Yazoo Delta. When he died in 1886, he left his holdings to his eldest son, James.

As an inveterate gambler and drunk, James decided to spend his inheritance building a new town, developed solely as a center for sport. He bought racehorses and designed a racetrack. He built five brick stores and four homes. In 1889, when the station stop was finally completed for his new city, James told the railroad to call the town Benoit, after the family auditor. James’s sudden death in 1898 put an end to his ambitions for the town. But decades later, a Richardson Street still ran through Benoit, westward toward the river, in crumbling tribute to the man.

With hundreds of miles of new track, poured over acres of fertile land, the Yazoo and Mississippi Valley Railroad changed the very fabric of Delta society. It opened up the region to international trade with large port cities like New York and New Orleans and created a direct line to burgeoning Midwestern cities like Chicago and Detroit. The railroads brought the world to the Delta and the Delta to the world. The station stops and tiny towns that sprang up around them, however, disrupted the region’s traditional social structure.

Until the final decade of the nineteenth century, there had been only one society in the Delta—plantation society. Its structure was rigid, with boundaries that were drawn in the very blood and marrow of those who lived within its confines. “The plantation tended to find its center in itself,” wrote the journalist and historian W. J. Cash, “to be an independent social unit, a self-contained and largely self-sufficient little world of its own.” At the dawn of the twentieth century, that little world was under threat by virtue of its own expansion.

After the railroads, the factories followed, and the Industrial Revolution of the North spread southward, along the veins of progress and industry it had constructed. Its steel spikes and wooden ties served as bedrock for hundreds of cotton mills, seed oil plants, and lumberyards, supplying markets across the nation and throughout the globe.

With laborers no longer dependent on a plantation economy, the physical and social order of the past faced extinction. Fueled by greed and the desire to expand their empires, planters inadvertently set the stage for their own demise. “To accept Progress at all was manifestly to abandon the purely agricultural basis from which the Southern world, and ultimately the Southern mind had been reared,” wrote Cash. “To bring in the factory, to turn to the creation of industrial empire . . . would be to bring in the machine and the town, [which] would naturally be to bring in the laws of the machine and the town.”

With their hegemony in jeopardy, the planters moved from plantation to town, laying claim to a new, mechanized frontier. By the early 1900s many of the Delta’s plantation homes were abandoned, their owners moving into mansions on spruce-lined streets. Such relocation assured that the South’s social hierarchies would remain intact, even as its economic landscape was transformed.

The new mills functioned under the same social order as the plantation, each factory built inside a series of small private villages. Just as the plantation provided meager provisions for its slaves and tenants, the mills owned the beds on which their workers slept, the streets on which they traveled, and the land on which their houses stood. They provided commissaries, from which a workman could get advances on rations against his future earnings. In the mill town, just as on the plantation, the laborer was stripped of all autonomy, every aspect of his life controlled by his employer.

Still, from Mississippi’s Piney Woods and Red Clay Hills came the poor yeoman farmers, to work the mills as they had once worked the land. Families moved from fields they had worked for generations. Children as young as six and seven, boys and girls, and their pregnant mothers, labored in the cotton mills. By the hundreds they migrated to factories, accepting wages barely half the pay at Northern mills.

They rose before dawn to man the machines, some so young they carried boxes on which they could climb to reach the spindles. “I have known mills,” wrote the clergyman Edgar Gardner Murphy in 1904, “in which for ten or twelve days at a time the factory hands—children and all—were called to work before sunrise and dismissed from work only after sunset, laboring from dark to dark . . . finding their way with their own little lanterns through the unlighted streets of the mill village, to their squalid homes.”

Industrialization, which drove the creation of Benoit and the Delta towns surrounding it, spread rapidly throughout the South. In just one decade, the number of cotton mills multiplied dramatically. Between 1900 and 1910 the South had come to operate more than 39 percent of the nation’s mills, more than the entire country had in 1880.

Yet with the factories came tax subsidies and with those subsidies came paved roads and water systems and electric lights. Most importantly, for the Lums and other immigrant families, the tax revenue brought public education to the Delta and other farming regions across the South. By 1914, a year after Berda was born, every Southern state had some sort of uniform school system, and virtually every rural community had a schoolhouse. In total there were nearly eight million pupils in the public schools of the South—for the first time, almost as many in proportion to the population as the rest of the country.

Benoit’s two-room schoolhouse was as much a source of pride for the community as the town’s gin and lumber mill. Martha Bonds, Martha Lum’s namesake and godmother, was the school’s longest-serving teacher. She had no children of her own, so the town’s scattering of pupils substituted as her makeshift family. Mrs. Bonds lived with her husband on Main Street, next door to the Lums, beside the hotel.

Mr. Bonds, twenty years his wife’s senior, had left his position as a dry goods salesman to work in the town’s lumberyard. The couple’s most prized possession was a jewelry stand from the Coghill family of Virginia that was over one hundred years old. The antique looked as if it came from another, more graceful, time, from one of the books written by Englishmen about elegant love affairs and palace gardens. There, beside the jewelry stand, in the guardianship of her godmother, Martha learned all the things a lady should be.

Until Martha was old enough to attend school, her childhood was spent with Mrs. Bonds or at her family’s grocery store, where she studied the cycle of seasons and the lives of the customers who depended on them. The winter months were the hardest. By the end of January, most of the croppers were out of harvest money, so the Lums were forced to extend credit until planting season. Without any profits, the family barely sustained themselves through winter, rationing their modest income for basic necessities.

At last, March would arrive, its rains turning the fields into bogs. Inside Benoit’s clapboard church, congregants prayed the levees would hold. When the fields began to dry, and leaves burst into spring, hyacinths thrusting into bloom, the men began breaking up the soil. They left their cabins before dawn to hook their plows to their mules and turn up the land. Just as the men labored, the Lums labored with them, opening the store well before the day’s first light. They sold the blades, bolts, straps, feed, and ties with which the men could furrow the earth.

By early May the fields were ready to plant. The men would dig narrow trenches in the mounds they made and, at every pace, drop in cottonseed. Once the plants sprouted, the men would bring their families to the fields. Together, in the stifling heat, they chopped weeds with long-handled hoes, in a syncopation all their own.

At the end of spring, a light-hued blossom grew from the cotton stems. It stayed only a few days before darkening, wilting, and falling beside the young stalks. Then the summer arrived and with it the storms that came without warning, crackling along a low sky. Tiny green pods appeared at the base of the faded cotton flowers. The pods, filled with seeds, would swell with fleecy fibers during the summer months. In late August, when the air moved through the trees slow as butter, the bolls split open and the fields erupted into white.

Again, the men took their families to the land. They moved together through the cotton rows, long burlap sacks dragging behind them, sometimes so heavy the straps would draw blood. By November, all of the cotton had been harvested and the men were paid a share of the crop. Whatever they made would have to last through the winter, until the earth was ready again for planting.

Until Martha was school age, she observed the seasons in much the same way the tenant farmers did. When they had money, her family had money. When the crop yield was poor, Martha was poor. The ebb and flow of the land and its production was her only method for keeping time. Then, when Martha turned six, school began and time was measured in semesters. Spring planting and fall harvest were eclipsed by writing exercises and arithmetic. She studied distant worlds outside her own, with ancient kings and great armies. The two crowded rooms that made up Benoit’s schoolhouse were an escape from everything Martha had ever known.

The school was located on the far west side of town at the end of Richardson and Adams Streets, where they ran at right angles to Second Street. Beyond Second, the town gave way to farmland and the levee. None of the streets were paved, and when the rains came in spring, mud spilled all the way from the bayous down to the shops on Main Street. Martha and Berda would have to trudge west three blocks along Adams or Richardson, up toward their swamp of a schoolyard.

Adams Street, lined with symmetrical shotgun shacks, belonged to the Negro tenant farmers. Most of the farmers came from somewhere else, another county, maybe even another state. It was in their nature to move often, always following the best wages and crop shares, but they were quick to make a home from their cabins of rough lumber, with walls beaten and weathered as reeds. In town, the farmers joked that they could “study astronomy through the openings in the roof and geology through holes in the floor.”

There was only one room to each house. The room had a fireplace for heat and one or two windows for light, but the landlords didn’t waste money on glass, so the houses were shuttered when the weather grew cold. In the winter, when temperatures dipped near freezing, the children patched up the drafty walls of their cabins with newspapers. If it was an especially cold winter, they pulled up fences from their yards to burn for fuel.

Richardson ran on a parallel course beside Adams Street, but despite their proximity, the two streets were worlds apart. Richardson, on its path west toward the school, was lined with humble vistas of shoe repair shops and hardware supply stores, but as the street arched slowly toward the river, the porches of regal mansions blossomed in perfect rows behind wrought iron fences. The hum of Main Street quickly faded as magnolias unfurled over manicured lawns.

The children in these houses played games of lost legacy. They were raised on stories of life before the war, reminiscences of “Christmas on the plantation . . . [when] there was a big tree with strong branches, lighted with many candles, and on or under it, wonderful presents . . . There were the breakfasts with the hot rolls, as light as sea foam; the beaten biscuit, white as snow; the corn muffins; the broiled chicken; the eggs; the hominy; the waffles; the coffee and cream. . . . Comfort and even luxury were visible in every room of this rambling plantation house.”

The children of Richardson Street clung to distant memories. To play their games was to act out their legends, to resurrect their past.

Martha and Berda passed their mansions on the way to school. The looming residences belonged to their classmates, but the sisters were not welcome there. Confined to the bustling, crowded streets of town, Martha and Berda returned each day to where the immigrants lived, beside the line of track that had brought their father south. Night after night, they awoke to the roar of a steam train clattering past, bearing another future, another legacy to be constructed behind other brick storefronts.

Inside, the infants, cradled by wooden crates, carried with them the expectations of an entire generation. These children, sunburned and threadbare, born on the rich soil of a foreign land, inherited only the debt they owed their own future. Martha and Berda, the daughters of Delta immigrants, were to make the hardships of their ancestors worthwhile.

In the cramped room behind her family’s grocery, Martha made good on this promise. Under the yellow glow of kerosene, she learned to read and to write, to keep the books for her father’s business. Yet beneath that dedication was a deep and incurable loneliness. Martha would never be one of the charmed ones, the golden people, the lo fan, the children of Richardson Street. There was no Lum family Bible, linking generations of blood to Mississippi land. Martha’s heritage slept behind a grocery every night. She could trace her lineage only in the creases of her father’s eyes, the dark stages where scenes from distant places flickered and were never explained.

If her family had been different, maybe she would have been invited to dine at the long, elegant lo fan tables. She could have attended their picnics and visited their wealthy relatives in New Orleans and Memphis. She could enter through the front doors of their hotels without the paralyzing fear that she was not welcome, that girls like her had to enter through the back. Sitting in rows of desks, inches from Martha, was the world of the lo fan, a world of privilege more distant to her than China. And in this exile, quietly practicing her penmanship, Martha developed a strength of character that would one day threaten the very structure of Southern society.


CHAPTER III

WINTER, 1919

MOONLIGHT LEAKED THROUGH THE gaps in the door onto the dirt floor and cold walls of the grocery. Sunday nights were always the quietest, and now they belonged to Jeu Gong. Katherine insisted the store remain closed one day per week, out of respect for religion. While he accepted Katherine’s belief in divinity, Jeu Gong himself had no interest in Christianity. He never attended church services. He wasn’t baptized. Religion for Jeu Gong was a pact that he made with himself long before he arrived in America, that he would one day provide for his family. Six years ago they had come here to Benoit, raised two daughters, and Katherine was now six months pregnant with a third child. The promise he made himself was almost realized—almost.

Katherine was growing sicker every day. Living as they did, in a single room behind the store, her illness had become a family burden. The girls, even in their childish ignorance, saw that their mother was tired, sleeping at odd hours, complaining of headaches.

Even if Jeu Gong knew of a cure, he could not give it to her. There was no money left. His store, which once overflowed with customers stocking their wagons with salt meat, molasses, flour, lard, beans, tobacco, coffee, snuff, and sugar, was now silent. His patrons were all gone. It was a deceptive stillness that settled into the moonlit cracks of the grocery that winter night. Jeu Gong, a businessman on the brink of bankruptcy, was bearing witness to an exodus.
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January was “movin’” month for sharecroppers. The departures often took place on Sunday nights between eight and midnight. They never told anyone they planned on leaving. They just disappeared. They packed their lives into burlap sacks and suitcases and boarded northbound trains.

A report by the US Department of Labor estimated that as many as 350,000 black laborers left the South during one eighteen-month period between 1916 and 1917, nearly a third of them from Mississippi. An investigator visiting Washington County at the end of 1917 found two hundred abandoned houses in just one town. Under the cover of darkness, in the biting chill of a winter Sunday, Jeu Gong’s customers were leaving the Delta, each in their own way, headed for a place where the future looked brighter.

As immigration plunged by more than 90 percent during World War I—from 1.2 million in 1914 to 110,618 in 1918—Northern industries such as steel mills, railroads, and packinghouses sent recruiters throughout the South to find black laborers to replace a dwindling European workforce. In 1917 the United States instituted the universal draft, further depleting the North of white labor.

To fill the jobs left vacant in Northern cities, some 550,000 blacks left the South during the decade of World War I, more than all those who had left in the five decades following the Emancipation Proclamation. As the migrants settled into their new lives in the North, reports of higher wages, more schools, and better living conditions traveled south. As one woman wrote back to a friend in Mississippi, “Honey, I got a bathtub.”

Such accounts passed from one person to another, culminating in a vision of a promised land. This vision was then projected onto the pages of the black press, as newspapers like the Chicago Defender and the Pittsburgh Courier were borne southward, distributed by railroad porters. By 1919 the Defender was circulated in 1,542 towns and cities across the South, including rural Delta communities like Tunica, Mississippi. “Our problem today,” read an editorial in the Chicago Defender in August of 1916, “is to widen our economic opportunities, to find more openings and more kinds of openings in the industrial world. Our chance is right now.”

Local white leaders blamed the Chicago Defender for encouraging sharecroppers to demand better working conditions and political freedoms. One Delta paper argued that by instilling the notion of equality, the Defender was directly responsible for the violence directed against Southern blacks. “The negroes who are making money out of this newspaper,” the article read, “are paving the way for ignorant Southern negroes to go to their graves.”

Measures were quickly taken throughout Mississippi to outlaw the distribution of the Defender as well as the Crisis, the magazine of the newly formed National Association for the Advancement of Colored People. In 1920 the state passed a law making it a misdemeanor to “print or publish or circulate” literature favoring social equality. Shortly after the law was passed, E. R. Franklin of Holmes County, Mississippi, received six months in prison and a $400 fine for selling the Crisis at his store.

Despite the risk, hundreds of thousands of Southern blacks managed to circulate the literature throughout the South. “Subscribers passed the publications among their fellow lodge and church members,” wrote the historian Nan Elizabeth Woodruff, “while the literate read to the illiterate. Thus rural black people, like industrial workers of an earlier time, had ways of transmitting information they deemed relevant to their community’s survival.”

The most famous and arguably most successful transmission of such information was through song. Music journeyed south from recording studios in Northern industrial centers, including the earliest iterations of what would hold the ultimate appeal for migration, the blues.

Blues pioneer and Mississippi native Charley Patton recorded his classic “Pea Vine Blues” in 1929 for Paramount Records. The song, played with the driving pulse of a moving train, referred to the Delta’s main rail line, the Peavine, which carried sharecroppers away from plantations to Northern cities. The lyrics were a message, clear to all Delta residents who heard Patton’s call: “I think I heard the Peavine when it blowed. . . . I’m goin’ up country, Mama, in a few more days.”

The railroads, which first fueled and then solidified the South’s place in the global economy, had now become the mode of exodus for hundreds of thousands of Southern blacks. The tracks that coursed through the Delta, giving life to towns like Benoit, were now ferrying its labor force—and its economic foundation—northward. The planters feared that their fields, which they had seen parched by drought, drowned by rain, swept by fire, beaten by hail, and eaten bare as bones by boll weevils, would not survive without the Negro to tend to them.

They vowed to stem the tide of out-migrants by whatever means necessary. In the Delta city of Greenwood, white law enforcement officials dragged black passengers off of outbound trains, often taking the train’s porters as well. In order to avoid confrontations with whites at a train station farther south of Greenwood, in Greenville, a number of local blacks walked twelve miles east to Leland to board the train north to Chicago.

After the United States entered World War I, Southern landowners had a new means of ensuring their laborers remained on plantations—the threat of the draft. In the summer of 1918 the army’s provost marshal, General Enoch Crowder, issued a “Work or Fight” order to all local exemption boards, allowing them to draft men who were not engaged in employment.

Crowder’s order essentially federalized the local vagrancy laws that were already pervasive throughout the South. It was now up to the small-town sheriff, mayor, constable, and justice of the peace to identify “vagrants” and turn them in to the local exemption board to be shipped off to war. In the Delta, local defense councils adopted an identification system that required all blacks to carry a card listing their place of employment. The defense council requested national support in forcing “our negro labor to stay on the job six days in the week or they will be inducted into service.”

When the black men drafted into war eventually returned home, they were met with rabid hostility from local whites. “What did they do to the niggers after this first world war?” recalled a black sharecropper named Nate Shaw. “Meet em at these stations where they was gettin off, comin back to the United States, and cut the buttons and armaments off of their clothes, make em get out of them clothes, make em pull them uniforms off and if they didn’t have another suit of clothes—quite naturally, if they was colored men they was poor and they might not a had a thread of clothes in the world but them uniforms—make em walk in their underwear.”

In the spring of 1919, a band of white men in Blakely, Georgia, confronted a black soldier named Wilbur Little as he returned home from his tour of duty in World War I. When they ordered him to take off his uniform, he refused. A few days later, a mob attacked Little at a celebration for his achievements during the war. He was found beaten to death on the outskirts of town, still wearing his uniform.

In the Mississippi Delta, a black coast guardsman returning on leave to visit his mother in Greenwood was stopped in Tchula and arrested for “trespassing without money.” When it was discovered that he did, in fact, have money, the charge was changed to vagrancy. He was sentenced to thirty days of hard labor at a cotton plantation. Thirty-six days later, he was released, having been beaten on several occasions with a “seven pound strap,” once for writing a letter to his commanding officer.

The social and economic forces pushing blacks out of the Delta were also acting upon the Lum family, but in an entirely different way. At the outset of World War I, inflated wartime cotton prices gave sharecroppers unprecedented earning power. For the first time in history, thousands of Southern blacks were purchasing luxury items such as automobiles, radios, Victrolas, and pianos.

The Lums and other merchant families found themselves the beneficiaries of a rising black middle class. The Lums purchased a car and traveled to other towns. Katherine bought furs. The children wore new shoes. But the family’s newfound wealth did not last long. Soon, landowners began refusing laborers their share of the crop yields, often employing intimidation and violence. Within a few short years, tens of thousands of blacks escaped Mississippi and moved north.

As their customer base dwindled, the Lums were forced to supplement their income by taking in boarders. Katherine, in ill health and preparing for the birth of her third child, made room for two more residents in their home behind the grocery. Fifty-year-old Bartlett Dabney, along with his younger sister Cammie, boarded with the Lum family. Bartlett owned a general store in town, but his business, too, was failing, and with it his ability to afford his farmhouse outside Benoit.

The Dabneys of Benoit were a strange breed. For one thing, none of them ever married. Bartlett’s younger brother, William, owned a drugstore in town and devoted his life to his business. Bartlett, by contrast, moved often and changed professions regularly. He worked in cotton sales at the Speakes Plantation just outside Benoit. He then became a postmaster and then a farmer before trying his hand at operating a general store.

At the time he made the move into town, Cammie was living with him, so she accompanied him into the Lum household. As Bartlett struggled to save his store, Cammie helped Katherine around the house. Berda was now of age to attend school and Martha was both mobile and curious. The girls required a tender hand and watchful eye that their ailing mother struggled to give to them. Cammie became the nurse the family so desperately needed. She cooked meals and washed laundry. She entertained the children and recalled memories of her own youth, now distant after forty-eight years.

Likely inspired by her father, who ran his own medical practice, Cammie devoted her life to caring for others. As a young woman, Cammie had moved alone to Memphis to work at a sanitarium geared toward curing addiction. Working as the clinic’s stenographer, she transcribed hundreds of patients’ stories, typing the details of their troubles with alcohol, opioids, and pills.

The Dabneys did not live with the Lums for long, but Cammie’s nurturing presence was a welcome one for the family, helping them through a difficult time. Eventually, she became the proprietor of Benoit’s hotel and her bachelor brothers moved in with her.

In the winter before her son was born, Katherine told her husband she could no longer live in Benoit. The cramped, dirty quarters had taken a toll on her health. Jeu Gong agreed to sell the store and purchase property a few miles north, in Rosedale. Even as he made this promise, Jeu Gong understood that owning a grocery in Rosedale was a dream his family could not afford. Still its blaze of electric lights stood on the horizon, a world of potential. It was in Rosedale where Jeu Gong and Katherine were determined to build their future.

On January 21, 1919, Jeu Gong purchased a plot of land next to the railway depot on the east side of Rosedale. The barren lot, scraggled with brush, belonged to the Radjeskys, a family of Jewish immigrants from Germany. Katherine had known the family for most of her life. The patriarch, Jake Radjesky, was something of a real estate mogul in Gunnison, where Katherine had been raised. He was one of the town’s first settlers, buying up property while land was cheap. He owned the town’s livery stable, hotel, and mercantile business.

Jake’s relationship with Katherine’s family went all the way back to China. He testified on behalf of Katherine’s adoptive father, Don Chuck Tai Wong, when Don first decided to immigrate to the United States with his wife and children. The Radjeskys had since moved to Memphis, but Jake’s wife, Annie, still owned a parcel of land in Rosedale. She was eager to sell the property to Katherine, whom she called Katie.

When all of the details were finalized and contracts drawn, Jeu Gong was able to purchase the quarter-acre plot for a thousand dollars, paying one dollar as a down payment. One of Mississippi’s most powerful men, a lawyer, cotton planter, and state representative named Walter Sillers Jr., loaned Jeu Gong the rest of the money, at a rate of 6 percent interest.

Sillers had been a member of the state legislature since 1916. He also served on the town’s board of supervisors, the levee board, and as chief attorney for the city. His father, Walter Sillers Sr., also practiced law and served in the state legislature during Reconstruction. Minus a brief stint working in the state capitol, the elder Sillers had lived within the boundaries of Rosedale all his life. Even when federal troops invaded during the Civil War, Walter Sillers Sr. did not leave the city.

As a ten-year-old boy, Walter had sat in the schoolyard and watched Confederate cavalrymen, including his father, prepare for battle. “When troopers began to drill,” he later wrote, “every school boy was equipped with a uniform and a little sword, and a juvenile cavalry organized. . . . After months of drilling, the Bolivar Troop was ordered to war, and our little company accompanied them to the river landing, where they embarked.”

During the war, young Sillers Sr. and his mother hid in an abandoned plantation on the outskirts of town and foraged the woods for food. When the Federals took Vicksburg, Walter Sr.’s father was taken prisoner, executed, and buried in an unmarked grave. After the war, Walter’s brother tried to recover their father’s body but returned to Rosedale with nothing. These stories Walter shared with his son, who strove to honor his father’s memory. For Walter Sillers Jr., the town of Rosedale, and by extension the entire South, was as much a philosophy as it was a place. His contract with Jeu Gong was conditional, that the Lum family uphold the values of the Southern way of life.

In March 1919 Katherine gave birth to a son. She named him Hamilton Biscoe Lum, after Benoit’s mayor. It was a vow to herself and her only son that the future held greatness. There was now a boy to carry on the family name in America.

In keeping with tradition, Biscoe was baptized in the manner of all Chinese sons. The family celebrated his arrival with a great banquet known as the hone aun, or red egg ceremony. Katherine and her young daughters prepared a feast of eggs, hard-boiling and delicately wrapping them in thin, red calligraphy paper until the kitchen overflowed with bright pink chicken eggs. Then they prepared the tay doy, tea pastries, molding rich confections called moon cakes out of sweet bean curd.

The relatives arrived bringing lee shee, red envelopes filled with “lucky money.” Katherine’s adoptive brothers were in attendance. Her brother Ben lived behind a grocery in Rosedale, with his wife, Susie, and their son Alex, who was recently given a hone aun of his own. Biscoe’s grandparents, Don Chuck Tai Wong and Lung Jin Foon Wong, who first brought Katherine to America, had planned to move back to China in the winter but delayed their voyage just long enough to attend the banquet. Following the ceremony, the Wongs sold their store in Gunnison and moved back to their native country, never to see Katherine or her children again.

While many of Katherine’s relatives came to congratulate her, there was only one relative who arrived for Jeu Gong, his eldest brother, Gow. They had not seen each other in over a decade, not since Jeu Gong crossed the US border. They had each fashioned vastly different lives for themselves, Jeu Gong as a grocer in Mississippi and Gow as a laundryman in Michigan. Yet both men had started American families.

Gow brought a son with him, whom Jeu Gong now met for the first time. Gow’s son, Lee, spoke fluent English, unlike his father, whose tongue snapped awkwardly across the foreign syllables. As relatives filtered out of the grocery, each leaving behind gifts and well wishes, Jeu Gong informed Katherine that Gow and his son would be staying in Benoit. They, too, would live at the grocery. Lee would work the register and Gow would learn about the grocery business from Jeu Gong.

Katherine could have told her husband that she was too weak to care for others, that there were no beds to spare with the Dabneys boarding in the home, but Gow and Lee were family, and family provide for one another. So the two men moved in behind the store, sleeping on mattresses alongside Cammie and Bartlett Dabney, Martha, Berda, Jeu Gong, Katherine, and baby Biscoe.

The girls called their uncle Ah Bok, the respectful term for a father’s older brother. Gow commanded this respect. He was much older than their father and did not have a wife’s touch to temper his rough disposition. He spoke with his brother in Cantonese about the things they used to have in the old country. His son, Lee, shared stories of life in the North, of snow and ice and towering buildings that almost touched the sky. There were cinemas and opera houses where a Chinese man could enter right through the front door. There were parts of the city where everyone spoke Cantonese, even the same Sze Yap dialect that Gow spoke with his brother.

For Berda, who was about to begin primary school, the stories were mesmerizing. In learning about cities, Berda developed a yearning for a world outside the Delta and a wanderlust that would stay with her all her life. Martha was far too young to make sense of the stories. She clambered about the store with childish buoyancy, leaving the duty of listening to her sister.

As much as Jeu Gong enjoyed the company of his brother, Gow’s stay was unsettling. Jeu Gong had traveled south to avoid the immigration officers of the North. In a big city, there are many eyes watching. Gow brought those eyes with him. And with them, he brought the threat of deportation into Jeu Gong’s home.

What if his brother had been followed? What if the inspectors came to the grocery? How could Jeu Gong protect his family? Who would care for them if he was sent back to China? If Jeu Gong were taken, he would likely be detained and questioned about his brother, how they came to America, if they were native citizens. He must know the answers to every question.

With a little money Jeu Gong managed to save, he purchased coaching papers. The papers provided a series of responses to questions that an inspector would likely ask during an interrogation. To protect his family and his brother, Jeu Gong memorized the details of an American childhood he had never experienced in a place he had never been.

Where were you born?


We were born in San Francisco.



Where were you born in San Francisco?


I was born at the corner store 803 at Grant and Clay Street, room 5, second floor, above the grocery and store Chang Jan. On the left, 805, was Chang Tai, a grocery and clothing store.



Where were you born?


We were born in San Francisco, 803 Grant Avenue, corner of Grant and Clay. Downstairs was the Chang Jan grocery store. They also sold books and metal utensils. We were born in room 5 on the second floor Chang Jan. On the left at 805 was Chang Tai, a grocery and clothing store.



Where did your father work in San Francisco?


He was manager at the Chang Tai store at 805 Grant Avenue.



Where did you go after the San Francisco earthquake?


We lived with our parents in Oakland at 31 Eighth Street, corner of Eighth and Harrison. On 4th month, 19th day, Kuang Hsu 15, my brother and I went to Chicago.



The list of questions ended with a warning, cautioning that the inspector would likely ask about Gow and what Jeu Gong knew of his activities in the North.

There needs to be remarks about you two separating in Chicago and your meeting again:


My brother and I were in Chicago barely a week when we separated. I went to the South to look for work. We did not communicate for many years because I worked at many different places. It was not until the end of the World War when he visited me that we met again.



“Further words of advice,” the letter concluded:


In case immigration officials were to investigate, be sure to memorize what we discussed above. . . . You can tell them what you did in the South after you and Gow Lum separated in Chicago. After you have read and committed to memory what’s in these papers, you should put them away in a safe place so they will not be seen by any white person. Otherwise, it could lead to serious problems.



Over time, Gow grew restless and returned to the North and Jeu Gong’s fear of deportation gave way to a new fear, the loss of his wife. Katherine had been in poor health during her pregnancy, but she’d survived Biscoe’s birth. Now many months had passed, and her condition only seemed to grow worse. Every remedy failed as her body grew weaker. One room was too small for a family. Katherine needed a new home.

Whenever Jeu Gong could get away from the store, he went to his small plot of land at the far end of Bruce Street, beside the train depot, in Rosedale. He cleared brush from the lot to lay the foundation, cutting back grasses and cane scrub that grew near the tracks. Over several years, gradually purchasing labor, mortar, and brick, Jeu Gong built a new home for his family.

The first floor included a cashier’s counter, behind which were rows of dry goods and farm supplies. At the rear of the grocery was a kitchen. In the yard behind the house, Jeu Gong planted a garden. There was an opulence in the kind of plants that Jeu Gong could coax from the soil, thick curls of longbean sprouts, glittering purple eggplants, green celery and bok choy, fragrant ginger root, squash, tomatoes, cucumbers, and snow peas. Through his garden, Jeu Gong gave life to memory, now oceans and decades away.

Katherine designed the second floor of the house, which would serve as the family’s living quarters. It included eight rooms, far more than the family required, but Katherine wanted to be able to welcome guests. Hoping to spare visiting Chinese the humiliation of being rejected from local hotels, Katherine decided their grocery would be a place for all Chinese families, not merely her own. Finally, in 1923, four years after Jeu Gong signed the papers on his plot of land, the Lum family moved to Rosedale.


CHAPTER IV

SUMMER, 1923

BRUCE STREET WAS SO alive it had its own heartbeat. Its rhythm came from the fast crack of billiard balls at Charlie Green’s pool hall and the midnight laughter burning like pipe tobacco in Lottie Jeritt’s rooming house.

The street’s loudest pulse was the quaking meter of steel on steel, as the steam train known as the Owl shuddered to a stop in the dead of night. A handful of dedicated men, eyes blurry with either sleep or drink, would stand by the station, waiting for the next morning’s papers and news from Bolivar County’s great beyond.

The pace never slowed on the colored side of Rosedale. It was as if its very motion kept it alive. The Lums’ grocery was located on the corner of Bruce and Railroad Streets, next to the rail line. On one side of the grocery was the train depot and on the other side were two cobblers, a barber, a restaurant, and a laundry.

Just south of the train depot, a short walk along the tracks, was the town’s ice plant. There, great slabs of ice were loaded into insulated boxcars. Fishermen, boots caked with the mud of the Arkansas, White, and Mississippi Rivers, heaved crates of buffalo and catfish onto waiting trains. Packed tight with ice, the fish then shipped up to Chicago, as many as three express carloads a day.

Whether it was the vibrancy of the town or the new house, Katherine’s health began to improve almost immediately. By harvest season she was strong enough to work long hours at the grocery, from well before sunrise until long after sundown.

Throughout most of the year, the family’s customers came in from Scott Plantation, a cotton farm controlled by the Delta and Pine Land Company. The corporation owned eighteen plantations and most of the cotton land within the county.

During harvest, when the grocery was busiest, the Lums served new customers, day laborers who came looking for better wages from as far as the Red Clay Hills or plantations in distant Delta counties. The migrant farmers arrived with the first burst of the cotton boll and left immediately after the crop was collected.

By September, when harvest was well under way, Martha and Berda woke early each weekday morning to help in the store before walking to school. The girls were in Miss Rae’s third- and fourth-grade classroom at Rosedale Consolidated High School. The sprawling redbrick structure was an object of regional pride. The district had consolidated its education funds to construct the new facility.

The consolidated school was not designed for the city’s current residents, but rather the residents Rosedale’s leaders hoped to attract. With the exodus of thousands of black laborers, planters feared they would be unable to secure a strong workforce. By 1920 landowners began to consider recruiting white labor.

Mrs. Walter Sillers Sr. was one of the first in the Delta to suggest replacing black sharecroppers with white laborers from Mississippi’s Red Clay Hills. In an essay for the Bolivar County Daughters of the American Revolution, she advocated dividing plantations into thirty-acre plots and leasing the land to white farmers.

The survival of the region, Mrs. Sillers claimed, relied on recruiting “Anglo Saxon stock from the hill sections.” She insisted that such a project was essential to ensure that “this fine race of people may be kept in ascendancy in this nation.” Her son Walter served on Rosedale’s school board.

One of the chief ways to lure farmers from the hills to the banks of the Mississippi River, Walter Sillers Jr. and other Delta planters decided, was to build modern consolidated schools throughout the region. The beautiful brick buildings would impress poor yeoman farmers, whose children likely studied in one-room shacks, if they studied at all. After several county meetings, it was decided that Rosedale Consolidated High School would be constructed and serve as the district’s recruiting grounds for a new white workforce.

Immediately following the school’s opening in 1923, Rosedale’s principal and board of trustees made an application to the state accreditation commission. If Rosedale received accreditation from the commission, its graduates would be accepted to state colleges without examinations, further increasing the district’s appeal for white farmers.

In order to meet the commission’s standards, the school was expected to fulfill a series of fourteen requirements, including maintaining a full library and a nine-month scholastic calendar, hiring teachers with four-year college degrees, and enrolling students who exhibited “good intellectual and moral tone with stability of character.”

Seeing as the school had opened just months before, it was unlikely that Rosedale would meet the stringent requirements of the accreditation commission with its first application. But on November 26, 1923, a few days before the commission met to decide the school’s fate, Walter Sillers Jr. sent a personal letter to Mississippi’s superintendent of education, Willard Faroe Bond.

“We of Rosedale are very interested in the progress of our school and in having it meet the standard of this Commission,” he wrote. “We trust that you will see that this gets due consideration at the meeting. . . . I assure you that [Senator] W. B. Roberts and the other good citizens of Rosedale will appreciate whatever you may do for us.” By springtime, Rosedale Consolidated was approved for accreditation.

On April 16, 1924, nearing the end of Martha and Berda’s second semester at Rosedale, Jeu Gong and Katherine ushered their daughters out the door for their first class photo. The event was particularly momentous, because it was the school’s inaugural year. The teachers led forty third- and fourth-grade students onto the front steps of the new building, filing the children into four rows, one for each step.

The boys sat in the back two rows, the older ones dressed in white collared shirts and neckties. The younger ones wore shorts, belted high over their waists, and long dress socks that covered their dust-scrubbed legs, an assortment of ruddy knees visible in the gaps between socks and shorts.

The girls wore loose-fit, hand-sewn dresses, some decorated with bits of lace around the neckline and cuff. Each girl sported the same boyish bob that seemed torn from the pages of Motion Picture magazine. Martha and Berda sat next to one another in the front row, Martha with her long arms dangling by her side and Berda locking her fingers impatiently over her lap. Wriggling in place, the children tried to remain still long enough for the photographer to take an image that would capture history.
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As Martha and Berda posed on the front steps of Rosedale Consolidated High School, a thousand miles away, at the Capitol Building in Washington, DC, two cousins were locked in a battle that would determine the fate of every immigrant in America.

Inside the Senate chamber, Senator David Reed, a Republican from Pennsylvania, had just proposed an amendment to an act that he recently authored with Congressman Albert Johnson. The tentatively titled Johnson-Reed Act was the single most restrictive immigration legislation ever introduced to Congress.

The two men wanted to reform the country’s immigration system to operate strictly on the basis of quotas. The cap for the number of citizens admitted from each foreign nation would be determined based on the racial makeup of the United States in 1910. Using census figures, a national immigration bureau would determine how many countries were represented in the bloodline of “American stock.” Those figures would dictate the number of immigrants permitted into the United States from each foreign country. The goal was to preserve the nation’s current ideal of American Anglo-Saxon homogeneity while slowing the influx of migrants from southern and eastern Europe.

Congressman Johnson, chair of the House Committee on Immigration and Naturalization, who helped draft the act with Reed, sought guidance for designing his quota system from a researcher named Harry Laughlin. A stolid man with a rare, faint smile, Laughlin was the nation’s leading eugenicist. He was the first and only director of the Eugenics Record Office located in Cold Spring Harbor, New York. Frequently making trips to Ellis Island with his colleague Charles Davenport, Laughlin studied arriving immigrants to construct a hierarchy of national origins.

According to his findings, the unfit and insane constituted an excessively large proportion of the national populations of Russia, Poland, Italy, and the Balkans, which also happened to be the birth countries of an increasing percentage of America’s new immigrants. By drafting policy that reflected his research, Laughlin had the opportunity to legitimize the field of eugenics on a national scale. If the bill passed, it would give credence to Laughlin’s life work.

At noon on Wednesday, April 16, 1924, the bill was in its later stages of development, but still nowhere ready for a vote. What was up for debate was an amendment proposed by its author, David Reed, to include a provision that would exclude from entry any alien who, by virtue of race or nationality, was “ineligible for citizenship.”

The existing laws prohibited only people of Asian nationalities from American citizenship. This meant that if passed, Reed’s amendment would all but end immigration from East Asia and the Indian subcontinent. Asians as a whole would no longer be admitted into the United States as immigrants. Reed’s amendment was met with widespread approval as senator after senator took to the floor to support the new measure.

“Mr. President,” Senator Walter George, a Georgia Democrat, proclaimed in a lilting drawl,


when we think of the Chinese and the Japanese . . . we must think of them, Mr. President, as children of a very old civilization. . . . We have in America a peculiar government, a self-government that is peculiar to the people of America. That government has many great excellences, but it has no excellency that makes it fit and proper for every race of man. . . . So I think that in the broader question involved in this immigration measure before us, we must of necessity keep in mind the ease or difficulty with which separate races and the nationals of other nations can be assimilated. . . . I believe that amendment is a good amendment and it is a wise amendment.



Other senators joined in a chorus of agreement; one even suggested barring immigration altogether for a period of five years. As afternoon faded into evening and it appeared the amendment would pass, James Reed, a Democrat from Missouri, took the floor from his cousin David.

Described by those who knew him as “vigorous” and “alert,” with a bellowing voice and an “acid tongue,” James lived to wage wars no one believed he could win. He was a slender man, with a wide face and penetrating eyes that carried an unmistakable gravity. His cousin David was full of social graces, described by others as “charming, handsome and adroit.” As one writer recalled of David, “he came as close as any opponent ever had done to outwit” his cousin James.

James was the only senator to vote against the Emergency Quota Act of 1921, which enacted strict limits on immigration. While James fiercely opposed every aspect of David’s bill, the fight was far more than political. It was personal. In a rivalry of kinship, James set out to dismantle his cousin’s amendment.

“Mr. President,” he began in a measured tone, “at this late hour in the discussion of the bill, with full knowledge that probably every Senator has made up his mind on the subject, and with but few members of the Senate in the chamber, I do not presume to think that I shall change a single vote, or that my remarks will have any other present effect than to register my own views regarding the character of legislation. I shall try to do that briefly.”

James then proceeded to break apart the logic behind David’s amendment, explaining the country’s history as an immigrant nation, that every person, regardless of origin, is both a physical and financial asset to the United States. He pointed out that every person in the room was in some way the descendant of immigrants, that he had known many immigrants in his life and seen their children grow into honorable citizens.

“They were regarded as a scourge,” James said, his voice thick with passion. “Yet I lived to see the sons and daughters of those people enter the public schools and I entered with them. . . . The fact that a man happened to be born on the other side of the red line of the map does not make his presence here any less valuable. . . . I do not expect to stop this craze: I do not expect to arrest this movement: But I say that it is one of the narrowest and most contemptible movements that ever cursed the American people.”

As the sky grew darker and the sun began to set over the Potomac River, James turned to his colleagues and gave one final plea.

“This movement is but a part of a general swing. We are going to exclude everybody; we are going to keep this country just for ourselves, we think: But we are simply denying ourselves the wealth of the world, the splendid men and women who want to come to this country and live under our flag and become a part of this great people. You may do it; you doubtless will do it.”

Before the end of the session, a vote was taken. David’s amendment passed by a margin of 71 to 4. Then, a month later, the Senate passed the Immigration Act of 1924 in its entirety.

On July 1, President Calvin Coolidge signed the measure into law. With the act’s ratification, the country was set on a course to, by its own definition, “maintain the racial preponderance of the basic strain [of] our people” and “stabilize the ethnic composition of the population.”

The act proved so restrictive for Asians and eastern Europeans that in 1924 more Italians, Czechs, Yugoslavs, Greeks, Lithuanians, Hungarians, Poles, Portuguese, Romanians, Chinese, and Japanese left the United States than arrived as immigrants. More than just crafting legislation, David Reed, Albert Johnson, the Sixty-Eighth Congress, and President Calvin Coolidge institutionalized America’s virulent nativism to an extent that would prove catastrophic for generations of immigrants.

The three women living in Jeu Gong’s house scurried about at such a frantic pace, it seemed they might be preparing for the German invasion. In reality, it was the first day of school.

The date was September 15, 1924, and Jeu Gong was downstairs in the grocery, seeking shelter from the storm rolling through the apartment above. Berda, true to form, made no attempt to hide her displeasure. She could just as well have been preparing to enter purgatory. Martha, on the other hand, was dressed and ready, eager to meet her new classmates and teachers.

Katherine needed to be sure the girls looked clean and presentable. The impression her daughters made on their first day was crucial. Katherine’s motivations were not those of a matriarch, but of a commander. The girls were unaware that the mother who brushed their hair and straightened their collars was indeed preparing them for battle.

For the past several weeks, Katherine had been hearing rumors about a new policy that would bar Chinese children from attending Rosedale’s school. The district was experiencing an expansion and the school had made numerous changes in faculty, the most significant being the promotion of a new principal, a man named J. H. Nutt.

Even with all the changes, Katherine found it hard to believe that the school board would actually implement a policy strictly designed to exclude her daughters. The only way to test the board would be to send her girls to the front lines. It was a risky move. If Martha and Berda were turned away, Katherine’s family would face a dangerous choice.

She knew all too well the type of violence inflicted on those who tried to change the social order of the Delta. Over the past few years, Katherine had heard accounts of night riders burning homes and businesses all over the county. The increase in violence was a direct response to black laborers’ rising demands for equality, an equality that Katherine, too, sought. She was not ignorant as to the risk. Local planters like W. B. Roberts and Walter Sillers Jr., whom Katherine often saw at church, were involved with the Ku Klux Klan and used the association as a tool for maintaining control and influence over the town.

Along with their lives, the Lums’ livelihood would be at stake. One step too far and Sillers, who mortgaged their store, would cut their credit line. The town’s white officers could demand their immigration papers. They could arrest Jeu Gong and separate him from his family for life.

Still, if Katherine did not send her daughters to school, she would be admitting defeat before the battle had even begun. Jeu Gong needed convincing, but eventually he sided with Katherine that Martha and Berda should attend the first day of classes. Maybe, deep down, Katherine knew the girls would be turned away. For in that moment, they would finally have a reason to take a stand.

As Martha and Berda left for school, their parents offered them a warning: On this day, they would have to remember to stay strong, no matter what happened. Then they sent the girls out onto Bruce Street and into the most important morning of their lives.

Jeu Gong was uneasy. If he had had more time, he might have told his children a story, the story of the Lum name and the lesson behind its Chinese character. If he was sure they would understand, he could have sat them down and shown them how to draw the brush strokes, two strong lines with interlocking branches, the two trees that once bore the weight of a child’s future.

He would have begun the story this way: “Three thousand years in the past . . .”


During the Shang Dynasty, a king named T’ai-ting had a son named Pi-Kan. Pi-Kan was a virtuous child, with a fierce sense of purpose. After leading a good and noble life, Pi-Kan was honored as a member of the royal house and became an advisor to his nephew, the king, Chou-hsin. Chou-hsin was a cruel and tyrannical king. He inflicted tremendous suffering upon his people. When other loyal advisors went to the king and begged him to change his ways, Chou-hsin ordered their executions. Eventually, all of the king’s imperial advisors were dead. Only Pi-Kan remained. Pi-Kan continued to plead with the king to correct his ways, but the king only grew angrier and angrier.

Then Chou-hsin came up with a plan to eliminate Pi-Kan. Under the pretext of curiosity, the king asked Pi-Kan why the hearts of great sages possess seven channels, while the heart of a common man does not. Pi-Kan did not know the answer, so the king requested that Pi-Kan offer him his heart. And so, the evil king pulled the heart from his last detractor. When the news of Pi-Kan’s death reached his pregnant wife, she feared for the safety of their unborn child and fled into the forest to hide inside a cave. When it came time to give birth, Pi-Kan’s wife was alone. She used the last of her strength to walk from the cave into the woods, where she found two adjacent trees. Gripping their limbs for support, she brought Pi-Kan’s son into the world. Cradling him on the silent forest floor, she named her newborn son Lum, or “trees,” after the branches that held her when she was weakest. The child would grow to see the evil king overthrown. A new ruler would take the place of Chou-hsin and invite the child into his court, where he would honor the name Lum as royalty and celebrate the strength of a family whose faith brought justice to the kingdom.



The two girls returned to the grocery at half past twelve. Together, they recounted the conversation that had taken place with Principal Nutt. His tone had been pleasant, cordial, even polite. He cited a decision made by a man in Jackson named Attorney General, who had never met Martha and Berda but saw the girls as a threat.

“As to whether or not Chinese children should be excluded,” the man had decided, “courts have held in an almost unbroken line that the words ‘white person’ were meant to indicate a person of what is popularly known as the Caucasian race.”

Principal Nutt said the arrangement was outside of his control. The school’s board of trustees had come to a consensus on their own. He was sorry. He had to follow orders. He told the children to return home. Chinese students were no longer welcome at Rosedale Consolidated.

The girls were confused. There was no problem with their attendance the year before. What had changed? Over the course of one morning, the sisters moved from one side of the color line to the other. Could they see their classmates again? Would they be welcome in church? If the children could no longer attend the white school, then they could just as easily be excluded from all of white society. The world they once inhabited had disappeared within the length of a conversation.

In a desperate attempt to avoid discrimination against her family, Katherine vowed to do everything in her power to keep the girls enrolled at Rosedale’s white school. “I did not want my children to attend the ‘colored’ schools,” Katherine told a reporter years later. “If they had, the community would have classified us as negroes.” Katherine witnessed on a daily basis the injustices faced by blacks in the Delta. A lifetime inside a grocery had furnished her with decades of stories, revealed in hushed voices, about indignities too painful to imagine. She knew that such a classification would have instantly disenfranchised her family.

For Katherine to send her children to the colored school would be to yield to the trustees, to agree with them that her daughters were not worthy of the privileges afforded to whites. Katherine spoke with her husband. She had heard of a lawyer who’d helped another Chinese child once, but the case was stalled in court. Maybe this man would help Martha and Berda.

Even if Jeu Gong had protested, explaining the risks the family faced if they took legal action, it would not have done any good. Her mind was made up. When Jeu Gong married Katherine, she took the name Lum. Once, there were two trees that held a mother as she gave birth to a child who would one day challenge an empire.

Jeu Gong slid his arms into a pressed shirt with a high collar and fastened the buttons with metronomic precision. He stood beside his wife looking refined, stately, polished. High cheekbones carved a delicate contour across Jeu Gong’s face, meeting his hairline at the ear. His straight black hair had been trimmed short with a razor, some places cropped shorter than others, but the hair above his forehead he let grow and wore it as long as his fingers. When he finished dressing, Jeu Gong ran his hands through his hair, restraining stray strands with pomade.

With the engine idling, Jeu Gong climbed into the passenger side of the car as Katherine took her place in the driver’s seat. Katherine was the motorist in the family; Jeu Gong had never learned to drive. He was content to sit beside his wife as she pressed her palms against the wheel, a cigarette laced between her fingers.

For what must have been hours, the Ford lurched back and forth beside the levee on a trail that ran from Onward to Moon Lake, the old cart path carving a parallel course beside the Mississippi River and the Yazoo and Mississippi Valley Railroad line. As the landscape gently unfolded into fertile flatlands, painted white with harvest, the levee rose beside Katherine, a steady, snaking bulwark against the great surge of river behind it.

The drone of the Clarksdale Gin Company was audible to them long before they glimpsed the pitched metal roof of the cotton gin rising on the southern edge of town. Inside the gin, black laborers churned cotton bolls into soft white fibers that clung to the ginnery rafters like cobwebs. Soon rows of brick storefronts and gravel-lined streets came into view. Katherine and Jeu Gong had arrived in Clarksdale, home to one of the most famous lawyers in the state.

Jeu Gong had no way of knowing what the lawyer would say. In all likelihood, Jeu Gong and his wife would be turned away before they even had the chance to meet him. Jeu Gong was painfully aware of how little money they had and how much it would cost to bring the case. The couple had tried to raise funds from other Chinese families, families whose children had also been barred from the school, but no one wanted to take the risk. There was too much at stake.

The other families tried to convince Katherine to back down, telling her it was better not to burn bridges. She had good standing in the community. She belonged to the Methodist church. Her family ran a business. Why jeopardize everything for a battle they could not win? But for Katherine this was more than just her family’s struggle. It was larger than any one person.

So on a September afternoon, Katherine and Jeu Gong drove to Clarksdale to meet a lawyer and offer him next to nothing to take a case he would likely lose. They had no strategy, but the law offices of Brewer & Brewer seemed like a good enough place to start. Standing beside one another in the fierce heat of a Delta fall, the Lums knocked on the door and quietly waited for an answer.

[image: ]

Governor Earl Brewer standing beside a levee in the Mississippi Delta, circa 1912. Photo by Milton McFarland Painter Sr. Courtesy of the Archives and Records Services Division, Mississippi Department of Archives and History.


PART TWO

WIN OR LOSE IT ALL


CHAPTER V

AUTUMN, 1924

A WAVE OF FRESH cigar smoke crested over a well-dressed Chinese couple as Earl Brewer, Esq., opened the door to his office at 301 Yazoo Avenue. The lawyer greeted his two guests, ushering them through the foyer of an office that looked to be a combination of library and billiard room. Files and documents lay strewn about on tables, and layers of smoke hung in the air.

Brewer was a giant of a man. His hulking figure tapered up to a large head with a wide jaw. He was older than his two visitors and certainly not handsome, but his mannerisms betrayed an intense and youthful disposition. Unaccustomed to entertaining guests, at least not lately, he had let his hair grow long, into a wiry gray mane that fell just above his broad shoulders. His voice, weathered by constant smoking, was deep and gravelly.

Every aspect of Brewer’s appearance showcased the ways in which age will sink into a man. At fifty-five, Brewer had creases across his forehead and ridges under his eyes, eyes that a younger, more successful version of himself used to shade with the broad brim of a Stetson hat.

He could no longer keep pace with the children darting along Clarksdale’s sidewalks, playfully calling him Governor. His fitness was now maintained by conducting morning calisthenics on the lawn. The limited routine consisted of bending over several times, with noticeable effort. His wife had begun to suggest that he reserve his exercising for indoors.

Due to a steady wave of misfortune, Brewer was down to his last few clients and therefore his last few dollars. Ever since the value of Delta farmland had begun to plummet, compensation for Brewer’s legal services typically came in sacks of cowpeas and soybeans. Anyone who needed his help was usually too poor to ask for it, and when they did, the bill was rarely paid. The Chinese couple standing beside Brewer was no different. They had no money, but what they did offer was infinitely more valuable: a case that could rescue his career. Gazing at the young couple, the lawyer was aware he needed these clients far more than they needed him.

If the woman felt out of place inside the smoky haze of Brewer’s office, she did not show it. She was a pleasant and easy conversationalist. Had Brewer been a man to take note of such things, he would have recognized her beauty. She had finely cut features, their clear, elegant lines enhancing her soft brown eyes beneath the smooth ivory of her forehead.

She introduced herself as Kate, but Brewer took to calling her Katie. She explained that the family’s local school district had recently decided to bar her two daughters from Rosedale Consolidated High School. The school officials had justified the children’s exclusion by saying they were simply following a state mandate. The Chinese, the order stated, were not white and therefore not permitted to attend white schools.

The trouble, Katie explained, was that her daughters were already attending Rosedale’s white school when they were kicked out. While Berda, Katie’s eldest child, cared little for studies and was often caught skipping class, Martha, her second daughter, was an avid reader and had every intention of graduating college. Katie and her husband owned a grocery business. They paid taxes. They went to church. Katie’s husband had built the family’s house himself, pouring all they had into its construction. They couldn’t just pack up and move to another town. Rosedale was their home.

Her husband said little, no doubt due in part to his wife’s frenetic pace of speaking. His name was Jeu Gong, but to accommodate Brewer’s American ear, Katie referred to him simply as J.G. He was only a few inches taller than his wife, but he had a broad build and carried himself with a stately stoicism. Behind thick, wire-rimmed spectacles, his face betrayed its age as little as it betrayed anything else.

Brewer continued his conversation with Katie until he knew enough of the facts to be able to build a case. The family didn’t want to sue for damages. Katie was very clear about that. The only reason they came to Brewer was to get the children back in school. A victory for Katie and J.G. would simply be a return to how life had been before the girls were ejected from Rosedale Consolidated on September 15.

This left Brewer with limited options. He would have to confront the entire school board and likely the state board of education as well. There were dozens of people involved in enforcing the new policy, and Brewer would have to go up against every single one of them. Fortunately for Katie and J.G., Brewer was ready for a fight.

Just weeks before, Brewer had conceded defeat in a humiliating Senate race against one of the most established politicians in the state. Envisioning a historic political comeback after decades out of the public sphere, Brewer decided to run against Mississippi’s incumbent senator, Pat Harrison. Following the announcement of his candidacy, Brewer became the laughingstock of the country.

“Nobody in Washington gives Brewer even a look in,” declared the New York Times. “For Harrison, one of the most popular men in Congress, is just as popular in his home State.”

Even the local papers derided him.

“It is very unbecoming of Earl Brewer, alleged candidate for the United States Senate against Pat Harrison, in his tactics of attempting to belittle the brilliant Mississippian,” read an editorial in a Bolivar County newspaper.


We say attempting to belittle him advisedly, for the reason that nobody is paying any attention to Brewer, except to condemn him for his actions, and if he is affecting Harrison at all by his activities he is helping him. As a matter of fact, Brewer ought to withdraw from the race. He hasn’t got a ghost of a chance. But, come to think about it, it is every man’s inalienable right to run [for] office, and we guess Brewer is just simply exercising this right. That’s about all it amounts to anyway.



Even before the final votes were tallied during the third week of August, headlines throughout the nation announced that Brewer had lost in a landslide. He returned to his law practice in Clarksdale the embarrassment of Mississippi.

Brewer needed this case more than he was willing to admit. He told Katie and J.G. that he would represent them in their lawsuit and sent them back out the door with a final burst of cigar smoke. It was time for him to mount another comeback.
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Dusk was thickening as Brewer sped his horse between the rows of cotton along Cassidy Bayou. A luminous haze blanketed the quiet field, cut from the curves of the Tallahatchie River. Beyond the field, the river churned, brown and sluggish. A breeze passing through its dense swamp carried the faint smell of honeysuckle mixed with the musk of sunflowers growing on a flatter shore. At the water’s edge were muddy coves where willow saplings flickered their shadows onto the sand.

Sundown was quitting time. As the end of the day neared, a single field hand would begin a song. Then, hoes beating the earth in unison, the other hands would join in the singing. As dusk settled in red along the procession of cotton, an aching hymn would mount over the still air. Just a few more weary days and then, I’ll fly away. I’ll fly away. I’ll fly away. They were calling out to one another, but deep inside, they were calling to God.

The rhythm of his horse’s hooves kept pace with the pound of harvest. Brewer rode until the wide stretch of cotton became a white blur. This was his land, and he charted its boundary with a fervor he felt only here. The plantation, into which Brewer had poured his life savings, was a badge of pride, a symbol, an idea much greater than the land itself.

Its furrowed fields tugged at a piece of Brewer’s history, a time in his life very few people knew or understood. The soil stirred memories of a young man, barely sixteen, a burlap pick sack strapped to his shoulders, harvesting cotton in the blistering heat of a Delta summer. He was alone and a long way from home, far from that small plot of farmland on a hillside in Carroll County, the place where Brewer was raised.

Brewer was born in the blaze of August in a single-story farmhouse in Midway, Mississippi, in 1869. His father, Ratliff Rodney Brewer, was a captain in the Confederate Army. After the war, tired and defeated, Ratliff returned home to his wife, Lizzie, on an old mule he borrowed from a Union soldier. Their war-ravaged cabin looked nothing like the home he had left just years before. Lizzie comforted Ratliff with the promise that they would rebuild, and the two began to farm again as they prepared for the birth of their first child, Eloise. After Eloise came Earl, their first son, then Claude, Helen, King Ratliff, who died in infancy, John Dodridge, and baby Melinda, better known as Mel.

As the eldest son, Brewer was taught by his father to work the land. Together they raised alfalfa, crimson, and red clover hay. They planted and harvested crops of corn and peas and beans. They raised and slaughtered hogs. Brewer learned to feel the pulse of the seasons. The family survived on what the soil gave them, their vitality and purpose rooted in the earth beneath their bare feet.

In the fall of 1881 Ratliff became ill and died soon after. Brewer was twelve years old. He buried his father in the same land the man had taught him to till. After his father’s death, Brewer assumed the responsibility of the household, raising extra crops to pay off the family’s debt on the property. Brewer’s younger brother Claude was of age to farm, but walked with a crutch and was too weak to perform hard labor. So Brewer farmed the land with his mother, who taught him passages from the Bible as they worked. Brewer would later say it was his mother who proved to be the greatest influence on his life. He would quote her in courtrooms as often as he quoted the law.

By 1884, at the age of fifteen, Brewer had managed to pay off all the debt on the farm. When his older sister, Eloise, married, bringing her new husband to live with the family, Brewer asked his mother’s permission to leave home. The widow told her young son to travel, to broaden his understanding of the world, to see if he could get an education for himself. Unable to bear the pain of saying goodbye to his siblings, especially his brother Claude, Brewer snuck away early one morning before daybreak. He wandered west toward the Delta, eventually reaching a bend in the Mississippi River known as Friar’s Point.

Two years earlier, a violent storm had caused the levee there to burst open, flooding a vast region of Delta farmland. The break was the result of heavy rains that had lasted for more than five months, causing over a hundred similar breaks in levees throughout the Mississippi River valley. Water inundated twenty-two thousand square miles of alluvial plain and displaced a population of over four hundred thousand people.

Destitute, without homes and land to farm, thousands of people across the flooded region made appeals to the federal government for aid. On August 2, 1882, the US Congress gave the Mississippi River Commission its first federal funding. The River and Harbor Act appropriated $4.1 million for improvements of the river’s levee system, of which an estimated $155,000 was allocated to build thirty-four miles of levee between Friar’s Point and Sunflower, Mississippi.

Arriving at Friar’s Point in the summer of 1884, Brewer quickly found work repairing the levee for a small monthly salary.

The brutality of levee work deeply affected the young man. During the late nineteenth century, the majority of the levees in the Lower Mississippi valley were built by means of the convict leasing system. Under that system, black men and women, working in chains, under the crack of a bullwhip, were forced to haul dirt, trees, and stones to form the new embankments.

For months, the fifteen-year-old farmboy moved great mounds of earth alongside prisoners, many of whom were worked to death, their bodies buried in the very levees they built. After that first summer, Brewer asked Thomas Aderholdt, his overseer, if there was other work to be had in the county.

Aderholdt offered Brewer a job picking cotton on his family’s farm in Friar’s Point. Brewer was a fast worker and was soon gathering bolls by the hundreds. If he awoke before dawn and worked until nightfall, he could earn decent enough wages, more than he’d earned on the levee. As Brewer bowed to collect the bolls, knotting his fingers between sharp pods of cotton, he swore to himself that he would one day return to this place a wealthy man, that he would own some of the Delta for himself.

When spring came, Brewer drifted west. He worked at a sawmill in Arkansas and herded cattle on a ranch in Texas. Then, in 1887, his sister’s husband died, and Brewer returned home to once again work the farm with his mother. For five years he cared for his family. Then, at the age of twenty-three, he borrowed $400 from a local storekeeper and enrolled in a two-year law course at the University of Mississippi. He completed the degree in six and a half months.

In 1893 Brewer opened a law practice in Water Valley, Mississippi, with his classmate Julian Wilson. Water Valley served as the local headquarters of the Illinois Central Railroad, a powerful corporation that wielded a monopoly over the state’s transportation system. As Mississippi’s largest cotton freighter, the company’s interests generally coincided with those of most Delta politicians, to the detriment of rail line laborers seeking better working conditions and wages from their employer. By locating their practice in Water Valley, Brewer and Wilson became the primary legal advocates for thousands of Mississippi rail workers and their families.

Realizing the limits of what he could accomplish as a lawyer, Brewer decided to run for the state legislature. He billed himself as a candidate who could not be bought, and charged the political leadership of the Delta with corruption, claiming that it had allowed the Illinois Central to avoid paying taxes by falsifying state records, assessing the company’s value at $11 million when it was really worth $58.5 million. Brewer also took on the railroad, accusing its executives of using physical intimidation and bribery to gain favorable treatment from politicians and the press.

Brewer’s bold campaign proved successful, and in 1895 he was elected to the Mississippi State Senate. During his first year in politics, Brewer married Minnie Marion Block, a high school student from Water Valley. Ten months after the wedding, their first child was born, a daughter named after her mother and grandmother, Minnie Elizabeth. When Minnie was three years old, Brewer was appointed district attorney for Mississippi’s newly created Eleventh District in Coahoma County. He moved his family to Clarksdale and bought a house at 41 John Street, where they would reside for another thirty years.

In 1911 Brewer decided to run for governor. He was unopposed in the Democratic primary, and easily won the governorship in the 1912 election. Newspapers scoffed at the “barefoot ploughboy from Carroll County” who had been raised by a single mother and worked on the levees and in the fields with Negroes. He advocated stronger labor laws and railed against corporate wealth. If ever there was an outsider in Mississippi politics, it was Earl Brewer. Only now, he was the state’s governor.

During his inaugural address, Brewer set his sights on a complete moral reform of the state, to outlaw drinking and gambling, to raise the age of consent, to adopt labor laws that protected women and ensured collective-bargaining rights for industrial workers. But the real reform, the one that was closest to his heart, was not mentioned in his speech. Brewer, haunted by ghosts from his childhood, planned to reform the state penitentiary system. In a silent, radical pact, Brewer vowed to abolish convict leasing.

By the time Brewer took office in January 1912, Mississippi prison inmates had been used to build public works for nearly half a century. Following Emancipation, the Mississippi legislature passed a series of acts known collectively as the Black Codes. The laws, copied in half a dozen other Southern states, listed specific crimes applicable to the “free negro” alone, such as: “mischief,” “insulting gestures,” and intermarriage with whites, which carried the penalty of “confinement in the State penitentiary for life.”

At the heart of the codes was the Vagrancy Act, which guaranteed planters a continued supply of black labor by requiring that “all free negroes and mulattoes over the age of eighteen” carry written proof of employment. Those found to be “vagrants” were fined fifty dollars. If they could not afford the fee, the ex-slaves worked off their fine picking cotton, scrubbing floors, and hauling lumber. The new laws ensured that the region’s Negro population remained in chains, as every offense against a white citizen became an offense against the state.

“In slavery times,” one freedman recalled, “jails was all built for the white folks. There warn’t never nobody of my color put in none of them. . . . They had to work; when they done wrong they was whipped and let go.” Following Emancipation, the pattern was reversed. Free from the bonds of slavery, thousands of men and women across the South entered the criminal justice system.

Mississippi’s first Negro convicts were put to work building track, but as the railroad boom trailed off in the mid-1880s, most convicts were transferred to the emerging Yazoo Delta to clear land and build levees and infrastructure for future cotton plantations.

It was this state-sponsored resurrection of slavery that the fifteen-year-old Brewer encountered at Friar’s Point as a levee worker in the spring of 1884. And it was the atrocities of the convict leasing system he witnessed firsthand that stayed with him. Men who tried to escape were “whipped ’till the blood ran down their legs” and returned to the chain gang with metal spurs riveted to their feet to keep them from running. Laborers collapsed from sunstroke, dysentery, and gunshot wounds. They died from exhaustion, from malaria, from consumption. They died from the very chains that bound them, from shackle poisoning caused by the constant rubbing of leg irons against bare flesh.

“It is not the shame or the hard labor to which we object,” wrote a levee worker from Okolona, Mississippi, in 1884. “It is the slow torturous death inflicted by the demonic-like contractor who takes us to the Yazoo Delta to ‘wear our lives away.’ It is fearful, it is dreadful, it is damnable.”

In 1904, shortly after Brewer was appointed Clarksdale’s district attorney, a Democrat named James Kimble Vardaman was elected governor. Just prior to Vardaman’s election, the state legislature had purchased more than twenty thousand acres of Delta farmland in Brewer’s neighboring Sunflower County. Once in office, Vardaman oversaw the construction of a prison on the site. The convicts would be worked almost exclusively for the production of cotton. He created the post of penitentiary superintendent to manage the expansive penal farm. The superintendent lived in a Victorian mansion beside the cotton fields and was referred to by convicts as “master.”

Vardaman’s farm, which he named Parchman, was soon generating more revenue than any other state institution. But no government regulation accompanied the rapid increase in the production of state cotton. When Brewer came into office in 1912, thousands of bales of cotton were being sold to foreign markets, as trustees of the state penal board pocketed the profits. Brewer’s first move as governor was to conduct a thorough investigation of Parchman and the state’s penitentiary system.

Once rumors began to spread about the investigation, the president of the prison board, C. C. Smith, threatened Brewer. He warned the governor that if he did not drop the case, the Democratic Party would crush him. When Brewer pushed forward with the investigation, Smith made good on his word. The legislature held an emergency meeting and refused to allocate funds for the investigative committee. Unmoved, Brewer continued to finance the investigation through his own private accounts.

In August 1912 he traveled to Europe and spent a month tracking the sale of state cotton to firms across the Atlantic. When he returned, Brewer had gathered enough evidence to charge C. C. Smith with embezzlement. As the case went to trial that fall, Brewer received a series of death threats. One was particularly jarring. It warned Brewer to keep an eye on his third and youngest daughter, Claudia, who was attending elementary school in Jackson. Claudia was assigned a bodyguard, a convict named Henry Trott, who worked in the mansion. “For over a year, a trusty negro convict accompanied me,” Claudia recalled, “everywhere I went.”

In times of great struggle, Brewer turned to his faith for guidance. He knelt by his bedside each morning and called to his daughters. Together, they prayed. “Ere we leave our room this morning, we shall think to pray and sue for loving favor as our shield today.”

Smith’s eventual conviction was hardly a victory for Brewer. He was fighting for a greater cause, for divine justice. Such an aim would require personal suffering, the suffering of the righteous for their faith. He was waging a battle that would test his very creed. “I beg to thank you for your very interesting letter,” Brewer wrote a friend in Coldwater, Mississippi. “And note what you say as how many matters have come to vex me lately. Since you mention Job and how near he came to giving up the fight, you will remember that in the end he was greatly prospered. I am in the penitentiary fight to stay until it is over and my only desire is see every guilty man punished and all innocent men exonerated.”

Brewer questioned the legality of the prison-labor system. He wrote to the state’s attorney general on April 3, 1913, to ask “whether the Board of Trustees of the penitentiary can work the State convicts on the levees of the Mississippi River.” He wanted it to be unlawful, to be condemned, to be stopped. He wanted the penitentiary board to pay for sins they had committed in the name of progress, in the name of the state. Instead, Brewer received a response as heartless as the acts he had witnessed on the levee.

“The board of trustees have full power to place convicts on the levees,” wrote the attorney general, Ross A. Collins, “provided they do not keep them there for such a length of time as would prevent the proper cultivation and growing of a crop, and under the condition that they shall be under State management. It is my opinion that the board of trustees has the power to send as many convicts as the necessity requires, subject to the conditions above.”

By the summer of 1913, Brewer, with the help of the William J. Burns Detective Agency of New Orleans, was able to prosecute eight prison officials on charges of thievery, graft, and embezzlement. Despite the convictions, Brewer’s fight was far from over. He came into the investigation with one singular goal and he would not stop until it was accomplished. He was determined to end the cruel abuse of convicts in Mississippi.

“It is freely predicted that the scandal has far from reached a climax,” read an article announcing the convictions. “Governor Brewer has headed the investigation and brought charges before grand juries. . . . He now is investigating stories of serious conditions at the State prison farms.”

Since beginning the investigation, Brewer had spent most of his time questioning cotton buyers. He visited foreign firms and tracked cotton bales from Memphis to London. He spoke regularly with wealthy planters and statesmen, but rarely did Brewer interact with the prisoners themselves.

On February 12, 1914, Brewer left his office inside the Capitol to spend the day interviewing prisoners at Parchman farm. He was joined by Dan Lehon, the southern district manager of the Burns Detective Agency and several of his associates. On that cold morning in February, Brewer understood that the board’s greatest crime was not theft, but brutality.

The Parchman interviews lasted late into the day. Investigators spoke with commissary clerks, reverends, doctors, and prison workers. They learned how the farm functioned, how rules were enforced, how secrets were kept. “He held a gun in one hand and strapped me with the other,” one inmate told the detectives. “I says, what made you whip me? . . . And he says, well, you talked to that god damned committee.”

At 3:25 in the afternoon, Brewer met an aging inmate named J. G. Bennett. Bennett began the interview by making small talk with one of the investigators named Detective Johnson. Then Johnson asked about the routines on the farm, the seasons, the crops, and Bennett’s tone changed, as if a stone had settled inside him.

“The day before Thanksgiving would be picking day,” Bennett began. “And [the cotton] would be weighed on Thanksgiving morning.”

Johnson asked Bennett to tell him about the man doing the weighing, a farm manager appointed by the board named Mr. Stubblefield.

“He whipped nine men for not picking 150 pounds,” Bennett responded, describing Stubblefield. “He whipped everybody . . .”

“What time of year was that?” Johnson asked.

“That was Thanksgiving Day.”

Brewer needed to uncover evidence that would point to the theft of state cotton, so the detectives interviewed one of the farm’s bookkeepers. The sergeant, who had been keeping a partial record of the board’s affairs, testified that he did in fact have evidence, but all of his books were kept at his house outside the farm. The detectives requested he return with the records on a future date. The sergeant agreed. That night, at his home, he lit a fire. Then he systematically tore the leaves from every file and cast them into the flames. When all of the records were burned, the bookkeeper committed suicide.

As Brewer closed out his term as governor, he was left with the burden of his failure. Every man he convicted was eventually pardoned. The penitentiary system was no more regulated than when he first took office. Brewer had always lived his life according to the belief that true righteousness rested in the rule of law. He read the Bible and the legal code in tandem, as though one could not exist without the other. “Zion will be redeemed with justice,” God told the people of Jerusalem.

Brewer wanted justice, but there was no judgment a jury could render that would fix a system so wholly broken. Once so full of hope, Brewer left office a defeated man.

During one of his last exchanges as governor, Brewer corresponded with a Jewish immigrant from Russia named Phillip Seigel. Seigel had been arrested on vagrancy charges in Vicksburg and put to work on a nearby farm. While in the custody of the state, Seigel was severely beaten. After his release, he contacted the governor, detailing his abuse.

“It is against the law for the superintendent of the county convicts to brutally whip or mistreat prisoners in his care,” Brewer wrote in response. “It is a matter for investigation by the grand jury and he could be convicted for brutality.”

Rather than show gratitude, Seigel’s reply was an indictment against all Brewer held dear. He questioned the very bedrock upon which Brewer had built his life.

“Your honor,” wrote Seigel. “How could I explain my self to the grand jury about them mistreating me or make it known to any of the grand jury when I come out of the county farm I did not have money to go home?”

How can the rule of law govern society, Seigel asked, when the justice system itself has been corrupted? How can you ask a man to stand before the very jury that placed him in chains and beg for sympathy? What do they know about this suffering?

“If the grand jury should happen to call for me, would I be protected by the law from being hurt or arrested again?” he asked.

Seigel told Brewer he would not testify before a grand jury. He would not place his faith in the courts. There was no ruling that would restore what had been taken from him. The American dream had been beaten from his flesh and no lawyer, no judge, no jury could bring it back.

“How could a man stand gettin whipped and not to wriggle and beg for mercy?” Seigel concluded. “The more he begs the harder he parts the 4 in. leather on the body. I know it with the experience which he made the blood come of my body. . . . I thought to myself if you call that justice or law of the civil country of liberty, a man better go to Europe. They don’t beat up a prisoner like they did me.”

An immigrant came to America and was placed in chains. He wanted his governor to know that this America, the one he witnessed on the county farm, was not worth all he had sacrificed to reach these shores. A decade later, Brewer had not forgotten Phillip Seigel. His unfinished wars, waged inside a marble citadel, followed him back to an old law office in Clarksdale. By taking this case, the case of the Chinese girl, Brewer would fight for the tacit promise made to every immigrant arriving at the nation’s gates, that they would find democracy on the other side.

As Brewer’s horse slowed, its coat stained with rich soil, the aging man looked upon his land. The Delta had taken everything from him. Brewer was one of many cotton planters caught in the extreme deflation of 1920. During World War I, both the price and production of cotton increased, adding extra value to the worth of Delta farmland. Then, at the close of the war, both the value of the land and the price of cotton began to decrease in conjunction with one another.

The effects were devastating for planters and sharecroppers alike. Brewer had wagered everything he owned, and then some, in investments in the Delta’s cotton fields. When the crash hit, Brewer was forced to borrow $375,000 from the Canal Bank and Trust Company of New Orleans to pay off his other debts. When Brewer’s loan payments began to dwindle, the bank sought to relinquish his collateral, which consisted of the deed to Brewer’s land and his only stable income.

The collapse of Brewer’s estate provided the editors of the Clarksdale Register with endless amusement, which they masked in an air of sympathy. “The Register learns with regret that Hon. Earl Brewer has been forced into financial embarrassments,” read one article from late February 1924. “The slump came in 1921 and tied up everything he owned, including his home. . . . The bad conditions have overwhelmed him, and as a result of it his creditors on these endorsements have taken judgments against him. . . . We hope that the clouds will yet clear away and that this man will not be crushed by the noble efforts he has made.” The article was recirculated in several other papers throughout the county. Brewer came to read it in a newspaper edited by his own daughter, his eldest, Minnie Elizabeth. Even the bonds of family were broken in the crash.

Turning his back to the fields, Brewer followed the road that led home to Clarksdale. The air was cooler now, brought up from the draws and low places by the night. Occasionally the dancing lights of a motorcar would plunge past and the thin white path of the road would swell with dust. Then it would settle again and Brewer could see where the familiar low country unfolded gently, receding from the riverbanks as if it had been smoothed out by the tide. Beside the road, the warm shadows of poplars pointed the tired man home.

Brewer entered his mansion at 41 John Street with an air of resignation. Nothing had changed since the morning. Hardly anything changed anymore. After the children left, Brewer and his wife sank into the routine monotony of the life they once dreamed for themselves. Brewer stood gazing at the Persian rugs, the chandelier, and the Spanish tapestry chairs—all the same. The table lamps, flaunting their Victorian fringe, still rested on burnished brass bases. The gilded grandfather clock stood in its corner as usual.

At the end of the hall, opposite the front door, a wide master staircase spread into the edges of the room. Mrs. Brewer and her three daughters used to make entrances there, blooming forth in elegant evening gowns before crowds of dignitaries and celebrities. Now only the weight of Brewer’s footsteps echoed through the house.

On the right side of the reception hall was the dining room, where the colored servants were readying the table for dinner. The banquet area was as large and empty as any other room in the house. Polished wooden chairs lined the walls, relics from a time when guests would arrive in droves.

A wide chiffonier sat plumb against the wall opposite the doorway. Its engraved drawers rang with the soft clatter of silver. Hanging over the table, the stained glass of a mosaic lamp cast a dull glow over the room. At the dinner table, Brewer and his wife brought their hands together in prayer. Bowing his head, Brewer recited the words his mother had spoken each night at the small table she shared with her six children: “Our Heavenly Father, we thank thee most kindly for this and every blessing in life. We ask it in Jesus’ name. Amen.”
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After decades, Brewer still didn’t tire of going to his office. Anyone unfamiliar with the bedraggled lawyer would assume that he was drowning in cases, for there was no other explanation for why a man his age would continue to keep such hours. The reality was that, until recently, Brewer barely had any kind of caseload at all. Still, he enjoyed his routine and kept it despite the dearth of casework. Each morning, he strolled into town, passing the picture theater, the boarding house, the filling stations and dress shops. As Clarksdale came alive, Brewer entered the small corner office he had maintained for nearly twenty years.

The office was located at the intersection of Yazoo and Third Street, directly across from the New Alcazar Hotel. The hotel, named after the Spanish word for “fortress,” was an elegant, four-story structure, built during the fleeting period of prosperity when escalating crop yields and wartime cotton prices created a new class of royalty in the Mississippi Delta.

The hotel’s marble-clad lobby was lit by a giant skylight that towered over a second-floor mezzanine, which contained a restaurant, a kitchen, and a ballroom. Now, years after the cotton market had collapsed, the hotel served as an extravagant mausoleum for all the grandeur the town once promised itself. Brewer’s office, inside the aging brick walls of a bank, faced the facade of Grecian friezes that lined the Alcazar. His fortune had been built and lost in the shadow of a castle.

Stationed at his desk, Brewer turned to the case of the Chinese girl. He paused to light a cigar, which soon became another cigar followed by another. The smoking helped Brewer think. He wasn’t going to be able to file a civil suit. The couple was not seeking damages. This left Brewer little room to make a deal with the few local judges who still regarded him favorably. Brewer’s recent failed race for the Senate had significantly lowered his social standing. Now was not the ideal time to be asking favors. Maybe it was better this way. All or nothing.

Brewer’s first order of business was to figure out exactly who the defendants would be. Any person responsible for keeping the child out of school qualified as a defendant, meaning Brewer would have to go all the way up to the state level. It so happened that the state superintendent of education had a long and bitter history with the onetime governor.

Willard Faroe Bond had been appointed by Brewer’s greatest rival, Theodore Bilbo. Tapping Bond for superintendent of education was one of Bilbo’s first actions as governor of Mississippi, after he was elected in a landslide victory in 1916. Two terms later, Bond still held the post, despite the fact that Bilbo was no longer in office.

Before Bilbo became governor, the short, paunchy man with round glasses and an even rounder face had served as Mississippi’s lieutenant governor under a relatively unknown Progressive named Earl Brewer. From the very beginning of Brewer’s administration, Bilbo worked to build allies in the legislature, eventually turning the entire legislative apparatus against its executive.

By the end of Brewer’s governorship, the two men did not speak to one another. It was understood by every Mississippi politician that to align oneself with Bilbo was to markedly side against Brewer. Bond was deeply aligned with Bilbo.

Bond was born the only child of a poor housekeeper in Stone County, Mississippi, during the winter of 1876. In 1881 his mother, Nancy, died suddenly, leaving her son orphaned at the age of five. Since the boy had no other living relatives, he was left in the care of his mother’s employer, a farmer and stockman named Loamie A. Batson. Batson readily accepted the child as his son, but more bad luck befell the boy when his guardian died in 1882, just months after the death of Bond’s mother.

In his will, Batson stipulated that his adoptive son would receive $500 for his future education and would be placed under the care of Batson’s younger brother, Lewis Cass. With the generous funds left to him by Batson, Bond attended various rural schoolhouses and eventually graduated from Purvis High School in 1897.

In the fall of 1898 Bond entered Peabody College for Teachers in Nashville, Tennessee. He boarded with a gregarious twenty-one-year-old named Theodore Bilbo. Bilbo was also studying at Peabody, but was on track to become a Baptist preacher. After Bond received his bachelor’s degree in 1902, he was hired as the superintendent of a boarding school in his hometown of Wiggins, Mississippi.

One year into the job, Bond received a strange request from his old classmate. Theodore Bilbo had struggled in his courses at Peabody and eventually left Nashville to return to his home county and go into politics. By 1903 Bilbo had been defeated in his campaign for circuit clerk and was ready to try his hand at teaching, an occupation in which he had no experience. In the manner of an old friend requesting a favor, Bilbo asked Bond for a job at Wiggins.

Out of loyalty, Bond offered Bilbo and his wife, Linda Gaddy, positions teaching at the school for a salary of $55 per month. Despite the benefits of his new employment, Bilbo did not last long at Wiggins. He was dismissed during his second year on charges of seducing an orphan girl in the dormitory. Upon his dismissal, Bilbo worked at the local drugstore for several months before entering Vanderbilt Law School in 1905.

Bond, on the other hand, remained at Wiggins for close to a decade, until he was hired to teach history and Latin at the newly established Mississippi Normal College in Hattiesburg in 1912. Four years into his tenure at Hattiesburg, Bond heard again from his old friend Bilbo, who had recently been elected governor.

Bilbo was facing allegations of immorality, as the seduction charges from his short career as a teacher had resurfaced during the campaign. Bilbo offered Bond the position of state superintendent of education, and Bond quickly accepted his offer, in turn proclaiming Bilbo innocent of all charges. A lifetime of trading favors had landed both men in two of the highest positions of power in the state.

Brewer was not a man to hold grudges, but he did have a long memory. Bond was as close a friend as Brewer’s enemy ever had. He decided the best course of action for the suit was the one that would hit Bond the hardest. Brewer would file a writ of mandamus. The writ was essentially an order demanding the local court prosecute an individual, or in this case individuals, for violating the constitutional rights of another citizen. If successful, Mississippi’s school board would be forced, under court order, to permit Martha Lum into Rosedale Consolidated High.

Of course, the case ran the risk of being thrown out immediately. If the defendants could argue that there were no constitutional grounds for Brewer’s suit, his case would never even go to trial. It was a risky move, but a dramatic one.

Once a writ is filed, the court must summon every named defendant, sending an officer of the law to their doorstep. The day after Brewer filed the suit, police would visit the homes of politicians all over the state. Bond would answer his door at the capital one bright autumn morning to find the Hinds County sheriff serving him a summons to face trial for violating the United States Constitution.

As for which part of the Constitution the men would be charged with violating, Brewer chose to build his argument around one amendment, the Fourteenth. This was the first time Brewer employed the Fourteenth Amendment so strongly in a suit, and his interpretation of its statutes was a stroke of brilliance. With the Fourteenth Amendment as his brick and mortar, Brewer would build his case.

Drafted by the Joint Committee on Reconstruction following the Civil War, the Fourteenth Amendment was created with the lofty promise of granting the rights of citizenship to every person born in the United States. Its goal was to ensure that the nation’s four million recently liberated slaves would be afforded the same rights as their fellow United States citizens.

The notion of turning a massive population of slaves into equal members of American society was as radical a concept as the creation of the Constitution itself. But the Congress that shepherded the passage of the Fourteenth Amendment was the same Congress that saw the nation shattered by civil war. For those men to guarantee the rights of citizenship to freed slaves was to make sense of a devastated nation and to bring justice to one of the largest injustices the country had ever known.

At the opening of the Thirty-Ninth Congress on December 4, 1865, Congressman Thaddeus Stevens, a prominent Radical Republican from Pennsylvania, introduced a resolution to establish a joint congressional committee on Reconstruction. The committee would be tasked with outlining the means by which the nation would restore unity and guarantee the protection of freed slaves. Along with proposing the new committee, Stevens also proposed a constitutional amendment declaring that “all national and state laws shall be equally applicable to every citizen, and no discrimination shall be made on account of race and color.”

Congressman John Bingham of Ohio was in favor of the measure, and within twenty-four hours wrote and introduced a more comprehensive amendment based on Stevens’s suggestion. On December 13, 1865, Stevens’s proposal for a joint congressional committee on Reconstruction was approved, and fifteen men from both the House and the Senate, including Stevens and Bingham, got to work drafting versions of a constitutional amendment that would guarantee the rights of citizenship to freed slaves.

In the end it was Bingham’s final proposal, submitted to the committee on February 3, that laid the foundation for what later became the first section of the Fourteenth Amendment. The language, which was approved by the committee a week after it was introduced, read, “The Congress shall have power to make all laws which shall be necessary and proper to secure to citizens of each State all privileges and immunities of citizens in the several States; and to all persons in the several States equal protection in the rights of life, liberty and property.”

On May 10 the House passed the Fourteenth Amendment by slightly more than the required two-thirds majority in a vote of 128 to 37, sparking applause in the House galleries as well as on the floor. Then the amendment opened for debate in the Senate, where Senator Jacob Howard of Michigan began the discussion by suggesting that the Fourteenth Amendment pass, but with an added citizenship clause reading, “All persons born or naturalized in the United States and subject to the jurisdiction thereof, are citizens of the United States and of the States wherein they reside.” Scarcely had Howard finished introducing the amendment when a senator from Pennsylvania with a penchant for controversy took the floor.

Edgar A. Cowan of Westmoreland County, Pennsylvania, was selected as an elector for his state in the volatile presidential election of 1860. As the nation erupted into civil war following Lincoln’s election in November 1860, Cowan’s stubbornness and unwillingness to negotiate made him extremely unpopular both in his home state and in Washington.

According to one of Cowan’s biographers, “few men in our Congress at any time have so completely lost the confidence and support of those who elected them.” An article published in the Pittsburgh Gazette in the spring of 1862 read, “Among the members of the large convention of Republicans which met in this city on Monday, there was not a man that had a word to say in defense of Edgar A. Cowan in the Senate of the United States. There was a universal feeling of execration against the ingrate who had so basely deceived his political friends who had elevated him to a seat so much beyond his capacity.”

Despite widespread unpopularity, in 1864 Cowan was elected to the Thirty-Ninth Congress, and on the afternoon of May 30, 1866, took the Senate floor in an attempt to break apart the proposed Fourteenth Amendment and Howard’s notion of citizenship.

“The honorable senator from Michigan has given this subject, I have no doubt, a good deal of his attention,” he began. “And I am really desirous to have a legal definition of ‘citizenship of the United States.’ What does it mean? What is its length and breadth? . . . Is the child of the Chinese immigrant in California a citizen? . . . If so, what rights have they?

“Now, I should like to know,” Cowan continued. “Because I have been puzzled for a long while and have been unable to determine exactly, either from conversation with those who ought to know, who have given this subject their attention, or from the decisions of the Supreme Court, the lines and boundaries which circumscribe that phrase, ‘citizen of the United States.’”

Cowan’s quandary was not addressed, and the next day the Senate approved the amendment by a vote of 32 to 10. Two years later, on July 9, 1868, an amendment to the United States Constitution was ratified that read as follows:


All persons born or naturalized in the United States, and subject to the jurisdiction thereof, are citizens of the United States and the States wherein they reside. No State shall make or enforce any law which shall abridge the privileges or immunities of citizens of the United States, nor shall any state deprive any person of life, liberty or property without due process of law, nor deny any person within its jurisdiction the equal protection of the laws.



Had Senator Cowan been more popular, his issue with the amendment’s vague definition of citizenship may have resulted in an entirely different Fourteenth Amendment, one that outlined the status of immigrants and their respective constitutional rights. Instead, Cowan was silenced and the amendment passed, leaving his question to be answered more than a half century later by a man named Earl Brewer, as he fought for one of the most disenfranchised of citizens, the nine-year-old daughter of Chinese immigrants.

[image: ]

Earl Brewer poured himself a glass of milk. A curl of smoke issued from the stub of a cigar in an ashtray on the desk in front of him. Brewer rarely wrote down early drafts of his arguments or speeches, preferring instead to sort out the words by talking to himself. His voice was low and gruff and hardly carried above a whisper. He told his colleagues it was because he wanted to save all his bellowing for the courtroom. In reality, a doctor in Memphis told Brewer his throat was as tanned as leather. The smoking had taken its toll.

Sometimes when Brewer struggled with stringing words together, he left the confines of his office and made his way down Second Street, crossing the bridge over the Sunflower River, and headed north along Oakhurst Avenue toward the Oakridge Cemetery. It was there, pacing back and forth between the rows of headstones, that Brewer could gather his thoughts.

The case, he decided, should begin with Martha. The entire suit depended on the character of the child. She was an exemplary student and of pure Chinese descent, no mixed blood. Brewer had to make her seem just like any other white child in the state. He had to humanize her.


Martha Lum is of good moral character and is a good, clean, moral girl between the ages of five and twenty-one years and a native born citizen of the United States and the State of Mississippi, and that as such citizen and educable child it becomes her father’s duty under the law to send her to school. And that she is an educable child of the said district and desires to attend the Rosedale Consolidated High School.



Brewer’s long stride slowed when he was deep in thought. The residents along Oakhurst Avenue had grown accustomed to seeing the large man treading through the town’s burial grounds, muttering in a half-audible drone. One by one, he passed the grave markers, the procession of lives once lived in Clarksdale: To the memory of my husband, Rev R. P. Mitchell, whose body now sleeps in the cemetery . . . Here lies Frank N. Alford. Corp. in U.S. Army . . . Our baby, Bertha A. Prichard, blessed are the pure in heart . . . Finally, Brewer came to the wide block letters etched into marble on a headstone on the north side of the cemetery, a life he knew better than all the rest.

MOTHER. MARY ELIZABETH BREWER. BORN SEPT. 27, 1841. DIED JAN. 14, 1920.

A lifetime had passed since Brewer had toiled in the fields beside his mother, but he had always stayed fast to his principles as the world changed around him. His country now dreamed of the fast life, propelled by celebrity, riches, and cosmopolitan ideals. His three little girls were now rouged young women, who bobbed their hair, drank, and danced to jazz music. He still advocated for progressive reform, but his policies were now branded Bolshevism, as newspapers and politicians traded on Americans’ fears that the communist revolution in Russia would spread to the United States. He watched as his old colleagues fanned the flames of postwar nationalism, promoting the rise of nativism and violent hostility toward immigrants, blacks, Catholics, and Jews. All across the country, the ranks of a reawakened Ku Klux Klan surged to five million strong, capitalizing on national anxieties about threats to true Americanism.

In the fall of 1924, at the very moment Brewer decided to represent the Lum family, the KKK was at the height of its power, a potent force in both local and national politics. The year had been a triumphant one for the Klan, culminating in the recent passage of the Johnson-Reed Act. Its restrictive immigration quotas had codified the very nativism they espoused. With the rise of such extremism, there was no use for Brewer to retain any of his old political ties. Earl Brewer the politician was dead, but Earl Brewer the crusader was just coming to life.


She is advised that notification had been issued by Mr. W. F. Bond, State Superintendent of Education of the State of Mississippi, to the superintendent, Mr. J. H. Nutt, and to the Board of Trustees, whose names are above set forth, to deny her this right solely and exclusively on the ground that she is of Chinese descent, and she is therefore discriminated against directly and denied the valuable right and privilege which she is entitled to, as a citizen of the State of Mississippi, on account of her race.



This case, unlike Brewer’s previous cases, would have to hinge almost exclusively on the Fourteenth Amendment. While the original intention of the amendment was to guarantee freed slaves the “privileges and immunities” of citizenship and “equal protection of the law,” Brewer expanded its definition to include children of immigrants. Taking the argument a step further, he established that Martha’s right to attend school was also guaranteed by Mississippi’s constitution.

According to the state’s compulsory-education law, it was illegal for a child between the ages of five and eighteen to be kept from school. When Martha was barred from Rosedale High, Brewer contended that she was in fact denied her constitutional right as an American and a Mississippian.


Said consolidated high school, is denying her, a native born resident citizen of the United States and the State of Mississippi, the privileges and immunities of her citizenship. . . . On account of her race or descent she is being denied the equal protection of the law, and contrary to the provisions of the constitution of the United States. . . . Your petitioners are entitled to have a writ of mandamus issued from this Court commanding the defendants and each of them to admit the said Martha Lum into the said school as a pupil and to desist from discriminating against her on account of her race or ancestry, and to accord to her the same rights and privileges accorded to other educable children.



Whether Brewer was ready or not, he would have to file the case quickly. September was drawing to a close and the court went into recess in October. Under pressure to file a case that Brewer so desperately needed to win, he was not going to be able to craft the perfect argument nor shape his sentences into perfect prose. Whatever draft Brewer had by Sunday evening was going to have to be good enough to bring to court on Monday. Where there wasn’t perfection, there was prayer.

Now that the scaffolding had been removed from the Bolivar County courthouse, Brewer could see where five giant slabs of limestone formed gleaming steps that sprawled nearly the entire front facade of the building. Recently renovated in polished granite and sandstone, Rosedale’s courthouse was untouched by the grit of the town that was designed around it. At right angles to the limestone stairs were twin cement blocks. Each served as the base for a shining white column, which supported an ornate cornice that circled the roof.

Carrying five recently typed pages, Brewer entered through two large wooden doors and turned right. The fresh scent of pine stain drifted from pores in the timber and followed Brewer into a wide hallway that encircled a central courtroom. Brewer had argued cases in the old courthouse many times, but the fresh paint and sparkling floors of the new building appeared foreign to him. His heavy footsteps made a muffled echo against the tall wooden walls of the corridor.

Brewer walked down the hall to the second door on the right, the county clerk’s office. Charles Jacobs, the county clerk, was a deeply religious man. He and his wife were founding members of the Bolivar County Calvary Episcopal Church, which had no actual church building, so they held services in a different public space every Sunday. Jacobs took the pages from the lawyer’s hands. Peering over stacks of red-bound docket books scattered around the office, Brewer watched his words become legal record to the clatter of Jacobs’s typewriter.

The clerk collected the papers in a folder and passed it to Brewer for his signature. Jacobs then took the file from Brewer and added his own seal. Brewer paid the clerk five dollars as an advance to the county sheriff, who would require payment for delivering summonses to school board members L. C. Brown, G. P. Rice, and Henry McGowen. With Brewer’s deposit, Jacobs filed the petition and Brewer exited down the hallway and out the large wooden doors. Now all he could do was wait.

When Brewer’s daughters were young, he used to tell them stories. Not one for fairy tales, he would regale the three girls with stories from his youth on the farm, and from the early days of his law practice in Water Valley, and the old jokes he used to share with his brother Claude. Every now and then, when the mood was right, Brewer would tell the story of his hero, a Scottish general from the great Wars of the Three Kingdoms, a man named James Graham, the Marquess of Montrose.

During the middle of the seventeenth century, a youthful James Graham was named lieutenant-governor of Scotland and captain-general of its military. His first mission was to build up the Scottish army, so he set out to gather men and supplies for the war against England. James Graham traveled far and wide, taking long trips across Europe to Denmark, Sweden, and Poland. But in the end his travels proved fruitless. The young general found two supporters, the King of Denmark and Queen Christina of Sweden, who offered him little more than encouragement.

Upon his return to Scotland, James Graham knew he did not have nearly enough men or supplies to sustain an army. Still, in April of 1650, against all reason, he mounted a battle against the British. Preparing his ranks for war, he ordered the words Nil Medium inscribed on his army’s banners: “There is no middle way.” As Graham’s men marched onto the battlefield, their entire force was cut to pieces. General Graham was quickly captured by British forces, taken to Edinburgh, and condemned to death.

On May 21, 1650, James Graham, the Marquess of Montrose, took his last breaths in front of the rickety wooden gallows erected on High Street, on the east side of the Market Cross. As the executioner strapped the noose around the condemned man’s head, he paused to string the general’s biography across his chest. A minute later, Graham was hanged, his own life story dangling from his broken neck. The general’s body was dragged from the gallows and torn to pieces by the crowd.

It was said that before entering that fateful April battle, James Graham wrote a poem to a distant lover. Centuries later, as if speaking for his own Scottish ancestors, Brewer recounted its lines: “He either fears his fate too much or his portion is but small, who dares to put it to the touch and win or lose it all.”


CHAPTER VI

AUTUMN, 1924

EARL BREWER THUMBED THROUGH the stack of Saturday papers scattered across his dining room table. On weekends, after pulling himself from bed, Brewer spent his mornings riffling through the various editions of Delta newspapers. When his daughters were at home, they used to request he read the articles aloud. Now Brewer simply sat by himself, remarking on the assortment of local controversies to no one in particular.

About halfway through the Bolivar County Democrat, a blunt headline glared back from the page: CHINESE BARRED FROM ROSEDALE SCHOOLS. It had been less than a week since Brewer delivered the writ of mandamus to the Bolivar courthouse, and already the county was up in arms. News traveled quickly for such a slow-going town.

“A test case will be tried so as to settle the status of the Chinese as to school rights,” the article read.


It is also stated, and we believe it true, that Ex-Governor Earl Brewer will espouse the cause of the Chinese in the controversy. This [is] fit and proper. A man who could not carry a single precinct in the State in his alleged race for Senator is surely the right man to try to force the white children of Mississippi to share their schools with the Chinese. And he will come as near to winning his case in court as he did being nominated for Senator at the primary election in August.



Fit and proper. A man who could not carry a single precinct in the State . . . The editor had nerve. To his credit, he was right. Brewer was precisely the “fit and proper” lawyer to take such a controversial case. The very fact that he lost the Senate race was motivation enough to bring such a fight against the county. If the Democrat thought that Brewer was going to recede into the shadows and wallow in his own defeat, they had the wrong man. Already a pariah, Brewer had not a shred of dignity left to destroy. He feared nothing because he had nothing—and in this way he was stronger than he had ever been.

On Monday, October 13, 1924, the rival Clarksdale Register published a response to the Democrat. Written by a young law student from Rosedale named Greek Rice Jr. and his classmate, I. J. Brocato, the editorial denounced the paper for its “malicious attack” on Brewer.

“You, as well as any other, and every citizen of the United States,” they wrote, “have sworn, in every particular to uphold and sustain the constitution. This you have entirely and wholly failed to do, when you attempt to deprive and deny the Chinese, or any race or people under God’s sun, the inherent right of equal and competent representation in any tribunal in the land.”

They wrote that although they were also of the mind-set that Chinese should not attend white schools, every man had the right to a lawyer. If Brewer was going to be so bold as to file the suit, it was his professional prerogative.

There was an irony to the fact that Greek Rice Jr. was the man to defend Brewer from such an “unethical and unprincipled attack.” Two days after Greek’s article was published, the Bolivar County sheriff delivered summonses to his father, Greek Rice Sr., as well as L. C. Brown and Henry McGowen. They were charged with violating the constitutional rights of nine-year-old Martha Lum and ordered to appear at Rosedale’s courthouse on November 5 for trial.

Setting the date for November was strategic. The judiciary would be in recess and would stay so until the end of the year. The Bolivar County judge was under no obligation to rule on the case until the court resumed session. Without a judge, the school board could delay the trial indefinitely. But on October 28, the Bolivar County court issued a notice that Judge William A. Alcorn of Coahoma County had agreed to take the case, despite the fact that court was not in session.

“The said cause shall be tried in vacation as in term time,” read an announcement issued by Rosedale’s first district court. “Judgments shall be entered therein in vacation as could be entered in term time.”

While there is no record of any private conversation between Earl Brewer and the judge from his home district, it is likely Brewer had something to do with the fact that Alcorn decided to hear the case. Both men attended the same Presbyterian church in Clarksdale. They both began their public legal careers together in Mississippi’s Eleventh District Court, and it was there they remained, aging into the twilight of their lives together.

Despite years of friendship, for Alcorn to assist Brewer by agreeing to hear the case, he was committing political suicide. Any other judge would have politely declined, using the excuse that the court was not in session. In doing so, he would avoid jeopardizing the support of the town’s white electorate while still saving face with the local Chinese. There was no logical reason for why William Alcorn risked his entire career to hear a case he could have so easily ignored, but that is because Alcorn’s reasoning had nothing to do with logic. It had all to do with history.

Born William Aristides Alcorn Jr. on October 20, 1868, the boy who would one day become a judge came into the world during the worst year of his father’s short life. The first child of George and Mary Alcorn, young William, or Willie as he was called by his father, was burdened from birth as being the only glimmer of hope in a family devastated by war. The Alcorns of Friar’s Point were once slaveholding planters, controlling great tracts of fertile cottonland in the Mississippi Delta. By the time William was born, the tables had turned and the Alcorns were vilified enemies of the Confederacy.

William’s father, George Alcorn, and George’s older brother, William Aristides, first moved to the Delta during the outbreak of the Civil War in April 1861. As Confederate troops opened fire on Fort Sumter, the two boys left Kentucky, the only home they had ever known, to live with their father, Randolph Alcorn, on his plantation at Friar’s Point. Their uncle, James Alcorn, journeyed with them from the farmlands of Kentucky into the wilds of Mississippi.

“My uncle [brought us] to the Delta that day,” William Aristides later wrote. “He led a horse with a side saddle on. My sister rode the horse . . . and I rode behind my uncle on his horse.”

Uncle James had only one son, James Lusk, who also lived at a plantation on Friar’s Point. In fact, it was James Lusk who was responsible for bringing the entire Alcorn family to the Delta—and it would be James Lusk who would come near to having the family exiled.

In 1844 Lusk, a swarthy, stock horse of a man, left the Kentucky legislature in search of fortune in the frontier country of the Yazoo Delta. He packed the family’s household belongings, his wife, Mary Catherine, their children, and an elderly slave woman aboard a flatboat and set out on the Mississippi River.

After several days on the water, they arrived at a landing just south of Moon Lake in what had recently been christened Coahoma County. It was there Lusk decided to open a law practice and create the foundation for a cotton empire that would span generations. Within a decade, Lusk, his father, James, and his father’s brother, Randolph, controlled nearly a dozen plantations, with hundreds of slaves working tens of thousands of acres of Delta farmland.

On the April day when young George and William Aristides Alcorn arrived at their father’s plantation, their cousin, Lusk, was nowhere to be found. With the nation erupting into civil war, Lusk went to Louisiana in an effort to purchase slaves. He came home a few days later, the proud owner of “a slave girl named Molly of yellow color and about fourteen years of age.” Molly would adopt the name Alcorn and spend the rest of her life at James Lusk’s plantation. Of her six children, three were fair-skinned sons named James, Governor, and Judge, possibly after their father.

The two young brothers made a new home for themselves in the vast empire of their older cousin. They settled into the shade of wide porches and ate hog meat from polished silver. They rode horses along the edge of ripened cotton fields, careful not to lose their tracks. For just beyond the enchantment of their cousin’s plantation was a fierce wilderness, a lawless frontier ruled only by nature.

Its thick woods of oak, gum, ash, and poplar were home to thousands of bears, panthers, wildcats, and wolves. In the still bayou waters, malaria festered and the brothers soon learned the taste of quinine and the metallic sweat of summer fevers. They grew to fear the Mississippi when spring rains caused the river stage to rise. They heard tales from nearby logging towns of a flood so strong it leveled the earth. Yet despite all the dangers of the wild, it was not the land that shaped the boys into hardened men. It was war.

“The soldiers began to drill at the schoolhouse where there was a nice playground,” William Aristides recalled. “They started to form a company there, which I promised and did join.” Both George and William became lieutenants in the Confederate Army. Their cousin, James Lusk, was appointed the brigadier general for the Mississippi state troops.

After Appomattox, George and his brother returned home to rebuild their plantations on the family land at Friar’s Point. Four years of civil war had cost Mississippi fifty thousand lives and left much of the state a desolate forest of chimneys. For George and William Alcorn, to rebuild was to reckon with the devastation of a world they once ruled.

In 1868 George had a son. He named his firstborn child William Aristides Alcorn Jr., after his beloved older brother. The infant was born into a broken nation and a divided home. His father’s cousin, once a brigadier general, returned to Mississippi to denounce the Confederacy and, bearing a signed presidential pardon, pledged his allegiance to the Republican Party. For reasons his cousins could not immediately comprehend, James Lusk revealed a fervid passion for black political equality.

The war had tested Lusk. It forced him to reckon with the cardinal sin of his people and his past. He had built an empire on the backs of enslaved men. He led children into battle to protect that empire. The longer he fought for the Confederacy, the less he believed in its cause. In private, Lusk discussed his admiration for the Union and for its president, Abraham Lincoln. Of all the hardship Lusk witnessed on the bloody battlefields of the Civil War, he expressed the most suffering following Lincoln’s assassination.

“My heart is so sad from this news,” Lusk wrote in his diary on April 20, 1865. “I see the future darkly, but oh the scenes of blood! When and where will this strife end?”

In the spring of 1865, the strife was far from ending. Lusk’s eldest son, Milton, who had enlisted in the Confederacy at the onset of the war, was captured in Louisiana in 1863 and taken prisoner. Milton returned from the war a shadow of himself. He was nearly deaf and deeply disturbed. He drank to stave off fits of madness, and within a year of his homecoming committed suicide. Against his father’s wishes, Lusk’s youngest son, Henry, ran away in January 1865 to join his brother in the army. Less than a month after enlisting, Henry contracted typhoid fever and was dead by summer.

The war had taken two sons from James Lusk. It reshaped his morality and tested his faith. The great depths of depression and guilt that plagued Lusk transformed him. He became determined to make up for the sins of history. He declared himself a Republican and resolved to guide his state and its people out from slavery.

A politically ambitious man, Lusk also understood that if he wanted to hold office, he had to capitalize on the state’s newly enfranchised freedmen. In the winter of 1867, the United States Congress passed a sweeping Reconstruction Act over the veto of President Andrew Johnson. For readmission into the Union, the act required Southern legislatures to ratify the Fourteenth Amendment and write new constitutions granting universal suffrage to black men. In Mississippi, the act created a new political majority almost overnight. More than eighty thousand black voters were registered by federal officials, as opposed to fewer than sixty thousand whites. These former slaves, liberated by Lincoln, joined the Republican Party.

James Lusk’s reinvention as a Republican turned him from a war hero into a martyr. On December 8, 1868, Klansmen raided one of his plantations, inflicting an estimated $6,000 worth of damage. William Aristides Jr., living at a nearby plantation, was less than two months old.

George feared for the life of his infant son and spoke with his cousin. As Klan violence escalated, Lusk considered fleeing Friar’s Point. On January 1, 1869, he wrote to Illinois representative Elihu Washburne: “I thought it best to guard the remainder of my plantations as well as I can until I see what Congress may do under Genl Grant’s administration. Should there be no improvement, then I will make the best disposition of my estates, and leave the State.”

But Lusk did not flee. Instead, he ran for governor on the Republican ticket, campaigning on the pledge that “society should no longer be governed by the pistol and the Bowie knife.” His cousins stood firmly beside him. George Alcorn began publishing a newspaper, titled the Weekly Delta, which fully endorsed Lusk and consistently defended the Republican Party. His brother, William Aristides, ran for sheriff as a Republican.

Despite threats on their lives and their property, the Alcorn men held firmly to their positions. In the wake of the announcement of Lusk’s candidacy, full-scale riots erupted in several Delta counties. Lusk’s wife, Amelia, tried to persuade her husband to drop out of the race, believing that he “would fall at martyr under a cloud that would cover [his] grave.”

James Lusk won the election by an overwhelming majority and was inaugurated governor of Mississippi on March 10, 1870. For the first time in the state’s history, a black electorate had chosen its leader. “Secession,” Lusk remarked in his inaugural address, “I have ever denounced as a fatal fallacy.”

Throughout his time in office, Lusk remained true to his base. The centerpiece of his administration became a radical education platform, which would establish a system of public schools for both races. Free to all students, the governor’s new education program consumed more public money in 1870 than all other government programs combined. The program proved to be remarkably successful, establishing the state’s first university for blacks, Alcorn State University, and enrolling half of all Mississippi’s children in elementary classes by 1875.

In developing the state’s most successful model for public education, Lusk unwittingly brought about his own political demise. He built a school system that ran like a trip wire from the Piney Woods to the Yazoo Delta. All across Mississippi, clapboard classrooms fell victim to the aftershocks of war. In the words of Lusk’s biographer, “Public education brought to the foreground the delicate and unresolved problem of race relations.”

The Alcorn system of education, as it came to be known, proposed no integrated schooling, but the fear of such an idea sparked riots across the state. The Jackson Clarion warned that “a fund will be raised by taxing the property of people to build up a gigantic system of ‘Public Education,’ under the control of the imported amalgamationists.”

Before the end of 1870, the Mississippi Klan surpassed all others in the South at purging public school teachers from the state. On November 30, 1871, Governor Alcorn resigned to accept an appointment to the US Senate. His dreams of ushering in a new era of racial equality ended in failure. After serving six years in the Senate, Lusk returned home to Friar’s Point, where he endured yet another tragedy.

In 1878 a devastating epidemic of yellow fever swept through the Delta, killing thousands. In the river town of Greenville, more than a fifth of its twenty-three hundred residents died from the virus. “Criers went through the streets, shouting ‘bring out your dead,’” wrote one historian, describing alleyways packed with burial wagons. The fever was a gruesome killer that “struck without warning,” one Deltan recalled. “First, the flushed yellow face, the drunken look, the chills . . . then the delirium, black vomit, hemorrhage—and miraculous recovery or merciful death.” For George Alcorn, who caught the virus in the fall of 1878, the illness brought “merciful death.” His son, William Aristides Jr., was ten years old.

With no father in his life, the bright, impressionable boy was raised by his uncle and his second cousin, James Lusk. William spent his youth in the wide halls and high-ceilinged rooms of his cousin’s Victorian mansion. His bare feet touched walnut floors, his bare hands Italian marble. Above him sparkled ornate crystal chandeliers, imported from Europe.

His life was a world away from the tenant cabins, clustered around his family’s cotton fields. But there was something about the way Lusk spoke about his past that changed the way William saw his future. There was a great legacy left to be filled by the Alcorn family. It began with Governor James Lusk and would end with Judge William Aristides Jr.

Just four days before Judge Alcorn was to hear arguments in Brewer’s case, the trustees of the Rosedale school board filed a demurrer. Their hope was that the case would be thrown out before even going to trial. The justification for excluding Martha Lum, the demurrer stated, was rooted in Mississippi’s own constitution, specifically Section 207, which called for “separate schools for the white and colored races.” The trustees argued that because Martha was colored, she was subject to the same laws that applied to colored children. The race of the child was reason enough to prove there was no legal basis for the suit.

“The bill shows on its face that complainant is a member of the Mongolian, or yellow race,” the demurrer read. “Therefore, [she is] not entitled to attend the schools provided by law in the State of Mississippi for children of the white, or Caucasian race.”

Had any other judge been assigned the case, the demurrer would likely have been granted and the suit discarded. The school board clearly had Mississippi law on its side. But Judge Alcorn was once Willie Alcorn, a fatherless boy of ten, who fell into the care of a cousin who believed that all children deserved to be educated as equals. Judge Alcorn’s ruling on November 5, 1924, reflected that past. He ordered the board of trustees to admit Martha Lum into Rosedale’s segregated white school.

“It is by the court ordered that the demurrer . . . is hereby overruled,” Alcorn wrote in his decision. “The Clerk of the Circuit Court of the First Judicial District of Bolivar County, Mississippi, is hereby ordered and instructed to issue a writ of mandamus as prayed for in the petition . . . to admit petitioner, Martha Lum, as a pupil in the Rosedale Consolidated High School.”

Judge Alcorn gave Brewer the victory he so greatly needed. Martha would be able to return to Rosedale Consolidated. Brewer told his clients they could send their daughter back to school, but he counseled them to wait for a short while, until tensions quieted down. Brewer didn’t want to risk Martha’s safety by sending her into the classroom while emotions ran high. He also had a sinking feeling that the school board would file an appeal to the state supreme court.

The board understood that the longer the litigation continued, the longer Martha would be forced to stay out of school. Without a verdict, she would be trapped in the indeterminate middle between black and white. Martha, and every other Chinese child in Mississippi, would have to wait for a judge to decide their social status, their race, their identity. As long as the case remained in court, Martha was neither black nor white. In a society with room for only two races, Martha belonged nowhere.

On December 5, just as Brewer feared, Rosedale’s school board filed an appeal. The defendants, “feeling aggrieved at said judgment,” demanded the case be heard again in Jackson, before the Mississippi Supreme Court. The appeal was signed by a new lawyer, a man by the name of Rush Knox, the state’s attorney general. With the board’s motion granted, Brewer’s fight was far from over. In fact, it had only just begun.

The doors of the birdcage elevator whined to a close. An impeccably dressed colored man stood at the controls, cast in the tinted light streaming through the stained glass windows lining the elevator shaft. The controlman waited for Brewer to request a floor. For four years of his life, Brewer had given the same destination, the third floor, Office of the Executive. Now, on April 6, 1925, nearly a decade since leaving office, Brewer gave a different answer. He requested the second floor, the Mississippi Supreme Court.

The operator pulled a lever and the steel carriage shot upwards, past white tiled walls and a blur of colored glass. When the elevator came to a stop, its doors opened onto an alcove. Brewer stepped out, turned to his left, and entered a broad corridor. A line of gleaming Italian columns extended like sentries along the walls. Brewer followed the hallway to its eastern end, where four pillars of marble marked the entrance to the state supreme court chamber.

The small courtroom had already begun to fill with spectators. The majority of visitors were more voyeuristic than concerned with the outcome of the case. The trial was seen as a novelty, the first of its kind. “This is the first case of this nature ever to be brought to the courts of Mississippi,” wrote a local reporter. “It is believed there has been no case similar to this one ever brought in the courts of the United States.”

The swarm of onlookers milled about between the columned entryway and a gate of varnished wood. Running across the center of the room, the gate divided the audience from the bench of judges, an imposing semicircular row at the far side of the chamber. Brewer crossed through the crowd toward his seat beside the bench.

It was only when looking back on the public that the edges of the room became visible. There, standing quietly in the corners, dressed in the nicest linens poverty could afford, were members of the Chinese community. They came to see what would become of their children. Mothers held hands of daughters. Fathers held shoulders of sons. They waited.

Inside the marbled depths of an elegant statehouse, the fate of a young girl would now determine the fate of thousands. A future would be decided that day, and with it the future of a generation. Brewer took his place at the counsel’s table as, with the crack of a gavel, the trial began.

Unlike most cases to reach the Mississippi Supreme Court, the verdict of Rice v. Gong Lum would be decided en banc. This meant that every judge would be present, a distinction reserved only for cases of significant importance. The full bench was composed of six judges: Chief Justice Sidney McCain Smith, John Burt Holden, William Henry Cook, William Dozier Anderson, James McGowen, and George Hamilton Ethridge.

Of the six men seated before Brewer, there was only one judge whose opinion would likely determine the outcome of the case. Judge Ethridge, unlike the other five justices, had experience in the field of education. He was a former teacher, who entered into politics to serve as the state’s assistant attorney general during Brewer’s administration. During the end of Brewer’s term, as Theodore Bilbo ruthlessly forced Brewer out of office, Ethridge rode Bilbo’s rising tide of popularity into a seat on the state supreme court. He had been there ever since. Brewer was keenly aware of the pull Ethridge would have in the court’s decision, so much so that he planned to call the man out by name.

A cold and serious personality, Ethridge believed that a strong democracy was forged in the classroom. The role of education served only to shape and control the nation’s electorate. “We must educate those who are to have the right of selecting the agents who are to exercise power and discharge its functions,” he once wrote. He believed that public schools should be employed strictly to foster a dominant white political class that would determine the future of Mississippi.

Ethridge, like most statesmen of his day, was a steadfast segregationist. His father, Mark Ethridge, fought in the Civil War as a member of the Confederate Cavalry Corps under General Nathan Bedford Forrest, who’d risen to the highest ranks of the Ku Klux Klan. Ethridge saw segregation as the only means of maintaining a civil society, the best defense against another deadly war.

“The races are doomed to live side by side,” Ethridge once wrote, “but must have separate associations and education. . . . No racial mixture has ever been satisfactory or produced good results for society. We are now living in harmony in the same land but in separate social spheres and this must continue for all time.”

The chief justice selected the state’s assistant attorney general, Elmer Clinton Sharp, to begin the trial by reading his oral argument in defense of Rosedale’s school board. Sharp was a tired-looking man with gray eyes, a gray complexion, and thick, graying hair. It was evident from his build that he had not always been so frail. The years had merely caught up with him. Back in college, Sharp played right guard on the varsity football team. The team’s captain was a young law student named William Henry Cook, who was now staring at Sharp from his position behind the supreme court bench.

Sharp began his argument by reciting both Section 207 of the Mississippi Constitution (“Separate schools shall be maintained for children of the white and colored races”) and Section 1 of the Fourteenth Amendment (“No state shall make or enforce any law which shall abridge the privileges or immunities of citizens of the United States”). By juxtaposing the two sections, Sharp was able to demonstrate that the state and federal constitutions were fundamentally at odds when it came to the education of Martha Lum.

He calculated that Brewer would have to rely almost exclusively on the Fourteenth Amendment, while Sharp could build his argument around Section 207 of the Mississippi Constitution. To grant or deny Martha Lum entry into a white high school would require enforcing the laws of one body while violating the laws of another. In a few short sentences, Sharp had resurrected an age-old conflict, that between nation and state. He wagered everything on the belief that sons of the Confederacy would always side with Mississippi. The only way Sharp figured he would lose would be if Martha could somehow be classified as white.

“We come back to the question, and really the only question, involved in this case,” he said. “Are Chinese children of the white race and entitled as such to attend the schools of the white race?”

Segregation, Sharp argued, was for the purpose of protecting the white race from all other races. This included the Chinese.

“It has been at all times the policy of the lawmakers of Mississippi to preserve the white schools for members of the Caucasian race alone,” he continued. “Our lawmakers . . . were desirous of prohibiting an intermingling of any race with the Caucasian or white children of our state.”

If the Caucasian race was considered white, then all other races were to be categorized as colored. Therefore, Sharp argued, Martha and all children of Chinese descent should be classed as Negroes. He stressed that there was no need for the judges to refer to the federal constitution in their deliberations. Mississippi had created segregation to the exclusive benefit of the white race.

“We do not have to look to the cases of other states,” he said, “to determine the legislative classification of the Chinese or Mongolian race in Mississippi. The status or classification of this race has been declared and fixed by our own legislature. It has in unmistakable terms placed the Chinese or Mongolian race in the same category with the negro.”

“We, therefore, submit that the demurrer should be sustained,” Sharp concluded. “And that the judgment of the lower court should be reversed.” Sharp returned to his seat. His address had lasted only a few minutes. It may have been even shorter. Everything he could have said was already written into the state’s constitution: “Separate schools shall be maintained for children of the white and colored races.” In the eyes of the state, Martha was a colored child. Even while in the eyes of the nation, she was simply a child.

Brewer rose from his chair, his hulking figure towering over Sharp. He loped to the front of the court, his hands empty. He had no notes. He never needed any. At the back of the room, the Chinese were gathered together, a silent and powerful presence. Brewer leveled his gaze, took a breath, and began.

“The demurrer admits that Martha Lum is a citizen of the United States and of the state of Mississippi and a resident of Rosedale consolidated school district,” Brewer stated. “She is denied admission to the school at which she presented herself solely on the ground that she is a Chinese child.”

Before launching into the main argument of his defense and invoking the federal protections guaranteed by the Fourteenth Amendment, Brewer drew back. He was theatrical by nature and relished these waning moments of his fading career. Instead of talking about Martha, Brewer segued into a history lesson.

He recalled the passage of Mississippi’s 1890 Constitution, a document that outlined the means by which segregation would be upheld in the state. It was a story and a document with which every judge—and every member of every single Mississippi court—was familiar. Brewer was simply biding his time. After the long-winded lecture, he returned to Martha.

“It is conceded that she is not of the race whose presence in the south occasioned the Constitutional and statutory provisions for separate schools,” said Brewer. “The requirement in the Constitution of 1890 that separate schools must be maintained for the races dealt with only two races. The purpose was to make it certain that negro children should not attend the same school with white children.”

There was no need to explain segregation to the court. They understood as well as he did that the races would always be separated in the South. Yet, in order for Brewer to win over the judges, he had to convince the men to see Martha as the federal government saw her. He had to shift the focus away from the color of her skin, to the strength of her character. He had to somehow convince the judges that a person should not be defined by their race, but by their ambition. Such words were so dangerous, they could have splintered stone.

“The state collects from all for the benefit of all,” Brewer declared. “Martha Lum is one of the state’s children and is entitled to the enjoyment of the privilege of the public school system without regard to her race.”

There it was, the Fourteenth Amendment, the guardian of privileges for all citizens of all races. By speaking its lines, Brewer was demanding that the state see Martha not as a Mongolian, a Chinaman, a colored girl, or a yellow child, but as a citizen of the United States. He begged the State of Mississippi to do something it had never done before, to treat a student as a citizen “without regard to her race.”

If there was silence, it was never recorded. If there were cheers, they too went unmarked. For as soon as Brewer uttered the words, he recoiled back on them. Maybe the notion was too revolutionary for the very man who devised it, or maybe he saw on the judges’ faces the resolute prejudice against any threat to social order. He tempered his rhetoric into words they would understand. And in doing so, he committed a fatal flaw. He forced Martha back into her skin and let it dictate her future.

“It is merely suggested by opposing counsel that the Chinese children should attend the negro schools,” said Brewer.


But it is clearly shown by the authorities cited herein that the Chinaman is not a “colored person” within the meaning of our laws. He would therefore not go to the negro school as a negro. The court will take judicial notice of the fact that members of the Mongolian race under our Jim Crow statute are treated as not belonging to the negro race. The Japanese are classified with the Chinese. These two races furnish some of the most intelligent and enterprising people. They certainly stand nearer to the white race than they do to the negro race. If the Caucasian is not ready to admit that the representative Mongolian is his equal, he is willing to concede that the Mongolian is on the hither side of the half-way line between the Caucasian and African.



In a feeble attempt to return to the equality that he was so quick to cast aside, Brewer closed out his speech with a reiteration of the Fourteenth Amendment. He recalled its lines from memory.

“We wish to be understood,” he concluded, “that to exclude a Chinese citizen child from the public schools . . . is to do a thing prohibited by the last clause of the Fourteenth Amendment.”

Brewer walked back to the counsel’s table and eased himself into his chair beside the bench. The judges told the lawyers that they would confer and announce their ruling within the coming weeks. With a parting thud of the gavel, the session was over.

Brewer walked back through the crowd of spectators, under the marble pillars of the court’s entryway and into a wide corridor. Its low ceiling seemed to bear down on the hallway.

At the end of the hall, the low beams opened into a soaring white plaster dome, the main rotunda of the state capitol building. Brewer could see senators, secretaries, and porters milling about in the balconies overhead. Their activity echoed off the dome’s yellowing, smoke-stained walls.

At the upper reaches of the vault, carved into the rotunda, was a bust of Lady Justice. Her eyes were tied with a blindfold. In her hair were two magnolia blossoms, one above each ear. Her jaw was set in deliberation. Brewer passed beneath her as he made his way to the exit.

Four weeks after the trial, the Mississippi Supreme Court issued a verdict. The unanimous decision, written by Judge George Ethridge, was in favor of excluding Martha Lum from Rosedale’s white school. In the ruling, Ethridge cited a decision that he himself had written eight years earlier.

He relied almost entirely on the precedent of Moreau v. Grandich, a case in which the white children of Antonio Grandich of Hancock County, Mississippi, were expelled from public school due to a rumor that the children’s great-grandmother bore “negro blood.” The rumor came about in part due to a revelation that two of Grandich’s great-aunts may have married outside their race.

When it was brought to the court’s attention that the children’s great-grandparents were fully white and that the children could not possibly have descended from the great-aunts, Judge Ethridge still ruled in favor of expulsion—despite the undisputed fact that the children were genetically white. He sided with the school’s board of trustees, giving them full power to determine the race of a student, regardless of the child’s genetic history. “In Moreau v. Grandich,” Ethridge wrote in the Rice v. Gong Lum decision,


we held that . . . the word “colored” included, not only negroes, but persons of mixed blood. In the argument in the present case it is insisted that this definition of “colored” limited and restricted the term “colored” entirely to persons of the negro race or who were of negro descent. We think a careful reading of the opinion in the Moreau v. Grandich case, supra, in the light of the statement of the facts, shows that the court did not intend to restrict the term “colored” to persons having negro blood in their veins or who were descendants of negroes or of the negro race.



“It is the policy of this state to have and maintain separate schools and other places of association for the races so as to prevent race amalgamation,” Ethridge continued. “Race amalgamation has been frowned on by Southern civilization always, and our people have always been of the opinion that it was better for all races to preserve their purity. However, the segregation laws have been so shaped as to show by their terms that it was the white race that was intended to be separated from the other races.”

The court’s ruling had serious consequences for ethnic enclaves throughout the state. Suddenly, to be anything other than white was to be defined as black. Thousands of first- and second-generation immigrants, who once navigated a permeable line between the races, now found themselves forced onto the Negro side of the Jim Crow South.

Upon conclusion of his decision, Ethridge dictated the terms by which Martha Lum, and all Chinese children in the state of Mississippi, could receive an education.

“If the plaintiff desires,” Ethridge wrote, “she may attend the colored public schools of her district, or, if she does not so desire, she may go to a private school. . . . A parent under the decisions of the supreme court of the United States has a right to educate his child in a private school if he so desires. But the plaintiff is not entitled to attend a white public school.”


CHAPTER VII

SPRING, 1925

THE NEWS CAME TO Martha by way of her mother. There was an anger in her voice that Martha had never heard before, like the sound of a snake writhing under its own skin. Katherine ordered her children to pack their bags. She said the courts had rendered a decision to exclude all Chinese students from Rosedale’s high school. If Katherine’s children could not return to classes, they would have to leave Mississippi.

It was early May and the rain swells had finally given way to summer. Just ten months earlier, Martha was preparing for exams, unfolding her books onto milk crates and Royal Crown Cola boxes. Now, in the spring of 1925, there was no reason to study. Martha and her sister had been out of school for nearly a year and there was little hope of ever returning.

Katherine decided to send the children north to Jackson, Michigan, where Jeu Gong’s brother operated a laundry in the center of the city. Meanwhile, Katherine and Jeu Gong would sell the store in Mississippi. Katherine would find a new home, where the children could attend school. When the time was right, she would send for them.

The only land Martha had ever known were the river towns of the Mississippi Delta. What she knew of the North she learned mostly from Negros, a story about a cousin who went up to Detroit and returned with his own Cadillac, a sister who left for Chicago and never looked back. Then there were her own family’s stories, recounted to Martha by her big sister Berda, the vague childhood memories of their uncle, Ah Bok, and his son Lee, who came south when the war in Europe was over.

They talked about the chop suey shops and teahouses, streets of people speaking their native Cantonese. Berda was suddenly an expert in this foreign land of their distant family. There was something deep within her that had always wanted to leave Mississippi, to travel, to know more of the world outside Rosedale.

Unable to discern exactly what she would need in the North, Martha packed what she could. She selected several hand-sewn dresses, each one not quite fashionable enough for metropolitan life, with their faded fabric and uneven collars. Martha’s mother urged her daughter to wear the dresses with pride. Miss Sales was a good seamstress. She worked hard.

Miss Sales didn’t have a sewing machine of her own, so she came to the Lum house to do her sewing. Martha watched Miss Sales work, her brown fingers binding the thread, feet moving steadily over the pedal. She built a business out of that machine, hemming and sewing dresses for all the colored folk.

In return, Miss Sales cared for the children. On Saturdays, when Katherine was busy at the grocery, Miss Sales prepared supper. On weekdays, when the children returned home from school, Miss Sales made sure they completed their studies. Martha grew accustomed to the meter of her machine, the taste of her cooking, the comfort of her conversation.

Then one day Miss Sales was gone, the sewing machine frozen in place, untouched. When Martha asked her mother where Miss Sales had gone, Katherine responded that she moved to Chicago. There was no more of an explanation. Katherine didn’t tell her daughter that Miss Sales left in a hurry, that she begged Katherine to come with her, that the souls strung from branches, hung from bridges, drowned in rivers were too much a burden to bear. Folding Miss Sales’s dresses, Martha packed all that was left of her nanny into a suitcase and prepared to follow her north.

The children arrived at the Rosedale depot shortly before the midday train from Vicksburg. Across the tracks, the bright letters of the Lum grocery flashed along the red brick of their house at the far end of Bruce Street. Katherine placed into Berda’s palm a tiny purse, bursting with rolled bills. She was told to guard it carefully, for the money would provide a safe passage north.

Martha, Berda, and Biscoe, who was just barely six, stood on the platform as the Illinois Central eased into the station, passing the old hay warehouse, the ice plant, and the vacant outpost of the Coca-Cola Bottling Company. This was the same train Martha used to chase, watching the faces pass by in the windows, traveling to cities she could only imagine. Now it was Martha’s turn to become one of those faces, staring out from a boxcar as it hurtled through small country towns, where barefooted children chased the pound of an engine, waving at strangers headed to those far-off, imaginary places.

Martha picked up her suitcase and walked to the entrance of the train, taking her place in line. A railing divided the stairs on the platform, one side for white passengers, the other for colored. Shifting on her feet, Martha moved to the left side of the stairs, where the white passengers waited to board the back of the train. The colored car was always the front car of the train, closest to the engine and the danger and soot that went along with it. The children trailed each other through the open door of the train and down its narrow aisles. Coming to an empty row, they folded themselves onto the frame of their seats and waited for departure.

Once, in third grade, when Martha was studying American literature, she read a story about a colored girl named Olive who was raised to believe she was white. The girl’s mother, Madame Delphine, tried to give her daughter a better life. She promised Olive to a charitable banker named Monsieur Vignevielle, but in order to make this promise, Madame Delphine had to disown her only child.

“Oh, my darling little one, you are not my daughter!” Madame Delphine said to Olive.

On a warm summer day, at a noon wedding inside a little church, Madame Delphine quietly watched her daughter marry the wealthy white banker and become a proper Southern lady. After the service, Madame Delphine entered the confessional, where she told the priest the sin of her deception. There kneeling, with her forehead resting in her hands, Madame Delphine died.

“It makes little difference whether it is all true to life or not,” read a passage in Martha’s textbook. “In literature one looks for the spirit of a time and place, not for historical accuracy.” What was important about the story, the textbook said, was the lesson of a mother “who for the sake of her beautiful daughter, sacrifices herself.”

With a shudder of steel, the train pulled away from the station. Martha watched as the wide platform of the depot slowly drifted from view. Behind her was a childhood, races over the levee walls, hymnals, revivals and churchyard picnics, the slow pop of salted fatback sputtering in her mother’s skillet, the shine of cotton pickers, cleaned up sharp on a Saturday night after harvest. The train gathered speed and with it Martha’s old life moved into the past. She prepared herself for a future in a distant city.

Biscoe was restless. He complained about needing to relieve himself. As the eldest, and the one in charge of the money, Berda acted the parent. As Biscoe’s complaints continued to escalate, Berda promised to escort him to the restroom. She nudged Martha out of her seat and pushed her two siblings up the aisle. Together, they tottered along the train cars until Biscoe finally found the toilet.

The calm that followed Biscoe’s crisis quickly dissipated. In her rush to soothe her brother, Berda had forgotten the coin purse on the seat. The children worked their way back to the rear of the train. When they arrived at their bench, it was empty. All of the money was gone.

A sense of dread passed over the children. Without money, there would be no food, no way to send a telegram home. There was nothing with which to purchase a return voyage if Ah Bok was not waiting for them in Michigan. Without any hope of recovering the coin purse, the children resigned themselves to their fate. After several hours, the train reached Cairo, where the track crossed over a wide river and turned northward, toward Chicago.

It was long past nightfall when the lights of the city began to shimmer along the shoreline of Lake Michigan. As the engine slowed to approach the station, a ripple of excitement ran through the train car. The children stirred themselves awake and looked out at the magnificent spectacle of Chicago’s Illinois Central Station.

Overhead, a thirteen-story clock tower glimmered above a giant pavilion. Its wide shadow darkened a string of wooden pilings that wandered into the surf, following one another to the end of the line, where the railroad’s lakeshore tracks met Michigan Avenue. For thousands of Southern blacks, the depot was far more than a destination, it was a beacon, the threshold to a promised land. The Illinois Central Station connected Chicago to the South and served as the city’s primary site of arrival for what came to be known as the Great Migration.

Arriving at the station, passengers from the colored car exited in one steady torrent, filling the platform in a matter of minutes. Like Martha and her siblings, they carried with them all they owned for their new life in the North. They came wearing headscarves, holding rucksacks, and speaking in slow Delta drawls. Hundreds came every day. They arrived in swells, flooding the station by the carload, from every southern branch of the Illinois Central.

Just three years earlier, a twenty-one-year-old trumpeter arriving from New Orleans stepped off the very same train onto the very same platform. His name was Louis Armstrong. “When the conductor came through the train hollering, ‘Chicago, next stop,’” the musician recalled years later, “a funny feeling started running up and down my spine.”

The excitement that crawled down the spine of Louis Armstrong now found its way into Martha Lum. The children exited the car and crossed through the station. They boarded another train near the switching yards. Its engine jerked into motion and soon the lights of the city were behind them as they journeyed east along the southern shores of Lake Michigan.

The train arrived at Jackson Station in the early-morning hours. At the west end of the depot, a gatekeeper swung open a fence that stretched across the tracks. He flagged the train toward the platform. Hungry and exhausted, the children exited the train car. A long, overhanging eave blanketed the depot, blocking the thin rays of morning light that were starting to move west along the rails and onto the city beyond. Martha and her siblings crossed out of the station and turned onto Main Street.

The roadway was crowded with the chaotic choreography of an industrialized city at daybreak. Enginemen tromped to the track yards, coal shovels slung over their shoulders. Negro train porters hurried inside the station, their chests lined with polished brass buttons. Metalworkers gathered in packs outside iron and steel mills, as sparks flared onto the sidewalk from foundry furnaces along East Michigan Avenue. Paperboys shouted from street corners, hocking the labor party’s Square Deal newspaper to hundreds of factory workers, all flocking to build rims, wheels, nuts, bolts, lugs, and wrenches for Detroit’s automobiles.

The children passed under awnings of fruit vendors, where old Italian men scolded their grandsons and unloaded crates of produce. A streetcar barreled past, making its way down the winding row of storefronts. Michigan was like no place Martha had ever seen. Even the air was different. Coal smoke burned like a scorched rag in her throat. Somewhere off in the distance shone the hazy gray peak of the power company.

At the corner of Mechanic and Main, the children turned right. Just a few paces brought them to the doorstep of their uncle’s laundry, their new home. Mechanic Street teemed with life. At one end was City Hall and at the other a prison. Gow Lum’s laundry was somewhere in between. The small business was sandwiched between two boarding houses, a butcher, a coffee roaster, a fish market, a drugstore, the Union Restaurant, and the Grand Union Tea Company.

Standing at the door to the laundry, waiting to enter, Martha was not so different from the young Jeu Gong, who had also arrived on the shores of Lake Michigan, holding in his memory all that remained of a life in a distant land. Yet Martha’s homeland was not the old country of her father. He spoke a language of nam fong and bok bok. He knew of ancient villages, of great dynasties, of deep family tradition. Martha spoke a language of “ain’ts” and “reckons.” She knew the taste of sweet tea and grits, the smell of pole beans boiled in salt pork. Arriving in the North, Martha became a migrant among immigrants, still a child, already twice removed from the ancestry she was taught to call her own.

The laundry was a crowded place. Rows of flames flickered behind dark curtains of drying cloth. A machine called “the mangle” towered over the room, its two round pressing wheels crushing pile after pile of steaming white cloth. The children wended their way between great vats of boiling linens and strange men shouting strange words over the spit of irons. Their uncle spoke to his wife in Cantonese; neither was eager to greet the children. To Gow Lum and his wife, Martha and her brother and sister were simply three more mouths to feed. It did not matter that they were family or that Jeu Gong had cared for his brother after the war. Gow Lum would make it known to the children that they were a burden on him.

Berda took her uncle’s rejection harder than Martha. Living in a home where she knew she was not welcome, Berda became spiteful. She learned Cantonese so she could curse at her aunt and uncle in their native tongue. She studied all the terrible words first and let them fall from her lips with practiced precision.

Once Berda began to understand full sentences, her aunt, Ah Mo, retaliated with language far more hurtful than curse words. She told Berda that the children’s mother was not really a Wong, but a mui tsai, a slave. Katherine was bought from poverty, from a nothing family somewhere near the coast. She was traded for a red packet of money, sold like a beast. Jeu Gong’s wife was a stain on the face of the family and now the stain had made its way into Ah Mo’s home. Out of anger, Berda hid their mother’s secret. She kept it from her sister for another sixty years.

Martha made no effort to learn Cantonese, and she complained about her aunt’s traditional Chinese cooking. Instead, Martha focused her energies on schoolwork and the labor of the laundry. As summer turned to fall and fall to winter, Martha studied with the other immigrant children, walking down Mechanic, through the snow to the schoolhouse. There were twenty public schools within the city limits, and Martha was not excluded from any of them. In Rosedale there was only one school and it was for the white children. In Jackson, there were schools for all kinds of children, most of them immigrants, Irish, Polish, German, Italian, Russian, and Chinese.

Even with her immigrant roots, Martha had more in common with the colored children who lived in crowded city blocks on the other side of town. To keep Martha from being classed as colored, from being forced into colored schools and colored society, the Lum family joined an exodus as large as any wave of immigration, the exodus of millions of Negroes from the American South.

It followed a current that traced the central spine of the continent, from the cotton fields of Mississippi, Alabama, Tennessee, and Arkansas to the industrial cities of Cleveland, Detroit, Chicago, Milwaukee, and Pittsburgh. In leaving Rosedale, the children became part of a protest that was taking place in homes all across the South.

“Oftentimes, just to go away,” wrote John Dollard, a Yale scholar studying Negro migration in the 1930s, “is one of the most aggressive things that another person can do, and if the means of expressing discontent are limited, as in this case, it is one of the few ways in which pressure can be put.”

Martha did not see herself as part of a greater movement. She was a ten-year-old girl, with worries far more immediate and personal. She did not know when she would see her mother again. She longed for the familiar things she used to taste, smell, and touch. She could not write in the language of her father and he could not write to his daughter in words that she could read. So Martha lived in isolation, a stranger in a cold world.

One day in early spring, Martha’s mother arrived on a train from Chicago. When Katherine entered the laundry, she was alarmed at the changes her children had undergone. Their bodies were thin and fragile, their skin streaked with soot. Their clothing was torn, their shoes full of holes. For decades, Martha would remember the sting of ice against her feet. After one year in the North, Katherine’s children appeared to her as beggars. She packed their belongings and led them to the depot. She bought four tickets back to the South.


CHAPTER VIII

AUTUMN, 1925

RAIN HAMMERED AGAINST THE roof of the Clarksdale courthouse. Along Delta Avenue, a trail of hooded figures lumbered through the storm toward the bright electric lights of the court. The meeting was called for eight o’clock, which was well past nightfall on this particular Saturday in late October. A row of ushers lined either side of the lobby, each dressed in matching white robes, their faces cloaked in ghostly triangular hoods. Greeting and shaking hands, local members of the Ku Klux Klan welcomed visitors to the evening’s lecture. The guest of honor was Dr. Sam Campbell of Atlanta. His topic, “The Making of a Klansman.”

Pastor Macon Vick of the First Baptist Church began the evening with a sermon, his voice modulating with the deliberate reverence of a Sunday service. When he finished his invocation, Vick led the congregation in song. “My country ’tis of thee,” the pastor began softly. “Sweet land of liberty.”

A chorus of cheers erupted from within the crowded hall as the audience joined in the singing. “Land where my fathers died, land of the pilgrims’ pride. From ev’ry mountainside, let freedom ring!”

As applause filled the courthouse, Dr. Campbell made his way to the stage. He was a tall, forceful-looking middle-aged man with a high forehead, a pale, narrow face, and a stern mouth that seemed to tether one taut cheek to the other. He carried none of the markings of the stone-broke field hand he had once been. Sometime in his twenties, Dr. Campbell left behind his mule and plow in the high Georgia hills to be reborn a minister. He traveled the country preaching the doctrine of white supremacy and the teachings of the Holy Book.

Campbell began his speech with a discussion of Congress and its recent ratification of the Johnson-Reed Immigration Act. He mentioned that while they never received credit, the Knights of the Ku Klux Klan were directly responsible for the passage of the bill. It was the Klan that “put it over,” he explained, and the Knights were well overdue for their public recognition.

He warned the people of Clarksdale that America was under threat from the many different races living within its borders. “There is no melting pot, and never can be,” he declared emphatically. “It is impossible for the negro, Mexican, Jap, Chinaman, Turk and what-not to mix with true-blooded Americans.

“We cannot allow foreign peoples to trample Christ under foot,” he continued, “and tear down our Christian institutions and ideals for which our forefathers have always stood, ever since our nation was founded. The Klan at the close of the Civil War came to the rescue and in this instance our ideals were preserved. The very soul of our country is at stake, and it is our sacred duty to protect the soul of our beloved America, just as much today as it was then.”

As Campbell came to the end of his lecture, the audience grew silent, hanging on every word.

“It requires three things to make a Klansman,” he concluded:


purpose, material and time. The purpose of the Klansman is to promote and sustain a love of God and country, to protect the Christian ideals and institutions of our country, to uphold white supremacy, to aid in the enforcement of the laws of our nation. What sort of material is required for the qualification of a Klansman? “Not for self, but for others,” is a Klansman’s motto and if he fails in this, he has failed in his trust. When will the Klan die? Never! Not until victory is won and each Klansman and Klanswoman has done their bit.



The audience leaped from their seats, clapping their hands with wild enthusiasm. They shouted and pounded their boots against the floor. The walls rattled inside Clarksdale’s courthouse.

In a small, dimly lit jail one block away, a black prisoner stirred in his cell. The air was cold, near freezing, and John Fisher struggled to keep warm. He had been there for over a week and was starting to lose track of time. On the night of October 16, he’d awakened to torchlights and the howl of bloodhounds outside his cabin beside Traynham Plantation. Someone pounded on Fisher’s front door until it snapped on its hinges and swung open. A pack of dogs surged through the entryway and tore at Fisher’s clothes and body.

Then the men came. More than a dozen of them, white and rabid in the eyes, lawmen and townsmen, shouting all the ways they would kill Fisher that night in the woods. The men held in their hands the instruments with which to carry out the attack; they had known before leaving their homes that morning there would be a lynching come nightfall. Such an assembly, so common to Mississippi, was described in chilling detail by James Howell Street, a journalist born and raised in Jones County. Street witnessed his first lynching at fourteen. He wrote:


They called the neighbors. They pulled pistols from oiled rags in bureaus, lifted shotguns from pegs over the mantels. They needed dogs. Bob Gant’s were the best in the state. Three men piled into an automobile and thundered into the night—ninety miles over rough roads to Bob’s house.



The Clarksdale men arrived at Traynham Plantation before midnight. They followed Gant’s hounds to the backwoods shanty that belonged to John Fisher. Had it not been for four of the sheriff’s deputies, who safely spirited Fisher to jail, he would have been dead by sunrise.

The following morning, Fisher was charged with the murder of Grover C. Nicholas, the adopted son of a prominent Delta planter named James Traynham. Nicholas’s body had been found inside the plantation’s commissary, bludgeoned to death with the blunt end of an ax. Fisher denied any part in the crime, telling the officers he’d spent the previous day repairing an old car with his neighbor.

By the end of October, the officers jailed four other Negroes for the same crime: Raeford Leonard, who worked on the Traynham plantation; Lindsey Coleman, a young tenant farmer who lived with Leonard; Smith Bunns, a local teenager; and Albert Hobbs, a former preacher.

Throughout the course of several days, the sheriff’s deputies, led by a man named Hicks Ellis, employed what they called a “rope and water cure” to extract confessions from the five prisoners. Fisher recalled the group of men forcing him to the floor and binding his arms and legs with rope. Then Hick Ellis lifted Fisher’s chin and allowed water to pour over his face and into his nostrils. The last thing Fisher remembered before falling unconscious was the fear that he was drowning.

After a week of this torture, Fisher finally cracked. He gave a confession on November 4. Leonard and Hobbs confessed shortly thereafter. Bunns died in jail. He was found dead in his cell with a broken neck; the authorities said he’d suffered an epileptic seizure. Lindsey Coleman was the only man who continued to proclaim his innocence.

When it came time for trial, Hobbs turned on the other prisoners. Newspapers reported that he “made a splendid witness for the prosecution,” telling jurors, “how he fasted and prayed to God for guidance and help and finally decided that God would not help or hear him with a lie upon his lips.” For his service, Hobbs was released. With the help of his testimony, John Fisher was sentenced to death and Raeford Leonard was sentenced to life in prison.

It was Coleman, the only man not to break under torture, who was the last to face trial. On December 19, 1925, he stood before a jury and affirmed his innocence, just as he had when jailers poured water into his lungs, bent his fingers until they nearly broke, and called him “nigger” as they tied a noose around his neck. After eight hours of deliberation, Judge Alcorn read the jury’s verdict, his voice breaking in disbelief: “The jury finds the defendant not guilty.”

Earl Brewer was not present for the trial. He, like everyone else in Clarksdale, assumed the Negro would hang. Instead, Coleman exited the courthouse on that cold December night a free and innocent man. Brewer was not there to see the way Coleman walked down the courthouse steps, dressed in the same jacket he wore as a soldier in the Great War, the finest suit he ever owned. Brewer was not there to see Coleman taken by a group of white men and forced into a waiting car. He was not there to see the men speed off down Yazoo Avenue.

Instead, Brewer was there to read the coroner’s report, to learn that Coleman’s body, still dressed in his army uniform, was found riddled with twenty-six bullet holes and tossed onto the street just three blocks from the courthouse. He learned that the sheriff and his men refused to intervene to save the Negro’s life. He was told there were witnesses, including the sheriff himself, but that no one was willing to testify. A murder had been committed outside the town’s very hall of justice, and the city did not have the courage to prosecute the killers.

Brewer could not know how the lynching of Lindsey Coleman would alter the course of his life, and therein alter the course of history. He had no idea that the seeds of an entire revolution were sitting in stacks of half-written briefs inside his law office. He did not know that in seeking retribution for Coleman, he would neglect another fight. He would forsake a case that could have brought one of the greatest civil rights victories in American history. He would lose sight of Martha Lum and, in doing so, abandon the first United States Supreme Court case to challenge segregation in public schools.

The telephone in the parlor room rang without pause. Minnie Marion Brewer held the mouthpiece in her hand, directing calls in the same manner a captain might steer a ship. She answered questions from the governor, from United States senators, from newspapers throughout the country.

“It was high-handed murder,” Marion shouted through the telephone at a reporter from the Associated Press. “The women of Coahoma County are outraged at this mob violence in the heart of our city.”

Brewer had never seen this side of his wife’s character. When he was governor, Marion received accolades for her success as a dutiful homemaker. “She has made an especially gracious mistress of the Mansion,” a biographer wrote after visiting the Brewer family in Jackson. “Mrs. Brewer is a considerate helpmeet to her husband . . . and has kept his home life serene and sweet, and afar from the bitter turmoil of public life.”

It was not like Marion to take up causes. She was faithful and loving, but never political, never outspoken. This was a changed woman sitting on the small wooden chair beside the telephone. He loved her now more than ever.

On the Tuesday following the murder, Mrs. Brewer held a meeting at City Hall, inviting over one hundred women from across the county. She stood before a packed house and appointed a committee of women to investigate the lynching of Lindsey Coleman. She dictated a resolution that was printed in papers throughout the state. “Be it resolved that we unqualifiedly condemn all acts of lawlessness,” she announced. “That we pledge ourselves and call upon every other citizen to uphold the law and aid in every way possible the officers of the court in its enforcement and in the punishment of those responsible for the murder.”

Meanwhile, Brewer tried to determine the means by which he could conduct a trial. Such a case had never been tried in the county. It would be the first time a white man had gone on trial for his life in the murder of a Negro. If Brewer wanted Coleman’s killers to face a jury, he had to first find a credible witness to testify against them. He knew there were dozens of men who were present when Coleman was taken, but no man in Coahoma County would risk his social standing, and possibly his life, to testify against the lynchers. Determining that it would be impossible to turn a citizen into a witness, Brewer came up with another idea. He would make a witness out of the sheriff.

The day following the lynching, Brewer spoke with Judge Alcorn and arranged to have the county sheriff indicted on two counts of “failing to perform his duty.” One count was for failing to protect Coleman as he was leaving the courthouse and the other was for failing to intervene when John Fisher was tortured in jail. For both indictments, Brewer invoked Section 1024 of Mississippi’s Hemingway’s Code, which stated, “If any judge, justice of the peace, constable, member of the board of supervisors, sheriff, coroner or other peace officer, shall willfully neglect or refuse to return any person committing any offense against the laws committed in his view or knowledge . . . he shall upon conviction be fined not less than $100 nor more than $500 and may in the discretion of the court be removed from office.”

In reality, Brewer didn’t want the sheriff’s case to go to trial. It would have likely resulted in a hung jury and an elaborate string of appeals that would have gone on for months. Of course, this was not what he told Sheriff S. W. Glass. Brewer and Alcorn explained to Glass that if the jury found him guilty, he would be removed from office, destroying any chance he had for reelection. For a man whose only pride was in his occupation, the threat was a death sentence. Glass quickly struck a deal with the judge that he would plead guilty, pay a fine of $500, and quietly vacate his post until the trial was over, at which point he would resume his position as the county’s chief law officer. In return, Glass had to serve as a witness for the state.

As Mrs. Brewer was forming her coalition of women at City Hall, Brewer was at the courthouse, where nearly a hundred men had gathered before Judge Alcorn for the selection of a grand jury. Alcorn calmed the crowd. Then he ordered the assembly to “find out the parties that did this, use the power of the state and bring to justice anyone that has had a part in this crime.” Alcorn selected the twelve men who would compose the jury and render a verdict in the murder of Lindsey Coleman. Now all Brewer needed were the defendants to charge with the crime.

The next day, Brewer called for a meeting of the Coahoma County Bar Association. Twenty-five lawyers from across the county met at the courthouse to discuss the lynching. When they arrived, Sheriff Glass was sitting near the front of the courtroom. He came at the request of Brewer, who had asked the sheriff to submit to questioning before the panel of lawyers.

Brewer jumped right into the interrogation. He directed Glass, in a stern voice, to name the men responsible for the lynching. Glass grew visibly uncomfortable. He moved his eyes over the room. He responded that he “wasn’t sure if it was proper” to answer such a question. Brewer changed his tone. He grew forceful and impatient. They made a deal. He wanted names.

“You are the sheriff and chief law officer in the county,” Brewer snapped. “The bar here assembled in mass wants to know from you, the sheriff, who these parties were.”

In response, the sheriff listed four names: James Traynham, the Delta planter and adoptive father of Grover Nicholas; Thomas Nicholas, the brother of Grover Nicholas; Gold Cane, a manager at Traynham Plantation; and H. S. Blockley, a photographer from Clarksdale who was married to Grover Nicholas’s niece.

On Christmas Eve, the grand jury returned indictments of murder against all four men. It was decided that Gold Cane would be the first to face trial. He had the least social standing of the four, but was likely to have the strongest defense, as he had already hired a team of six attorneys. On the day the trial was announced, Brewer volunteered his services for the prosecution. In doing so, the ex-governor became the first lawyer in Coahoma County to try a white man for the murder of a Negro.

James Flowers sat at his law office in Jackson, Mississippi. His desk was flooded with letters, most of them congratulatory, with a spare few offering a barrage of insults. As president of the Mississippi Bar Association, he had recently taken the first political stance of his life and published a pamphlet condemning lynching. It was a bold move for a man who, until this point, had been a corporate lawyer for the Gulf, Mobile and Ohio Railroad.

Flowers was now in the process of preparing a second edition of the pamphlet, just two weeks after he issued the first. There had been a lynching in Clarksdale just before Christmas, so he felt compelled to update the report to include the events of December 19, 1925. “Sinking to depths of ignominy with the lynching of the acquitted negro Lindsey Coleman at Clarksdale,” Flowers inserted in italics, “Mississippi closed the year with six of the nation’s total of 16 lynchings.”

Flowers relied heavily on statistics. His hope was that the sheer number of lynchings would be “enough to stagger and to shame.” He was a practical man, who believed in motivating the public through fact over emotion, and his antilynching pamphlet showcased this trait. “During the last forty years, mobs murdered 4,144 men and women,” he wrote, adding that “1,036 of the victims were white and 3,162 were colored. . . . Mississippi has 530 lynchings to her discredit.”

For a man who did not champion political causes, the lawyer’s report provided precise documentation of the nation’s legacy of lynching. His research was meticulous and demonstrated a commitment to accuracy rarely seen in political propaganda. He closed out his passage on statistics with a heartbreaking clause explaining his margin of error.


These figures patiently and persistently gathered over four decades do not tell the full story of bloodshed and lawlessness. They do not take into account the hundreds killed in the bloody race riots at East St. Louis, Tulsa, Washington, and Chicago, or the isolated individuals done to death in the dead of night by craven cowards, with no feature story in the newspapers and little or no investigation in the grand jury room.



Jokingly nicknamed General Flowers due to a demeanor that was quite the opposite of a general, at age fifty-five, James Nathaniel Flowers had finally taken a stand. Some of his greatest praise came from the former governor Earl Brewer. Brewer, like Flowers, had been born in Carroll County. Both men had received degrees from the University of Mississippi, and both were the favorite sons of Confederate veterans. Yet when it came to law, the two men could not have been more different. Brewer began his career as a labor lawyer, taking cases for injured railroad workers and their families. Flowers was currently chief counsel for one of the largest rail lines in the state.

So it came as both a compliment and a surprise to Flowers when Brewer asked him to take over as lead attorney on a Fourteenth Amendment case that was on its way to the US Supreme Court. It was an appeal out of Rosedale by a Chinese family who wanted to send their daughter to the white public high school. Flowers had very little experience with these kinds of cases, but Brewer asked a favor of him, and out of respect for the ex-governor, Flowers obliged.

Brewer, for his part, would offer Flowers some support, but also made it clear that he was going to lead the prosecution against four men responsible for the Clarksdale lynching. This would mean that Flowers would be shouldered with most of the responsibility in the school case. Through one simple arrangement, the case of Gong Lum v. Rice, and the fate of Martha Lum, was handed off to a novice.

Court convened at 9:30 a.m. on January 7 for the murder trial of Gold Cane. In total, forty-one witnesses had been subpoenaed to testify in the case, so everyone in town knew someone involved in the trial. By midday, the courtroom was overflowing with spectators. They stood in clusters behind rows of chairs spread out across the courtroom.

A reporter for the Clarksdale Register noted that a significant number of Negroes had come to witness the deliberations. This seemed unusual to him, as he rarely saw colored spectators in court, and he made a point of adding an additional paragraph at the end of his article to highlight the abnormality.

Rumor was that Sheriff Glass was going to testify against Cane. As the afternoon wore on, the crowd grew restless with anticipation. Glass took the stand shortly after 4 p.m. His face was pale and he tapped his fingers nervously on the wooden banister by his waist. The jury sat directly to his right, all twelve of them, elevated above the court in two rows of six. They were an imposing sight, wealthy planters and bankers, dressed in expensive suits, leaning their heads on their hands, waiting.

Glass collected his nerves and, in a somber tone, began to describe what he saw on the night of December 19. Two men grabbed Coleman as he was leaving the courthouse. Glass recognized one of them as Gold Cane. The two men took Coleman out onto Yazoo Avenue, on the east side of the courthouse.

“They brought him to the car,” Glass explained. “There were twelve or fifteen men around them. . . . I grabbed Coleman but was pushed back onto the street.”

When Glass stood up, the men and the car were gone. The next thing he heard was that a body had been found on Desoto Avenue, bleeding onto the street from twenty-six bullet wounds.

Although visibly uncomfortable, Glass gave a strong performance, and Brewer left the court with a sense of relief. When a journalist from Memphis tried to stop the lawyer on his way out the door, shouting questions over the noise of the crowd, Brewer merely responded with a smile. The reporter noted that Brewer’s wide grin was all his readers needed to know about the direction of the case.

Five days later, on January 12, the jury reported to the court for closing arguments. They had heard dozens of testimonies and sat through hours of cross-examination. Following a rather short speech by the defense, Brewer gave the final word for the state. He made it clear to the men of the jury that he already served his time as the county’s district attorney, that he had no expectation of ever trying another murder case. But this heinous crime drew him back into the courtroom, not as a hired lawyer, but as a citizen of Clarksdale.

“I am before you today as a representative of the people of Coahoma County,” he said. “I am here because an effort has been made to run over the law and trample it beneath the feet of those who disregard lawful society and set up mob law in this peace.”

Brewer’s wife watched from the audience. Facing the judge and jury, he could not meet her eyes. It was only when he turned around to address the crowd that he saw her. She was surrounded by other women, her own coalition, a body politic of wives, mothers, and daughters, seeking retribution for the murder of a colored man they did not know.

“Some folks enjoy killing,” Brewer continued. “I know some men who would drive halfway across the state to assist in the hanging of a negro, even when they didn’t know a thing about the crime he is supposed to have committed. That’s the vicious element. Let folks once understand that [if] lawlessness will be permitted, a state of anarchy will exist.”

Following the death of his father, Brewer had organized a club called the Wildcat Society in a little country schoolhouse near his farm in Carroll County. The club met on Saturday nights to hold mock debates between local farmboys. One night, two older men came to the meeting. They talked about another society called the Ku Klux Klan. They made a proposal: the boys would do the work of the Klan and gain the privilege of binding themselves to a respectable society. The men said there were some worthless Negroes in the neighborhood who needed to be whipped, and that it was the duty of the Wildcats to attend to it.

The boys then unanimously passed a resolution to devote themselves to the cause of the Klan, to go out on Saturday nights and “take these negroes out and whip them and run them out of the country.” Brewer, the youngest boy in the room, was the only member to voice concern that whipping Negroes was against the law.

“He got a rabbit in him,” one boy chided. “He’s gettin weak in the melt,” said another.

As the boys laughed, Brewer silently returned to his seat, afraid to be called a coward. He agreed to meet back at the clubhouse the following week and bring with him a white mask that he sewed at his mother’s kitchen table. The next week, as Brewer left to attend the Saturday meeting, his mother stopped him at the door. She told Brewer that a society that hides its face is not a society worthy of her son. “You don’t owe them any duty to assist them or encourage them in the commission of crime,” she warned.

Brewer stayed home with his mother that night and never returned to a meeting of the Wildcats. During the following weeks and months, he heard of Negroes being whipped on Saturday nights. Then, one Sunday morning, the body of a Negro turned up with a fatal bullet wound. A group of white men were arrested and jailed on the charge of murder.

When the case went to trial, Brewer snuck into the back of the courtroom to watch the proceedings. He recognized the defendants as members of his old society. He watched as one of the most distinguished lawyers in Mississippi defended each boy and listened as the jury entered the verdict of “not guilty.” It was the first time Brewer was confronted with evil and saw it go unpunished. Now, standing before a grand jury, Brewer had the chance to punish men for the crimes he did not have the courage to condemn as a child.

As Brewer came to the end of his closing argument, he paced from one side of the floor to the other. Gold Cane showed no expression. Under the table, his hands moved restlessly.

“Coahoma County is being weighed in the balance,” Brewer concluded. “Men dissatisfied with law and order have taken civilization into their own hands. They have said, ‘Let civilization be damned!’ This county has met every exigency, it must not fail in this case. Give the lawless an inch and they will take a mile. There is no reason to doubt this man’s guilt.”

Judge Alcorn called for an adjournment while the jury made their deliberations. The fate to be decided was not just that of Cane, but of all four indicted men. “It is generally believed that if an acquittal comes in the Cane case,” wrote one reporter, “it will be useless to prosecute the other three men.” Filing out of the box, the jurymen followed one another into a room behind the judge’s bank. They did not reach a verdict for twenty-six hours.

When it was announced that the jury had rendered a decision, Alcorn called the court back into session. As the back door swung open, the only sound was the footfalls of jurymen making their way back to the box. One jury member handed the verdict to a clerk, who read its words aloud to the court: “We, the jury, find the defendant ‘not guilty.’” Cane jumped to his feet, grasping the hands of the jurors as he murmured his thanks. Upon Cane’s acquittal, indictments against the other three men were dismissed.

Immediately following Gold Cane’s release, Brewer filed another lawsuit, this time on behalf of a Negro prisoner named Marshall Jones, who was also charged with murder and was held at the Coahoma County jail with John Fisher when he was tortured. In the case, Jones v. State, Brewer again invoked Hemingway’s Code to protest misconduct within law enforcement. This time, he was able to win Jones another trial and stay his execution. In pairing Hemingway’s Code with the Fourteenth Amendment, Brewer found a renewed sense of purpose in his work. He joined the national fight against coerced confessions.

For more than a decade, Brewer continued to take cases similar to Jones v. State. In 1936, serving as lead defense counsel in a case financed by the National Association for the Advancement of Colored People, Brewer finally earned the victory that he’d dedicated his life to win. In Brown v. Mississippi, the US Supreme Court, for the first time in its history, reversed a state criminal conviction on the grounds that the conviction was based upon a coerced confession. The landmark decision affirmed that the Constitution must be applied in all police interrogations, regardless of color.

Legal scholars later noted that Brewer’s keen understanding of the Fourteenth Amendment played a key role in the victory. He claimed the protections of the amendment belonged to every American, even prisoners. Yet in the vast sweep of history, the victory was bittersweet. For as Brewer devoted his career to securing the rights of prisoners, he overlooked another landmark case. Gong Lum v. Rice, the first Fourteenth Amendment case to challenge the constitutionality of segregated schools in the Jim Crow South, was neglected by the very man who could have been its greatest champion.


CHAPTER IX

SPRING, 1927

JAMES FLOWERS STARED AT the blank leaf of paper rolled into his typewriter. Lawyers of much greater stature called this affliction “pen paralysis.” For Flowers, it was not so much a deficiency of words as a deficiency of character. He was a humble man and would have been the first to admit that he was out of his depth when tasked with writing the Supreme Court brief for Gong Lum v. Rice.

Immediately upon graduating from law school at the University of Mississippi in 1896, Flowers went to work as counsel for the railroads, a role he would maintain for most of his life. His colleagues praised the manner in which he practiced law, “with little drama and less sensationalism,” “quietly, effectively, practically and sincerely.” Flowers conducted his personal life in exactly the same manner. “Gentle and tender to the point of sensitiveness,” he was the polar opposite of the lawyer who had handed him the brief. Try as he might, Flowers could not conjure up the style of Earl Brewer, because when it came down to it, he was an entirely different type of man.

Flowers’s greatest obstacle was the central statute in the case, the equal protection clause of the Fourteenth Amendment. Flowers had never filed a Fourteenth Amendment suit before, and his understanding of the article was limited at best. Regardless, he decided to begin his brief by invoking the amendment about which he knew the least.

“The single question,” he wrote, “is whether the State of Mississippi has denied to plaintiffs in error the equal protection of the laws in excluding Martha Lum from a public school. We say it has.”

The next logical step would have been to answer how such equal protection was denied to the plaintiff, but Flowers skipped that step entirely and jumped instead to Section 207 of the Mississippi Constitution.

In writing the decision for the Mississippi Supreme Court, the judges had relied on Section 207, which stated: “Separate schools shall be maintained for children of the white and colored races.” They based their decision exclusively on that section, without referencing the Fourteenth Amendment or its equal protection clause. Flowers, on the other hand, addressed Section 207 by pointing out its hypocrisy.


Of course it is the white, or Caucasian race, that makes the laws and construes and enforces them. It thinks that in order to protect itself against the infusion of the blood of other races its children must be kept in schools from which other races are excluded. The classification is made for the exclusive benefit for the lawmaking race. . . . It levies the taxes on all alike to support a public school system but in the organization of the system it creates its own exclusive schools for its children and other schools for the children of all other races to attend together.



Flowers followed his condemnation of Section 207 with an argument in its favor. He suggested that the privilege denied to Martha, the privilege bestowed to her by the United States Constitution, was the privilege of segregation, the right to be schooled away from blacks. “If there is a danger in the association,” he wrote, “it is a danger from which one race is entitled to protection just the same as another. . . . The White race creates for itself a privilege that it denies to other races; exposes the children of other races to risks and dangers to which it would not expose its own children. This is discrimination.”

After claiming segregation as a privilege, Flowers went on to argue its merits. He advanced a theory that had festered in the depths of Southern culture since long before he was born.


That negroes were once slaves and, as a race, had to begin as children is judicially known, even adjudicated. Laws are upheld that recognize this well-known fact. Because of their racial peculiarities, physical as well as moral, the white race avoids social relations wth [sic] members of that race. Such intercourse is objectionable; in many instances would be repulsive and impossible. The White race protects itself against conditions that would require social contact—this, as the Mississippi court says, to preserve the integrity of the Caucasian race. But has not the Chinese citizen the same right to protection that the Caucasian citiizen [sic] has? Are they not equal before the law? . . . The White race has made its laws with a view to preventing such social contact as would have a tendency to foster social relations and social equality. But this same precaution, taken with respect to its own children, is omitted when it comes to dealing with the children of the other races.



Flowers brought his argument to a close by quoting a single Supreme Court decision, Plessy v. Ferguson, the case that established the legal precedent for segregation itself: “Thrusting the company of one race upon the other, with no adequate motive, is calculated . . . to foster and intensify the repulsion between them, rather than towards extinguishing it.”

Flowers wanted to make it clear to the justices that he stood before them a strong defender of segregation. He came not to topple its walls, but to make them stronger, to make the “privilege” of segregation available to every American child. In citing Plessy v. Ferguson, Flowers took from judicial history the very words that had first legitimized state-sponsored segregation. “The above is repeated here,” he wrote, “to show that the courts take notice of the undesirability of association with the Negro race. . . . The state [of Mississippi] gives to the Caucasian race the exclusive privilege of a school that none but the children of that race may attend and denies the same privilege to the children of other races including the Chinese race.”

As the brief strayed so far from its original purpose that it appeared as though Flowers sided with the defense, the lawyer typed one final paragraph with one radical suggestion: that segregated schools are, by their very nature, unequal.


Clearly the authorities agree that if separate public schools are provided for different classes of children, the children in one class do not enjoy equal protection of the laws unless the accommodations and facilities afforded them in their separate institutions are equal to those furnished other classes. . . . Turning [Martha Lum] away from the Rosedale Consolidated High School can in no way be justified except by proof that there was another school furnishing equal accommodations available to her. Can a court assume that there was such a school? Can the placing of one class in one school and another class in another school be justified, when questioned, except by the showing that the two schools furnish substantially the same accommodations?



As Flowers typed those last biting words, he tore the final page from his typewriter. Gathering the brief into a pile, he carried it through the busy streets of Jackson and placed it into the hands of a printer, who copied and bound the brief. Then, in a matter of days, Flowers carefully sealed his brief into an envelope and mailed it to the United States Supreme Court.

For a successful man, Justice Louis D. Brandeis kept a simple home. He saw no need for decoration or such amenities as a telephone. He disliked typewriters, preferring to compose his opinions for the Supreme Court in longhand. Only recently, at the urging of his wife and friends, had he begun to entertain the notion of owning an automobile. He considered himself a public servant, a man the press branded “the people’s lawyer,” and a person of such caliber had no need for opulence.

Brandeis had served as an associate justice of the US Supreme Court for over a decade. Throughout that time, he preferred his own office to that provided him by the court. The offices of the Supreme Court were located in an old Senate chamber that had been in a constant state of disrepair since 1801. Only recently, with the arrival of a new chief justice, William Howard Taft, was there any discussion of relocating the court. For the time being, the justices would each have to continue to work from their own private residences. While his colleagues complained about the court’s accommodations, Brandeis rarely, if ever, criticized the dilapidated hall over which he presided. His nature was to overcome obstacles.

The son of Jewish immigrants, Louis Dembitz Brandeis was born in Louisville, Kentucky, where his father was a successful grain merchant. At the age of eighteen, without a college diploma, Brandeis enrolled in Harvard Law School and graduated in the top of his class. Less than a year after graduating, he opened a law practice in Boston with his classmate Samuel Warren. It was through the establishment of his own firm that Brandeis took up the cause of the Progressive movement and fought to reform labor laws. In 1916 he was rewarded for his efforts and appointed to the United States Supreme Court by President Woodrow Wilson. The appointment made history, as Brandeis became the first justice of Jewish ancestry to serve on the nation’s highest court.

After more than a decade on the Supreme Court, Brandeis was even less of a conventional figure than he had been in his youth. His gray hair grew long and bushy and he moved with a perpetual slouch. Friends and critics alike compared his appearance to that of a biblical prophet. While Brandeis’s body had begun to deteriorate, his mind was still sharp, sharper perhaps than several of his colleagues. This worried him. He had admired Justice Oliver Wendell Holmes since his early days as a young attorney in Boston. Now, at the age of eighty-six, Holmes seemed weak. “His aim is no longer sure,” Brandeis told a friend in confidence.

The case at hand, Gong Lum v. Rice, was unlike any the court had seen before and would require all justices to be at their sharpest. The appeal, sent up from the Mississippi Supreme Court, came from the father of a nine-year-old Chinese girl. The father, Gong Lum, challenged a ruling that classified his daughter as “colored” and therefore made her ineligible to attend the state’s segregated white schools. From inside the sparsity of his home, Brandeis pored over the brief.

The entirety of its twenty-three pages was a disaster. The lawyer, a Mr. J. N. Flowers, made two arguments at once, and both were equally confusing. One advocated for the admission of the child, Martha Lum, to a superior white school in her town of Rosedale, and the other advocated for the expansion of school segregation, to create separate public educational facilities for every race known to man. Upon close inspection, it would seem as if the lawyer was defending the very decision he was assigned to appeal. Worst of all, for Brandeis, was the brief’s excessive use of the Fourteenth Amendment.

Brandeis hated the Fourteenth. He wanted it repealed from the US Constitution. “Much ado about nothing,” was how he once described the amendment to a fellow lawyer. Brandeis believed its clauses were far too intrusive on states’ rights. As Brandeis’s biographer noted, the justice “was loath to use it even to strike down segregation.” This could have been due to the fact that Brandeis was raised in the South or maybe his fear of federal overreach extended even into defending Jim Crow legislation. Regardless of how Brandeis developed his contempt for the Fourteenth Amendment, he took out his anger by voting with the conservative majority in every race-discrimination case that reached the Supreme Court.

The case of Gong Lum v. Rice was similar in some ways to another case from 1922. In Ng Fung Ho v. White, Brandeis wrote the majority opinion in favor of the plaintiffs, five Chinese residents of California who were taken into custody by the commissioner of immigration for the Port of San Francisco and threatened with deportation. The Chinese residents, in turn, filed a writ of habeas corpus against the commissioner for holding them against their will. The writ was denied by the state court and was appealed to the federal court. Brandeis, invoking the Fifth Amendment, agreed that the Chinese men and women were held unlawfully, writing, “The Fifth Amendment affords protection in its guarantee of due process of law.”

In the brief for Gong Lum v. Rice, the Fifth Amendment was never mentioned. It could have been argued that Martha Lum was deprived of her education without “due process,” a claim to which Brandeis was sympathetic. In September 1924, when the initial writ of mandamus on behalf of Martha Lum was filed with the lower courts, Earl Brewer invoked the Fifth in his argument that “the right to attend said Rosedale Consolidated High School is a valuable opportunity to her, and [one] that she is being deprived thereof without the process of law.” But Flowers, in his Supreme Court brief, did not reference the language of the writ, nor any other amendment aside from the Fourteenth. He did not cite Ng Fung Ho v. White or any other case related to people of Asian descent.

With an effective lawyer to argue before the court, the case of Gong Lum v. Rice might stand a chance. Brandeis wrote to Felix Frankfurter, founder of the American Civil Liberties Union, to see if the Chinese plaintiffs could obtain better representation. “Some steps should be taken,” he wrote, “through Chinese minister, consuls or otherwise, to help Chinese to better counsel.”

The news came in a telegram from the United States Capitol Building, signed by the head clerk of the Supreme Court. Reading the message, Flowers tried to keep himself from panicking.


NOW THINK GONG LUM AGAINST RICE, NUMBER TWO FORTY, ON CALL AND PROBABLY REACHED FOR ARGUMENT ABOUT WEDNESDAY



It had been less than a week since Flowers filed the brief, and the case was already going before the justices. Brewer was impossible to reach and Flowers was in no way prepared to argue the case alone. He immediately wired the clerk a response.


WE DESIRE THAT GONG LUM VS RICE . . . SHALL NOT BE HEARD BEFORE THIRTY DAYS STOP PLEASE WIRE IF THIS CAN BE ACCOMPLISHED



While many lawyers wait their entire careers for the chance to argue a case before the Supreme Court, Flowers was not like most lawyers. He avoided public speaking at all costs. Unlike Brewer, the courtroom only made Flowers anxious. Brewer’s gift for oratory was known throughout the state. He captivated a courtroom audience like a pastor at the pulpit. Without Brewer, the appeal didn’t stand a chance.

A few days later, the clerk at the Supreme Court wired Flowers his response.


CASE CANNOT BE CONTINUED EXCEPT BY STIPULATION OF COUNSEL OR BY MOTION MADE IN OPEN COURT AND SUFFICIENT REASONS GIVEN



Flowers now risked forfeiting the case. He sent the clerk an application to remove Gong Lum v. Rice from the docket and reschedule the hearing for a later date. He wired the clerk and waited.


STIPULATION OF COUNSEL TO PASS CASE GONG LUM VERSUS RICE NUMBER EIGHT HUNDRED ELEVEN MAILED YOU YESTERDAY STOP IS IT ESSENTIAL THAT ONE OF US BE PRESENT TO PRESENT APPLICATION



“If stipulation, properly signed by counsel,” the clerk wired back, “to continue Gong Lum against Rice, is received Monday, I will present it to court and counsel need not appear.”

The response was exactly what Flowers wanted. He had successfully stalled the case. The delay would buy him a few more weeks, maybe even months, to convince Brewer to travel to Washington and argue the case. Flowers could now get back to the lucrative work of representing the railroads. To delay Gong Lum v. Rice was to finally rid himself of its nuisance. Flowers discarded the case and returned to the corporate law in which he specialized.

In the absence of legal counsel, the Lum family, and the rest of the Mississippi Chinese, took matters into their own hands. They appointed J.K. Young, Jeu Gong’s old friend from Tunica, to be their representative. The two men had not kept in close contact over the years, but Young was deeply interested in the case and reached out to the Lum family to offer his support. With Katherine and Jeu Gong’s blessing, Young posed as their lawyer and sent letters to the US Supreme Court. He asked for copies of the other lawyers’ briefs and requested notification for when the case would be argued before the court. He planned to attend the hearing in person.

During the first week of October 1927, Young received word that oral arguments were to be held within a few days. Writing on his own stationery, Young sent letters to every conceivable person involved in the case. He wanted them to know how important the outcome would be for all Chinese Americans. Hundreds of futures hung in the balance, and he was currently their only representative.

On October 5, 1927, Young mailed a letter to the US Supreme Court. In broken English, he voiced a desperate fear that his people would be forgotten: “I has been wrote to Mr. J. N. Flowers of Jackson, Mississippi in told him at once coming on your city pay attention this business, and trust that he notify you for same. Thanking you for above favors. J. K. Young, Esq.”

The day before Gong Lum v. Rice was to be argued in court, the clerk received a telegram from Brewer and Flowers.


WE DO NOT WISH TO ARGUE THE CASE OF GONG LUM ET AL VS RICE NUMBER TWENTY NINE AND WE REQUEST AND AUTHORIZE YOU TO HAVE THE CASE SUBMITTED ON BRIEF



The lawyers ceded their right to argue to case before the justices. A verdict would be rendered in secret, behind closed doors, with only the brief written by J. N. Flowers to serve as the defense for Martha Lum. J. K. Young would never stand in the courtroom. He would not be present for a decision that would determine the fate of his friends and family. The consequence of Brewer’s inaction would shape history, and a verdict would be rendered with the power to oppress millions of Americans for generations to come.
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On November 21, 1927, the nine justices of the United States Supreme Court, notorious for rendering 5–4 decisions, delivered a unanimous verdict in the case of Gong Lum v. Rice. Chief Justice William Howard Taft assigned the task of writing the court’s opinion to himself.

“The question here is whether a Chinese citizen of the United States is denied equal protection of the laws when he is classed among the colored races,” he wrote. “Were this a new question, it would call for very full argument and consideration; but we think that it is the same question which has been many times decided to be within the constitutional power of the state Legislature to settle, without intervention of the federal courts under the federal Constitution.”

Taft went on to cite Plessy v. Ferguson, the very case that Flowers cited in his brief.


In Plessy v. Ferguson, in upholding the validity under the Fourteenth Amendment of a statute of Louisiana requiring the separation of the white and colored races in railway coaches, a more difficult question than this, this court, speaking of permitted race separation, said: “The most common instance of this is connected with the establishment of separate schools for white and colored children, which has been held to be a valid exercise of the legislative power even by courts of states where the political rights of the colored race have been longest and most earnestly enforced.”



Taft ended his opinion with an added clause, a statement so bold that it would rattle even his strongest supporters. The chief justice of the Supreme Court and former president of the United States gave individual states full constitutional power to segregate public schools and assign students to any race they saw fit: “The decision is within the discretion of the state in regulating its public schools, and does not conflict with the Fourteenth Amendment. The judgment of the Supreme Court of Mississippi is affirmed.”

Without the participation of any person of the Negro race, the Supreme Court rendered a decision that sanctioned racial segregation within all public schools. The Court’s unanimous ruling provided Mississippi with one of its strongest weapons to uphold segregation. A case that could have dismantled the “separate but equal” doctrine of Plessy v. Ferguson now became a pillar for its defense.

“Gong Lum is an ugly, unfortunate case,” legal scholar Jamal Greene later wrote. “Part of the ugliness stems from the fact that this was not a test case; the stakes of the litigation were clear to the Court. . . . Racial division was neither an unintended nor an instrumental consequence of the policy, but was in fact its goal.”

On the morning of November 22, 1927, thousands of Americans opened their newspapers to see Taft’s decision quoted by the Associated Press. “Race segregation of children in public schools was sustained yesterday by the Supreme Court,” the article pronounced. “Chief Justice Taft, in delivering the opinion said it was ‘within the constitutional power of the State legislature to settle without intervention of the Federal courts.’”

It would be four days before the residents of Bolivar County, Mississippi, read an abridged version of the same article, in the back of the paper, between advertisements for estate sales and Standard Motor Oil. The editor removed the article’s last few paragraphs, ending instead with one unyielding sentence: “Material harm would be done by the intermingling of children of all races.”

As the verdict received little coverage at home, the rest of the country was galvanized into debate over its implications. Editorials appeared in both the white and the black press. Liberal and conservative papers were equally fascinated with the significance of the ruling.

Just two days after the verdict was announced, the Los Angeles Times ran an editorial at the front of its paper defending the decision. “In deciding the case the court referred to the ‘Jim Crow’ law which it has heretofore upheld, and thus apparently broadened the basis of the decision so that it seems to cover any sort of reasonable segregation that may be made.” The author went on to praise the court for giving white America a legal precedent to uphold segregation at every level of society.


That the race problem has not been even more acute is due to the fact that segregation, extralegal but fairly effective, already exists. The Supreme Court’s opinion points the way to making it still more effective. So far segregation depends largely upon private agreement, and private agreements sometimes break down when they are submitted to severe strain. It will be better all around when they can be given legal backing.



In black America, the agony was palpable. The Court’s ruling only reaffirmed the reality that constitutional rights afforded to whites did not apply to colored citizens. All men were not created equal before the law. Segregation served as the mores of a society that was inherently unjust.

“Why can [Americans] not educate their children without restriction as to color,” asked the Pittsburgh Courier. “And why can they not occupy any seat in a train for which they are able to pay? If citizens of Chinese descent can be forced to attend jim-crow schools, then it is only logical to suppose that they can be segregated on trains, in hotels, in restaurants, in parks and at theaters, as are the Negroes.”

For many blacks, the true bigotry lay not in the language of the ruling, but in the court’s failure to recognize the indignities created by segregation itself.

“It is the opinion of the Chief Justice William Howard Taft that these opportunities are equal,” read the front page of the Chicago Defender.


The little shacks you attend, in which a large coal stove in the center of the single room furnishes both heat and smoke—the ramshackle, tumble-down contraption, situated far down among the cotton stalks—is equal of the beautiful brick and stone structure attended by whites. You see, the three months you are allowed to attend this institution, between the sowing, chopping and picking of cotton, are equal to the nine months white children go to school. Your teachers, barely out of the primary school themselves, possessing no special training for teachers, are the equals of white teachers all especially trained and prepared for the work they undertake.



No longer was the case about Martha Lum, about Rosedale High School, even about Mississippi. The court’s ruling established a precedent more powerful than the Lum family could have imagined. By fighting, they only made the enemy stronger. Every state in the nation now had legal grounds to exclude students of any race or nationality from its white schools.


CHAPTER X

WINTER, 1927

JEU GONG LUM LOADED a heavy stack of logs into an iron stove. Each piece of timber kicked up a cascade of soot, sending flutters of ash into the kitchen. Katherine stood on a stool beside the table, her sleeves rolled up above her elbows, pounding her fists into a dozen loaves of dough.

It was barely dawn and Katherine’s body was already streaked with flour and sweat. Ever since the family left Rosedale for Wabash, work started earlier. The days were longer and the pay scarcer. “You work like a darn fool to get a dollar,” Katherine recalled of her days in Wabash, “a darn fool.”

The town was nothing more than a station stop along the Missouri Pacific Railroad, a small patch of cotton land in the northern reaches of the Arkansas Delta. The Lums ran the only grocery in town, an old plantation commissary at the end of a dusty road. There was no running water, no electricity, no indoor plumbing. The days began with the lighting of the woodstove and the hauling of water from the well. They ended with the deafening cry of cicadas and a silence that settled wearily over the empty fields.

The riches of Rosedale did not follow the Lum family over the river into Arkansas. They lived in isolation, thrown back into the poverty that Jeu Gong so longed to escape. Forces far from his control had taken everything he once made for himself, for his family. In the stillness of the early-morning hours, he gathered wood to heat a home he did not build and leaven bread he would not eat.

This was not the life that Jeu Gong had envisioned so many years before, on the night he willed his body to cross a frozen river. This Gam Saan was made of rules that were written in skin. They could not be broken. They could not be won. Jeu Gong’s children inherited his blood, his skin, and no matter what he gave them, it would never be whiteness.

When the judgment came from the Mississippi Supreme Court, Katherine was devastated. She hid her heartbreak in her temper. She wouldn’t speak to the lo fan. She stopped going to church. In order to keep the children in school, Jeu Gong sent them north to live with his brother in Michigan. While they studied, Katherine made the decision to leave Rosedale. She no longer wanted to live in a town that had been so cruel to her family.

Throughout the Delta, dozens of Chinese families made similar decisions, leaving in exodus from Mississippi. They moved to more tolerant cities with greater Chinese populations, like Memphis or Houston. Many left the South entirely or sent their children elsewhere to be educated. By the late 1920s, the largest demographic to leave the Delta became the children themselves, forced to live in other states with distant relatives.

Some parents made a greater sacrifice and sent their children back to China as the country erupted into war with Japan. In 1933 Katherine’s sister-in-law traveled from Rosedale to China with her three children, the youngest only two years old. She left them in the care of an uncle in Nanking. “It still pains me to recall the agony of our parting,” she later wrote of the four years spent separated from her children.

“Since the Chinese have been excluded from the white schools, the pain and anguish born by their parents can hardly be described in words,” she confided in her native Cantonese. “Living in this unjust society, to what avail is it to complain or worry. Our solution was to send our children back to our home to be educated.”

For a period of twenty years, from the 1925 Gong Lum decision until the end of World War II, the majority of Delta Chinese received little formal schooling of any kind. Those families with younger children who could not travel hired private tutors. Such was the case with the Dongs, the Jees, and the Gees of Ruleville, the Gongs and Lings in Duncan, and the Jues in Indianola. For the older children, there was the option of moving out of state or to towns on the fringes of the Delta, such as Marks, Crenshaw, and Senatobia, which continued to allow Chinese students to attend white schools.

It was not until the 1930s that Chinese families in the Delta began creating their own private schools. In 1930 a one-room schoolhouse in Greenville was reassigned to Chinese students. Residents of Rosedale created a separate Chinese school in 1933. In 1937 a similar school was erected in nearby Cleveland. Due to limited enrollment, the schools remained open only a few years. Greenville became the last school to shutter its doors, in 1947.

As for the Lum family, Katherine eventually found a white high school in Elaine, Arkansas, that agreed to accept the children. Its facilities were not new, nor was its program accredited like that of Rosedale, but the conditions were far better than the rundown, clapboard shacks reserved for colored students. In the spring, Katherine traveled north to Michigan while Jeu Gong bought a grocery six miles from Elaine in Wabash.

Just as the Lums prepared to leave what little remained of their old life, the rains came. The downpours lasted for months. April saw record rainfall, with more than seven inches falling on Arkansas’s capital city in just a few hours. As surrounding lakes, rivers, and streambeds began to fill, the Mississippi continued to swell. Riverbanks struggled to contain the water, causing currents to flow upstream, toward the source of the river itself.

With such pressure, the levees could not hold. One by one, the manmade mounds of earth began to crumble. In Arkansas, every levee between Fort Smith and Little Rock failed under one enormous surge of water. A reporter in Arkansas City wrote that “mules were drowning on Main Street faster than people could unhitch them from wagons.”

By May, nearly 13 percent of the state lay under water, with more than sixty-five hundred square miles of land completely inundated. Almost twice as much farmland was flooded in Arkansas as in Mississippi and Louisiana combined. In Wabash, the planted cotton fields were engulfed in more than five feet of water. Rows of whitewashed sharecropper cabins carried watermarks high above their doorways.

In total, an estimated forty thousand Arkansans were driven from their homes during the flood of 1927. Ninety percent were tenant farmers. In the Lums’ new home of Phillips County, the number of refugees exceeded seventeen thousand. For many farmers, the prospect of rebuilding their plantation seemed futile. The crop had been washed away in the flood. For the sharecroppers, a year’s earnings disappeared under the water. They took what they could carry and abandoned the fields. By summer, the Delta was a mud-swept desert, without any cotton or labor remaining at harvest.
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Most of Jeu Gong’s customers left with the waters. Their preachers told them the Lord had leveled the land on account of man’s sin. Under steeples in Harlem, Saint Louis, and Chicago, they sang gospels of redemption and recited the Book of Genesis.

The words God once spoke to Noah, they now took for themselves. I am going to put an end to all people, for the earth is filled with violence because of them. He told Noah to build an ark of cypress, for within him was all that remained of man’s righteousness. I am going to bring floodwaters on the earth to destroy all life under the heavens, every creature that has the breath of life in it.

They carried north their Bibles, clutched against breasts when the levees caved, when the river boiled under the fields, when they lifted their children to the ginnery roof and prayed to the raining heavens for strength. When, at last, the land was dry, they boarded boxcars, a thousand arks made of steel, and fled the South.

As the waters receded, Jeu Gong awaited a decision from the US Supreme Court. He left the Rosedale store in the care of his nephew, Lee, with the hopes that maybe one day his family could return to the brick house he built for them on the east end of Bruce Street. When the verdict came in early November, Jeu Gong learned his family would never return.

The decision that tore his children from him, forced them north to Michigan, the decision that left his family without a business, without a home, was now upheld by the highest court in America. The fight was over. The Lums had lost.

Still, Jeu Gong gave his children the best life he could make for them in Arkansas. He enrolled them all in school and promised Martha she would one day go to college. He taught his son to hunt waterfowl and rabbits in the sloughs between river and levee. He and Katherine bought a boat and taught Berda how to fish for turtles. As the Lum family moved on with their lives, the verdict became a tragedy relegated to the past, a story they did not tell, a memory they refused to keep.

Decades later, when Martha had children of her own, the war she’d waged in childhood returned to grip the nation. In June of 1953, the justices of the US Supreme Court ordered a rehearing for five school-desegregation cases, known collectively as Brown v. Board of Education of Topeka. The justices wanted to rehear each case in order to determine the original intent of the framers of the Fourteenth Amendment. The question that Earl Brewer first asked inside the Rosedale courthouse in 1924 was now posed, twenty-nine years later, to the lawyers of Brown.

“What evidence is there,” the justices wanted to know, “that the Congress which submitted and the State legislatures and conventions which ratified the Fourteenth Amendment contemplated or did not contemplate, understood or did not understand, that it would abolish segregation in public schools?”

The question could not be answered easily. The team responsible for the five cases, the NAACP’s Legal Defense and Educational Fund, knew they would need help. To strengthen their argument, the organization’s chief counsel, Thurgood Marshall, enlisted more than two hundred lawyers and historians to research the framers’ intent.

It was in this context that John Hope Franklin, then a visiting professor of history at Cornell University, received a frantic phone call late in the summer of 1953. The man on the line was a lawyer Franklin had known for years, from when he first taught history at Howard University. The two had worked together back in 1947 to bring a lawsuit against the University of Kentucky for denying admission to a black graduate student named Lyman Johnson. Although Franklin did not end up taking the stand as an expert witness, Johnson’s lawyer, Thurgood Marshall, won the case, and the student was admitted into graduate school at the University of Kentucky.

“What are you going to be doing in the fall?” came Marshall’s voice on the other end of the telephone.

“There’s nothing else I’m going to do in the fall,” Franklin replied. “Except go back to Howard University and teach.”

“You know what else you’re going to be doing?” Marshall asked.

“Oh, no.” He suspected what was coming next.

“You’re going to be working for me,” Marshall announced.

“Doing what?”

“Doing what you’ve done before. You’ve got to work and help to shape the argument in a case.”

Marshall explained that his team had to provide answers to questions that were raised by the United States Supreme Court. Rather than render a decision on a series of school desegregation cases, the court instead asked Marshall’s team to answer a number of additional questions. Only historians or people trained as historians could answer such questions, Marshall told the professor impatiently. This was not an offer he was extending to Franklin. It was an order.

“He threatened me in a way that I knew that I was going to be in danger if I didn’t accept his invitation or his command,” Franklin recalled years later. “So . . . I decided to join forces with him.”

By late August, Franklin was spending between four and five days a week at Marshall’s office in New York. For months, Marshall’s team of historians, social scientists, psychologists, and lawyers worked and reworked the Brown v. Board of Education brief. Finally, in November of 1953, less than a month before the case was to be reheard in December, the team produced a 235-page manifesto. Its language, depth, and persuasiveness exceeded all expectations, said Franklin.

Hours before dawn on December 7, 1953, scores of black Americans were already lining up outside the Supreme Court with hopes of witnessing history. Franklin, as a member of the team’s research staff, was not ranked high enough to earn one of the courtroom’s coveted seats. He never heard the arguments. Instead, Franklin was issued copies of the team’s brief. In reading his research on the page, Franklin felt a strong sense of pride. His work was present in court that day, despite his absence.

After making their arguments, the lawyers told Franklin that all he could do was wait. They were under the assumption that the Supreme Court would not hand down a decision until the end of its term in June.

On the afternoon of May 17, 1954, Franklin received a call to his office at Howard. His wife, Aurelia, a librarian at a local public high school, was on the line.

“Have you heard what the decision is?” she asked.

“No,” Franklin replied.

“Well, the Supreme Court handed down its decision today.”

“What was the decision?”

“Linda Brown can go to an integrated school in Topeka, Kansas.”

Franklin froze. Hearing the words of Chief Justice Earl Warren, he was overcome with disbelief. “We conclude,” read the Supreme Court’s unanimous decision, “that in the field of public education, the doctrine of ‘separate but equal’ has no place. Separate educational facilities are inherently unequal. Therefore, we hold that the plaintiffs and others similarly situated for whom the actions have been brought are, by reason of the segregation complained of, deprived of the equal protection of the laws guaranteed by the Fourteenth Amendment.”

The professor hung up the telephone and stood at his desk. Then, as if moved by a higher power, he walked out of the university and into the street. Along the crowded blocks of row houses, the students, the people, were dancing. For a lifetime, Franklin would hold on to that moment.

“We felt,” Franklin said, recalling the memory, “that maybe the long and hard work in which we had been engaged was worthwhile.”


AFTERWORD

EARL BREWER WOULD NOT live to see his words cited in the briefs for Brown v. Board of Education. He never witnessed Thurgood Marshall use the equal protection clause, as he once had, to win a verdict that would call for the end of state-sponsored segregation. On March 10, 1942, Brewer died at a hospital in Jackson. His wife and youngest daughter were by his side. The next day, his body was laid in state under the dome of the Mississippi Capitol. Citizens throughout the South came to pay their respects to the former governor. Brewer is buried beside his mother at Oakridge Cemetery in Clarksdale, the town in which he drafted his greatest case.

Martha and Berda Lum graduated from high school during the height of the Great Depression in 1933. Following graduation, Martha enrolled in a teacher’s program at Arkansas State University. By 1934 she could no longer afford her tuition and dropped out of college to help her parents at the grocery in Wabash. When the United States entered World War II, Berda and Martha moved west. The sisters joined a growing number of women who secured manufacturing jobs during the war. Berda and Martha found work building bombers for the Douglas Aircraft Company in Long Beach, California.

After graduating high school, Biscoe found a job at a grocery in Marianna, Arkansas. On October 16, 1940, he registered with the local draft board and entered the service after the attack on Pearl Harbor in December 1941. Biscoe served overseas as an army medic throughout the course of the war. In the fall of 1943, he was transferred to China, where he worked at a field hospital in western Yunnan Province. He wrote nearly every day to his father and mother from their native country.

At the end of the war, Katherine drove from Arkansas to Houston, Texas, to stay with her daughter Berda, whose husband had recently earned a degree in architecture from the city’s Rice Institute. Jeu Gong soon sold the store in Wabash and followed his wife to Houston. There they opened a grocery and purchased a home at 508 Milwaukee Street. Martha moved into the house and married Henry Gee, who worked as a butcher at the family store. Together they had two children and spent the rest of their lives in Houston. Berda and her husband, Charles Chan, raised two daughters and a son in Houston. Biscoe returned from war and joined the postal service in Houston. He married and had three daughters. Jeu Gong died of cancer in the summer of 1965. Katherine followed him in 1988. They lived long enough to send their grandchildren to the nation’s first generation of integrated schools.
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